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Automation mobilizes

kuka automates manufacturing processes. Using 

kuka robots as a core component, we develop 

and market stand-alone machines, robot cells 

and entire robotic systems that help our customers 

achieve superior product quality and improve 

plant productivity.

Our customer focus and innovation strength have 

made us the technology leader in our markets. Our 

aim is to continue to grow profitably and enhance 

the value of the company, particularly in existing 

and emerging general industry markets such as 

solar and aircraft, as well as the medical systems, 

logistics, metals and plastics sectors.
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Key figures 10-year overview*
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	 g e r m a n  c o m m e r c i a l  c o d e  (h g b) 	 I F R S

kuk a group 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 6 2 0 0 7 2 0 0 8

Orders received� in € millions 1,815 2,189 2,280 2,361 2,304 2,340 1,641 1,620 1,344 1,280

Order backlog (Dec. 31)� in € millions 1,164 1,109 1,122 1,102 1,065 1,011 1,016 669 529 542

Sales revenues� in € millions 1,844 2,220 2,290 2,312 2,287 2,352 1,613 1,566 1,286 1,266

of that export� % 55 67 65 61 61 64 66 65 64 59

ebit� in € millions 69.8 50.8 68.9 73.4 81.1 111.9 – 30.7 33.7 70.4 52.0

% of sales� % 3.8 2.3 3.0 3.2 3.5 4.8 – 1.9 2.2 5.5 4.1

Net income / loss for the year� in € millions 31.4 31.0 31.2 22.5 23.4 48.8 – 147.5 – 69.4 117.9 30.6

Cash earnings� in € millions 92.7 109.2 104.3 94.1 96.2 115.6 – 49.4 52.2 81.2 69.4

Capital expenditures� in € millions 89.4 73.6 53.1 64.0 63.2 67.5 39.4 29.7 26.4 32.5

Depreciation� in € millions 61.8 70.6 67.6 68.4 73.9 58.6 47.6 38.4 26.9 26.0

Total assets� in € millions 1,510 1,589 1,577 1,515 1,502 1,660 1,553 1,071 888 866

Equity� in € millions 300 354 367 387 388 358 189 127 233 214

Equity ratio %� % 20 22 23 26 26 22 12 12 26 25

Employees (Dec. 31)� 13,312 12,859 12,823 13,089 13,231 13,209 8,974 8,123 5,732 6,171

of that export� % 38 41 40 41 41 42 43 46 43 44

* Prior years were not adjusted.
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Key figures 5-year overview*

kuk a group 2 0 0 4 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 6 2 0 0 7 2 0 0 8

Orders received� in € millions 1,149.4 1,090.2 1,186.4 1,343.8 1,279.9

Sales revenues� in € millions 1,111.1 1,051.1 1,164.6 1,286.4 1,266.1

ebit� in € millions 77.7 – 53.4 16.7 70.4 52.0

% of sales� % 7.0 – 5.1 1.4 5.5 4.1

% of capital employed (roce)� % 25.2 – 21.9 8.1 41.6 21.5

Capital employed� in € millions 308.2 243.7 205.2 169.4 242.3

Employees (Dec. 31)	 � 5,443 5,463 5,580 5,732 6,171

robo tic s div is ion 2 0 0 4 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 6 2 0 0 7 2 0 0 8

Orders received� in € millions 385.3 338.4 382.3 434.9 464.4

Sales revenues� in € millions 420.5 323.6 373.3 412.9 474.4

ebit� in € millions 43.9 – 22.8 22.4 33.6 42.0

% of sales� % 10.4 – 7.0 6.0 8.1 8.9

% of capital employed (roce)� % 38.6 – 22.1 24.3 34.6 37.2

Capital employed� in € millions 113.6 103.3 92.2 97.1 112.9

Employees (Dec. 31)	 � 2,044 1,936 1,838 2,023 2,261

s ys tems div ision 2 0 0 4 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 6 2 0 0 7 2 0 0 8

Orders received� in € millions 780.4 778.2 847.8 937.7 854.9

Sales revenues� in € millions 715.9 791.2 832.8 900.0 837.5

ebit� in € millions 35.1 – 14.4 10.0 37.2 26.8

% of sales� % 4.9 – 1.8 1.2 4.1 3.2

% of capital employed (roce)� % 21.0 – 9.7 9.9 51.0 20.2

Capital employed� in € millions 167.1 148.7 101.0 73.0 132.7

Employees (Dec. 31)	 � 3,275 3,422 3,620 3,582 3,781

* Prior years were adjusted for comparison purposes.

the key figures for the 10 -year overview are on the back of the envelope.

2.6*

1.8

* �Result from discontinued operations

north / south america

Argentina

Brazil

Chile

Canada

Mexico

usa
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Net income / loss for the year� in € millions 31.4 31.0 31.2 22.5 23.4 48.8 – 147.5 – 69.4 117.9 30.6

Cash earnings� in € millions 92.7 109.2 104.3 94.1 96.2 115.6 – 49.4 52.2 81.2 69.4

Capital expenditures� in € millions 89.4 73.6 53.1 64.0 63.2 67.5 39.4 29.7 26.4 32.5
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d r .  h o r s t  j .  k ay s e r

c e o,  l a b o r  d i r e c t o r



Editorial
5g r o u p  m a n a g e m e n t  r e p o r to v e r v i e w f i n a n c i a l  s t a t e m e n t s d i v i s i o n s

Fiscal 2008 was a year of extraordinary market changes for kuka Aktiengesellschaft, as it was for all 

companies. The worldwide financial crisis caused people to lose much faith in the viability of the mar-

kets, and impacted our orders received already in the second half year. In spite of this, my predecessor, 

former ceo Gerhard Wiedemann, was able to turn over a company to me on October 1, 2008, which, on 

account of its successful focus on robot-based automation, is well positioned to bridge an economic 

downturn.

As an industrial engineer with many years of international experience in leading positions at Siemens, 

I am very familiar with kuka. The kuka brand stands for innovation and top performance in the fields 

of robotics and plant engineering. I was thus very pleased to heed the call of the company. In the past 

few months, I have been able to personally confirm that this company with its two core business areas, 

Robotics and Systems, has an outstanding competitive market position. The strategic focus on general 

industry growth, founded on a strong position in the automotive industry, is an excellent basis for fur-

ther development of the company. I am pleased to have this opportunity to apply my management expe-

rience and commit all of my energy, together with my Executive Board colleague Dr. Matthias J. Rapp, 

who is in charge of finances and controlling, to secure the long-term competitiveness of the Group and 

to steadily improve kuka Aktiengesellschaft’s shareholder value.

The dark clouds that have appeared on the world economy’s horizon should not distract anyone: kuka 

is strategically on the right track. Although the worldwide economic crisis has resulted in a slump in 

orders received in the North American and European automotive sector, the like of which have not been 

seen for almost 20 years, governments have reacted swiftly and decisively to counter this extraordinary 

situation. Government rescue packages to stabilize the financial markets and the shift in demand will 

continue to strengthen the trend toward cheaper vehicles that use less fuel. The automotive industry 

can best respond to this changed demand by investing in new, robot-based manufacturing lines so that 

it can introduce appropriate vehicles to the market.

At the same time, we see a huge potential for sales of our products and systems in general industry. 

Thanks to our product policy of combining top user benefits and efficiency, kuka solutions are increas-

ingly being used in sectors such as medical technology, food and plastics, as well as the aircraft and 

solar industries. Here too, the business case for replacing present expensive manual and partly auto-

mated manufacturing processes with robot-based automation is becoming increasingly clear.

Once again in 2008, our Robotics division grew faster than the market. Orders received from general 

industry climbed 24 percent. Despite the economic crisis, the Systems division was also able to land 

important reference-worthy international solar and aircraft industry orders. Overall, the kuka Group’s 

orders received and sales revenues were on the level respectively slightly higher than at the same time 

a year earlier when the non-operative effects of the prior year are excluded. But we had to contend with 
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a significantly lower operating profit (ebit) because of a one-time charge resulting from the cancella-

tion of a major systems order for a North American automotive supplier. Without this one-time charge, 

return on sales would have been 5.7 percent, higher than the target margin of 5.5 percent. At the same 

time, the kuka Group’s solid balance sheet – with an equity ratio of about 25 percent and low debt – 

provides a stable business base for coping with the economic bottom that lies ahead of us.

The Group’s capacity utilization is secured thanks to the high order backlog; currently through to mid-

2009. Nevertheless, no one can predict how the world economic crisis will evolve – whether the econ-

omy will continue to deteriorate or whether we have already passed the peak of the crisis. Since we 

have to assume that the automotive industry will continue to hold back on capital spending for some 

time because of its current sales problems, we will accelerate our efforts to expand our general indus-

try business. In addition, we are targeting further growth in the United States and Asia, based on our 

strong market position in Europe. Our technology leadership position in the field of robot-based auto-

mation opens doors for us in many regions and industries. What is important now is to secure the Group’s 

profitability during this economic downturn. This will be supported by numerous contributing factors, 

not least of which is our integrated business model. We will intensify the collaboration between the two 

business divisions in areas such as research and development, as well as purchasing and sales, in order 

to tap into synergies and strengthen our operating business units’ ability to compete.

The year 2009 will be a challenging one for the kuka Group and its employees. We will face and deal 

with these challenges head-on. After all, kuka has many highly qualified and motivated employees, who 

commit their expertise and ideas toward achieving our goals. I am therefore confident that we will soon 

be able to once again report more positive news to our shareholders, investors, employees and business 

partners. We will use the economic headwind to further expand our market potential. Team spirit will 

decide: One kuka – We are kuka.

Sincerely,

  
Dr. Horst J. Kayser

ceo
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d r .  h o r s t  j .  k ay s e r

c e o

On October 1, 2008, Dr. Horst J. Kayser (48) took over as ceo of kuka 

Aktiengesellschaft. After completing his industrial engineering 

degree (electrical) at the Technical University of Darmstadt and 

receiving a Master of Public Administration (mpa) from Harvard 

University, he earned a doctorate (Dr. rer. pol.) at the University of 

Mannheim. From 1989 to 1995, Dr. Kayser worked as a manage-

ment consultant at McKinsey & Company in Frankfurt / Main and 

Canada. He then worked for 13 years at the Siemens Group, where 

he held various management positions. He started as a management 

consultant and head of the Industrial Automation Systems division, 

and later became President / ceo of Siemens South Korea and Chief 

Strategy Officer of Siemens ag in Munich. Dr. Horst J. Kayser is married 

and has three children.

d r .  m at t h i a s  j .  r a p p 

c f o

Dr. Matthias J. Rapp (42) has been a member of the Executive Board 

of kuka Aktiengesellschaft since July 1, 2008 and is in charge of 

finance and controlling. He was formerly the cfo of kuka Systems 

GmbH. Dr. Rapp studied economics at the Otto Beisheim School of 

Management (whu) in Koblenz, the Manchester Business School and 

esc Lyon. He earned his doctorate at whu in 1995. He then worked 

as a management consultant for the Boston Consulting Group GmbH & 

Partners in Düsseldorf. From 1997 to 2002, Dr. Rapp was the Director 

of Corporate Development at lurgi ag and cfo of lurgi Life Sciences 

GmbH, as well as Chief Financial Officer of Merz kgaa and Merz 

Pharma kgaa from 2003 to 2006. Dr. Matthias J. Rapp is married and 

has three children.
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d r .  r o l f  b a r t k e
c h a i r m a n o f  t h e  s u p e r v i s o r y  b o a r d

Dr. Rolf Bartke, born in 1947, is Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

of kuka Aktiengesellschaft. After studying economics and gradu-

ating as an industrial engineer, he earned a doctorate (Dr. rer. pol.) 

and held a number of leading positions in the Daimler Group. From 

1995 to 2006, he headed up the Mercedes-Benz vans business unit. 

Dr. Rolf Bartke is married and has a son.
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supervisory board report

In spite of the worldwide economic slump, the financial year just ended was an important one for the 

kuka Group, and looking back, was largely successful. The Group went into the 2008 financial year with 

confidence and ambitious goals. Observers appreciated kuka’s successful restructuring and its new focus 

on the Robotics and Systems business, with both divisions strengthening their general industry activi-

ties. In 2008, kuka received several awards for its innovation strength.

Over the course of the year, the financial market crisis worsened. This caused the economic setback to 

turn into a recession, which has especially impacted the automotive industry. Carmakers will thus con-

tinue to prioritize introducing new, more fuel-efficient and environmentally friendly vehicle models to 

the market. However, in the short term, there is a risk of declining demand as a result of postponements 

and isolated cutbacks in orders. Despite the fact that kuka’s revenues from the aircraft and solar indus-

tries, medical technologies and logistics, as well as metals and plastics industries have continuously 

risen in the past number of years, and although these businesses are being steadily expanded, the Group 

still receives a large number of its orders from automotive customers.

During the financial year, the Supervisory Board was strongly involved in the corporation’s business activ-

ities and consulted with the Executive Board, which it supervised in the interests of shareholders and 

employees. It met regularly with the Executive Board to examine in detail the company’s business sit-

uation and financial position. Among other things, it received periodic reports on the Group’s key fig-

ures (e. g., orders received, sales, order backlog, ebit, return on capital employed). The Executive Board’s 

reports to the Supervisory Board were related to essential issues concerning corporate planning, such 

as financing, capital spending and personnel budgets. The Supervisory Board asked for detailed expla-

nations of any disagreement between the business results and the plans and targets, as well as the 

budgets. The Supervisory Board then reviewed the submitted documents and analyzed the discrepancies. 

In addition, the Executive Board reported to the Supervisory Board periodically with regard to the oper-

ational situation and the strategic direction and associated outlook. Risk and compliance management 

were included as part of the regular reporting. The Supervisory Board was continuously involved in deci-

sions of material importance and, for particularly important or urgent issues, also met outside the nor-

mal schedule. When necessary, it handed down decisions through written correspondence. Executive 

Board members had no conflicts of interests during the reporting period. 

The Executive Board complied with the Supervisory Board’s standard rules of procedure, which stipulate 

that certain transactions require its prior approval. The Supervisory Board’s tasks included evaluating 

the propriety, legality and efficiency of the Executive Board’s corporate management activities.
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The Chairman of the Supervisory Board remained in close contact with the Executive Board, particularly 

the ceo, so that he could stay informed about important corporate developments and pending decisions 

and be in a position to support the Executive Board in its deliberations. The heads of the Supervisory 

and Executive Boards also consulted regularly with one another outside the scheduled meetings of the 

Supervisory Board.

elec tion of the supervisory board

The term of office of all Supervisory Board members ended at the close of the Annual General Meeting 

of kuka Aktiengesellschaft on May 15, 2008. The shareholders present at the Annual General Meeting 

were asked to elect new shareholder representatives to sit on the board. They chose Mr. Helmut Gierse 

from Nuremberg as their new representative on the panel. Mr. Helmut Gierse succeeded Prof. Gerd Hir-

zinger, Dr.-Ing., whose term on the advisory board ended with the adjournment of the Annual General 

Meeting. Dr. Rolf Bartke, Dr. Reiner Beutel, Mr. Pepyn René Dinandt, Dr. Helmut Leube and Dr. Herbert 

Meyer were reelected to the Supervisory Board.

At the May 15, 2008 constituent meeting of the Supervisory Board, which had been newly elected for 

a five-year term, Dr. Rolf Bartke was reelected as Chairman of the advisory panel. Dr. Bartke has held 

this position since 2005. Dr. Herbert Meyer was chosen as the Chairman of the Audit Committee and 

Dr. Bartke was elected Chairman of both the Personnel and Nomination Committees. As per article 27 (3) 

of the German Act on Company Co-Determination, Dr. Bartke also assumes the chairmanship of the 

Arbitration Panel.

In October 2007, a voting procedure was introduced for electing employee representatives to the Super-

visory Board. Their term of office also started immediately after the Annual General Meeting on May 15, 

2008. Jürgen Kerner, Wilfried Eberhardt, Siegfried Greulich, Thomas Knabel, Walter Prues and Fritz Seifert 

were elected to the Supervisory Board as employee representatives. Mr. Jürgen Kerner was elected as 

deputy chairman of the Supervisory Board.

mee tings of the supervisory board and it s commit tees during the rep or ting period

The following committees were established by the Supervisory Board: a Personnel Committee, an Audit 

Committee and an Arbitration Panel in accordance with article 27 (3) of the Mitbestimmungsgesetz 

(German Act on Company Co-Determination). A Nomination Committee as per Section 5.3.2, clause 2 of 

the Corporate Governance Code (cgc), June 14, 2007 version, was also formed.

During the 2008 financial year, the Supervisory Board held five regular meetings and one extraordinary 

meeting.
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The March 18, 2008 sitting dealt with kuka Aktiengesellschaft’s and the kuka Group’s financial results 

for 2007 and the resolutions for the May 15, 2008 Annual General Meeting. Along with the resolution 

on the agenda for the Annual General Meeting, a decision was also made on the Nomination Committee’s 

recommendations regarding Supervisory Board candidates for shareholder representation. At the same 

meeting, the Supervisory Board dealt with a progress report on the Robotics and Systems divisions’ 

strategies.

At the May 15, 2008 meeting, immediately prior to the Annual General Meeting, the agenda items 

included the preparation for the Annual General Meeting and a report on the Group’s business develop-

ment. The Supervisory Board adopted a resolution on the appropriation of the net retained earnings.

The Supervisory Board meeting immediately after the Annual General Meeting on May 15, 2008 was held 

to discuss the results of the shareholder meeting, election of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board, 

election of the deputy chairman of the Supervisory Board, election of the members of the committees 

and scheduling of the meetings of the Supervisory Board, whose new members were meeting for the 

first time at this sitting. The meeting also dealt with Executive Board issues.

The Supervisory Board met on June 9, 2008 for an extraordinary meeting. It resolved to appoint Dr. Horst 

J. Kayser as ceo and member of the Executive Board effective October 1, 2008, and Dr. Matthias J. Rapp 

as member of the Executive Board responsible for finance and controlling effective July 1, 2008.

At the next Supervisory Board meeting on September 26, 2008, the strategy of the divisions and man-

agement projects regarding development of the Group were discussed. The Supervisory Board also con-

ducted a review of the Supervisory Board’s effectiveness in accordance with Section 5.6 of the cgc, with 

positive results; see also the Corporate Governance Report. In addition, the Supervisory Board resolved 

to commission the University of Witten / Herdecke to assist with the effectiveness review of the Board; 

(see also the Corporate Governance Report). The Supervisory Board listened to a presentation on the 

concept of employee participation and management succession planning at the meeting. The Executive 

Board informed the members about kuka ag’s organizational concept, which aims to centralize top-

level, administrative and business support functions.

The Supervisory Board held its last regular meeting of 2008 on December 9, 2008. It discussed the budget 

for 2009 as well as the mid-term plan to 2011. In addition, the Supervisory Board was informed about the 

status of the implementation of the kuka Group’s management organization, as well as the employee 

share purchase concept.
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All members of the Supervisory Board participated in over half of the Supervisory Board meetings in 

2008 (Section 5.4.8 of the cgc). Further details regarding corporate governance are included in the 

Corporate Governance Report, which forms part of the Annual Report.

The Personnel Committee, consisting of a chair, a deputy and one employee and employer representa-

tive each met six times in 2008 and dealt with preparing the Executive Board and its contractual issues 

in accordance with regulations. The Personnel Committee discussed the key issues relating to changes 

at the Executive Board level during the reporting period. The chair informed the members of the Super-

visory Board about the agenda items and decisions.

The Audit Committee, consisting of a chair, a deputy and one employee and employer representative 

each met once to discuss annual financial statements related topics plus six additional times. The top-

ics of discussion included preparation for the respective quarterly reports and the risk and compliance 

management reports for the Group’s companies. The Audit Committee intensively supported the Super-

visory and Executive Boards’ tasks and provided the panel with important information to prepare it for 

making its decisions.

The committee described in article 27, clause 3 of the German Co-determination Act did not meet.

The Nomination Committee as per Section 5.3.3 of the cgc held a meeting to prepare for the Supervi-

sory Board’s resolution regarding the recommended candidates for the Supervisory Board shareholder 

representatives.

e xecutive board member s nominated

In view of the pending generational transition at the executive management level of the Group, kuka 

ag’s Supervisory Board met on June 9, 2008 and appointed Dr. Horst J. Kayser ceo and Labor Director 

of kuka ag effective October 1, 2008.

After successfully serving kuka for more than 30 years, Mr. Gerhard Wiedemann, ceo and Labor Director 

of the company decided not to extend his contract beyond March 31, 2009 related to age. He resigned 

as ceo and member of the Executive Board effective the close of September 30, 2008. He will continue 

to work with the Executive Board in a consulting capacity until March 31, 2009.

The Supervisory Board has also appointed Dr. Matthias J. Rapp to the Executive Board and named him 

Chief Financial Officer effective July 1, 2008.

Dr. Jürgen Koch, member of the Executive Board responsible for finance and controlling had already 

declared in December 2007 that he will not be available for another period any longer for personal rea-

sons. He resigned in June 30, 2008 and left the company on that date.
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ne w m anagement organiz ation for the kuk a group

The kuka Group conducts business in an economic environment that is becoming increasingly difficult. 

In order to further expand its flexible robot-based automation solutions business, the Executive Board, 

with approval from the Supervisory Board, decided to restructure the kuka Group’s management organ-

ization effective January 1, 2009. The Executive Board will from now on consist of the ceo and the cfo. 

The chairmen of the management boards of the management companies kuka Roboter GmbH and kuka 

Systems GmbH, Mr. Bernd Liepert and Dr. Stefan Söhn respectively were named chairmen of the divi-

sions and will be part of the management team together with the Executive Board. In conjunction with 

the restructuring of the management organization, Mr. Bernd Liepert resigned from his position as Exec-

utive Board member of kuka ag. Mr. Liepert left the company on February 4, 2009.

independence and decl ar ation of compliance

The Supervisory Board members complied with and continue to comply with the arms-length provisions 

outlined in Section 5.4.2 of the Corporate Governance Code. No conflicts of interest as defined in Sec-

tion 5.5 of the Corporate Governance Code arose during the reporting period. The Supervisory Board and 

the Executive Board submitted identical declarations of compliance in accordance with article 161 of 

the German Stock Corporation Act. The annual declarations were made on February 23, 2009 by the Exec-

utive Board and on February 24, 2009 by the Supervisory Board.

work with the auditor s

The annual financial statements and management report of kuka Aktiengesellschaft as of December 

31, 2008, as well as the consolidated annual financial statements and Group management report as of 

December 31, 2008, including the bookkeeping, were audited by auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers ag 

(pwc), Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Frankfurt / Main, who issued an unqualified audit opinion on 

them. The kuka Group’s risk management system was also audited, as required by law. The kuka 

Group’s midyear report dated June 30, 2008 was also audited. kuka Aktiengesellschaft’s consolidated 

statements were prepared in accordance with article 315a of the German Commercial Code (hgb) based 

on the International Accounting Standards ifrs as adopted by the European Union.

The Audit Committee appointed the external auditors as per the resolution at the Annual General Meet-

ing of May 15, 2008. Prior to appointing the auditors of the financial statements of the company and 

the Group, the Chairman of the Audit Committee and the Chairman of the Supervisory Board conducted 

an in-depth review with the auditors regarding audit issues, scope and fees. Furthermore, the Audit 

Committee obtained the arm’s-length declaration of the auditor in accordance with Section 7.2.1 of the 

cgc and monitored the independence of the auditor. The committee also dealt with contracts with the 

auditor for services that did not relate to the audit itself. Each year the audit prioritizes a different set 

of key topics. The key issues agreed with the auditor for the fiscal 2008 review included capitalization 

of development costs. The auditor had no major objections on these items. In December 2008, the audi-

tor gave the Audit Committee Chairman a detailed explanation of the preliminary audit results. The 

auditor also immediately reported any findings that arose during the course of the audit that were mate-

rial to the Supervisory Board’s work.
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Because they had been contracted to review the June 30, 2008 midyear financial report, the auditors 

attended the August 4, 2008 Audit Committee meeting.

In a joint meeting with the auditor on March 9, 2009, the Audit Committee reviewed the two Annual 

Reports, taking into consideration the auditor’s reports. The highlights of the Annual Report were pre-

sented to the panel by the Executive Board and the auditor. The questions posed by the Audit Commit-

tee members were answered, the documentation relating to the financial statements were reviewed, 

discussed and checked in detail with the auditor and the audit reports were discussed in depth with 

the auditor. The Audit Committee reported to the Supervisory Board on the results of its meeting and 

its review during the board’s meeting on March 10, 2009 and recommended that the board approve 

kuka Aktiengesellschaft’s annual financial statements and the kuka Group’s consolidated annual finan-

cial statements.

The Supervisory Board also reviewed the draft annual financial statements submitted by the Executive 

Board. The audit reports provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers were made available to all members of 

the Supervisory Board. The auditor took part in the Supervisory Board meeting on March 10, 2009 regard-

ing the annual financial statements in order to report on material findings in the audit and to provide 

additional information.

annual financial statement s for 20 0 8  adop ted

After completing its own review, and with full knowledge and consideration of the Audit Committee 

report, the auditor’s reports and the explanations provided in the meeting of March 10, 2009, the Super-

visory Board raises no objections to the results and concurs with the auditor’s findings. In the opinion 

of the Supervisory Board, the auditor’s reports comply with the legal requirements stipulated in arti-

cles 317 and 321 of the German Commercial Code (hgb).

The Supervisory Board is satisfied with the completeness of the management report of the kuka ag 

and the kuka Group. The assessments made by the Executive Board in the management report and the 

Group management report are in agreement with its reports to the Supervisory Board, and the state-

ments made in the two reports are also in agreement with the Supervisory Board’s own evaluations. At 

the conclusion of its review, the Supervisory Board found no cause to raise objections to the manage-

ment report and the Group management report.

At its financial statements meeting on March 10, 2009, the Supervisory Board approved the manage-

ment report and annual financial statements prepared by the Executive Board for the 2008 financial 

year, including the executive compensation report and the explanatory report by the Executive Board 

of kuka Aktiengesellschaft regarding the information as per articles 289, para. 4 and 315, para. 4 of 

the German Commercial Code (hgb), which form part of the management report and the Group manage-

ment report. Thus the annual financial statements are adopted.
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The Supervisory Board likewise approves the consolidated annual financial statements and the Group 

management report of kuka Aktiengesellschaft for the year 2008 prepared by the Executive Board.

Furthermore, at its meeting on March 10, 2009, the Supervisory Board reviewed the recommendations 

of the Executive Board regarding allocation of the net profit. In doing so, the board paid particular atten-

tion to the company’s liquidity situation, financing and capital spending plans and the perspective of 

the capital markets. In consideration of the latter aspects, the Supervisory Board concurs with the Exec-

utive Board regarding allocation of the net profit for the year.

thank s to the staff

The challenges of the year 2008 were only overcome as a result of the strong commitment in all areas 

of the company. The Supervisory Board would like to thank all employees, members of the Executive 

Board, the management teams and the elected employee representatives for their efforts. Their achieve-

ments serve the interests of the company, its customers and shareholders.

Augsburg, March 10, 2009

The Supervisory Board

Dr. Rolf Bartke

Chairman





kui xu, cfo, kuka flexible manufacturing system (shanghai /  china)

“In Asia, more and more customers are 

placing their trust in the high quality 

of our automation products and systems. 

Our local presence combined with a 

network of global know-how give us true 

competitive advantages.”



“Our solutions are always aimed 

at meeting the local needs and 

requirements of our customers. 

Our standard: top quality for the 

best manufacturing solution.”

cars registered in china per 1,000 population

17.7 

21.6*

26.0*
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31.1*
* Forecast

Source: Snapshots International Ltd. Economist Intelligence Unit
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str ategic focus on gener al industry

The kuka brand stands for innovative technology in robot-supported automation of industrial manufac-

turing processes. In the automotive sector, kuka has been the technology leader in its target markets 

for many years. Some time ago, we started transferring this knowledge very successfully to related mar-

kets outside the car industry (general industry). In view of the increasing economic difficulties, we will 

now accelerate this process. Robot-based automation is increasingly replacing manual or less flexible 

automated manufacturing processes in general industry. kuka’s integrated business model combines 

the core component of industrial robotics with application engineering and offers it from a single source. 

The concept is unique and has potential synergies. The aim of the new management team is to system-

atically improve shareholder value.

grow th opp or tunities in the a meric a s and a sia

In Europe, kuka is not only the technology leader when it comes to robotics and plant engineering, but 

also has the largest market share. As a result, the industrial regions of the Americas and Asia present 

good growth opportunities, particularly in general industry. The launch pad for this regional expansion 

is the strong market position of kuka Systems in North America and Brazil, as well as in China and India. 

All of these regions represent the largest local markets. At the same time, the reputation of the kuka 

brand in the automobile industry serves as a “door opener” for general industry. This applies equally 

to Robotics and Systems.

The Robotics division’s primary target markets in the Americas and Asia are the plastics and food sec-

tors, metals machining and processing and logistics. The Robotics division was particularly successful 

in 2008 in expanding its general industry business, reporting double-digit growth for orders received. 

They were 24.4 percent higher year-over-year.

reference install ations for the a ircr af t and sol ar industries

Systems is in the process of establishing itself as a strategic aircraft industry supplier. Among its cus-

tomers are Airbus, Boeing and Embraer in Brazil, the world’s third-largest aircraft manufacturing mar-

ket. The division is especially focusing on the coming introduction of the new carbon fiber composite 

materials (cfrp). It has already won an order that will serve as a reference installation by supplying a 

cooperating robot system to assemble cfrp parts for Boeing’s new “Dreamliner 787”. Systems also deliv-

ered several robot-based systems for manufacturing photovoltaic modules to the North American solar 

industry (Evergreen Solar) in 2008. These solar sector activities will be further expanded in the coming 

years, and wafer and cell assembly lines will be added to the systems portfolio. The Systems division 

is also the market leader for car body assembly lines and operates a body-in-white production line for 

the Jeep Wrangler in Toledo, Ohio. The pay-on-production contract is unique in North America and serves 

as a showroom for visiting specialists, including those from general industry. 

Solar module cross 

connect station.
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taking advantage of the global shif t in the automotive industry

The global automobile industry is facing a structural shift. As a result of the 2008 economic recession, 

sales of high horsepower and full-size vehicles have declined sharply in the developed industrial regions 

of North America and Europe for the first time. At the same time, governments are providing the nec-

essary financial support to accelerate the market launch of fuel-efficient and environmentally friendly 

engines and vehicles, particularly the us administration. The current reluctance of major carmakers 

to invest in new vehicle models and manufacturing systems may therefore be alleviated in the not-too-

distant future. Each new car model requires a revamp of the vehicle’s chassis. This is supported by the 

normal product lifecycle, whereby the ability to sell older models continuously declines. 

In parallel, a migration of carmaking manufacturing facilities from the developed industrial nations of 

Europe and North America to emerging countries, particularly the bric countries (Brazil, Russia, India 

and China) is taking place. In these regions, mobility through motorized vehicles is in its infancy. As a 

result, growth in demand for vehicles and the investments of international carmakers in manufacturing 

facilities in these countries could be far stronger than that of the world market. Because of low wage 

costs, local manufacturers also benefit from this trend, which is further supported by increasing exports 

of low-cost vehicles to the developed industrial regions. However, Europe’s and North America’s high 

quality and safety standards make exporting vehicles from the bric countries to these regions unlikely 

to succeed without the use of robot-based manufacturing equipment.

global presence c an mitigate m arke t swings

kuka has had successful business relationships with all European and North American carmakers for 

many years. Furthermore, kuka has been a solid business partner with a strong market position in the 

bric nations (excluding India) for almost 20 years. Over the past two years, kuka was able to close this 

gap in India by landing large orders from tata and a number of other national manufacturers, as well 

as vw in Pune. Due to this broad-based global presence, kuka could compensate capital spending 

fluctuations and structural shifts in the automotive industries of the developed industrial regions of 

Europe and North America into the emerging countries.

integr ated business model cre ates synergies

To secure the core automotive industry business and accelerate the expansion into general industry, 

particularly in the American and Asian growth markets, the Robotics and Systems divisions will inten-

sify their collaboration under the umbrella of the integrated kuka business model.

Since January 1, 2009, the company has been led by kuka ag’s two-person Executive Board and two divi-

sional heads, who are responsible for the business operations of kuka Roboter GmbH and kuka Systems 

GmbH. kuka ag’s Executive Board establishes the strategies for the domestic and foreign markets and 

is responsible for the overall operational management of the company, as well as Group issues. kuka 

Roboter GmbH and kuka Systems GmbH are the management companies of the Robotics and Systems 

divisions. Regional subsidiaries in 25 countries support the divisions worldwide. These branch offices 

are responsible for selling their products and services and doing the local assembly and field service 

work.



2 0

kuka’s integrated business model has three goals. From a market perspective, closer cooperation 

between the Robotics and Systems divisions’ key account managers should generate more synergies 

in selling to the automotive industry. In the research and development area, the number of projects 

that are jointly brought to market readiness at the Innovation Center is steadily increasing. Further-

more, the divisions will be relieved of common tasks such as accounting, payroll, information technol-

ogy, marketing and legal issues. These will be bundled centrally at kuka ag’s Shared Service Centers 

in Augsburg. The goal of all these steps is to increase the synergies within the kuka Group through 

more intense cooperation, develop standardized processes, strengthen the divisions in view of the dete-

riorating economic climate and concentrate the core competencies to the benefit of both divisions. 

        kuk a’s integr ated business model

kuk a ag e xecutive boar d

div isional chair m an, robotic s div isional chair m an, sys tems

	 Automotive

	 General industry 

	 Service

	 Car-body production

	 Press tool manufacturing

	 Assembly technology

	 General industry (plant engineering)

innovation center

shar ed ser vices
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sustainable business

kuka automates manufacturing processes and helps its customers improve productivity and product 

quality. We support our customers by being responsible partners. We aim to secure the long-term future 

of our company, its employees and their families and acknowledge our responsibility toward the com-

munity and the environment. One of our objectives is therefore to use sustainable processes to provide 

our products and services and to minimize our utilization of the earth’s natural resources. A concrete 

example: year after year, we have been using less and less electricity to manufacture new robots. We 

use lifecycle costing when we design our plant assembly systems; for example, the energy consumed 

by a car body assembly system is part of the design optimization calculation. In 2008, we continued to 

act in accordance with these policies and expanded them further. At kuka, sustainability applies to 

three areas: the environment, our employees and the community.

integr ated qualit y and ecologic al m anagement

At kuka, we systematically plan and continuously improve our products and processes. In addition to 

maintaining product-specific certification, the Group is certified according to the following management 

processes, which are audited annually by independent experts and must be renewed every three years: 

	 iso 9001 Quality

	 iso 14 001 Environment

	 en 9100 Aircraft

	 vda 6.4 Automotive

	 iso 3834 Specialized welding operation

	 ohris Work safety 

Our environmental management objective is to continuously improve the environmental soundness of 

our operations, over and above compliance with regulating authority specifications. This includes:

	 designing all products and systems in an environmentally sound manner

	 optimizing our utilization of power and water resources

	 reducing waste and increasing the use of recycled materials

	 optimizing the work and environmental conditions in the factories

elec tricit y consump tion cut by 30  percent in five ye ar s

The number of robots produced centrally by kuka Robotics in Augsburg between 2004 in 2008 increased 

by about 50 percent, while electricity consumption, the main energy source used in manufacturing, stayed 

nearly constant over the same period. Among other things, this is a result of the continually shorter fac-

tory assembly times, which were reduced by more than 15 days. At the same time, checking and testing 

takes only one hour per robot, versus the former 36 hours. Some structural changes to the production 

halls and new assembly processes, which also contributed to the energy savings program, started to bear 

fruit in August 2008. Average electricity consumption per manufactured robot has declined accord-

ingly in the past five years, going from 726.5 kwh in 2004 to 508.8 kwh in 2008. This corresponds to 

electricity savings of 30 percent in five years, or an average 8 percent per year.
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l ifec ycle cost s supp or t environmentally sound pl ant a ssembly systems

Environmentally sound manufacturing lines offer users considerable benefits over many years of oper-

ation. This is why kuka Systems takes into account not only the purchasing costs, but also the oper-

ating and maintenance costs over the service life of a manufacturing line, right from the design stage. 

We look at a design life of ten years and more. In the automotive sector, operating costs are beginning 

to take center stage. Plant and engineering companies offering technologies to meet these needs will 

enjoy lasting success in this industry. Lifecycle costs contribute to improved efficiencies and provide 

customers with an excellent basis for considering reduced energy costs and lower materials consump-

tion when they make their purchase decision.

kuk a robot s again awarded the “red dot design” prize

A fundamental design criterion for kuka robots is to conserve resources. All kuka robots not only have 

a stylish visual appeal, but also a long service life, which enables them to contribute to reducing mate-

rial consumption. The Nordrhein-Westfalen design center has nominated outstanding product designs 

for the “red dot design award” since 1995 and has thereby created an internationally recognized qual-

ity seal for innovation, ergonomics and environmental soundness. kuka had already received design 

awards for its kr 150 k, kr 180 k and kr 210 k robots in 2002. 

In April 2008, the jury once again chose our kr 16 and kr 1000 Titan robots from among 3,000 compet-

ing products. The kr 16 received the “red dot design award” for its low particle emissions, as well as 

its versatility and flexibility. The kr 1000 Titan has a payload of 1,000 kg, and is the most powerful robot 

in operation worldwide, yet excelled primarily because of its slim but powerful shape. The kr 1000 

Titan’s introduction in 2007 earned it a place in the Guinness World Records book.
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high work safe t y standards

Workers in manufacturing and similar operations are exposed to increased health and safety risks. kuka 

therefore takes care to minimize all types of risks at its manufacturing locations. These efforts have 

been successful. The “1,000-man ratio”; that is, the number of work-related accidents subject to report-

ing per 1,000 employees at kuka ag (Germany) companies in 2008 was 14.5 incidents. That is signifi-

cantly less than half the statistical accident rate recorded by the government safety agency (40). The 

safety record at kuka remained at the same low level as in 2007 (14 work-related accidents per 1,000 

employees).

focus on work- l ife bal ance

Every modern, innovative company makes high demands on the capabilities of its employees. As a result, 

harmonizing a career, a family and physical fitness has become an important factor in ensuring the 

lasting success of the company, and has become increasingly important in the past number of years. 

kuka has adopted a Work-Life Balance policy and offers its employees flexible working hours, as well 

as part-time work and home-office positions on an as required basis. In 2008, 23 kuka Roboter GmbH 

employees had a job they could carry out from their home office. kuka ag had one. The company plans 

to offer contracts matched to the needs of individual employees on an expanded basis in the coming 

years. In addition, kuka Academy offers seminars covering health topics and work-life balance concepts.

kuk a ac ademy merged

In 2008, the continuing education programs offered by kuka ag, kuka Roboter GmbH and kuka Systems 

GmbH were combined under one roof in Augsburg under the heading kuka Academy. Qualified inter-

nal and external trainers offer a total of 100 seminars spanning 175 seminar days and covering every-

thing from office management to computer courses, as well as communications and management 

techniques. In 2008, 1,480 participants attended a total of 2,627 seminar days (prior year: 2,320). This 

means that on average, every employee at the company’s headquarters attended a seminar lasting 

one day.

kuka Academy also offers lessons in sports, which the employees participate in during their free time. 

During the summer, sports such as soccer, tennis, beach volleyball and mountain biking are very popular. 

Badminton, sport climbing and chess are offered year-round. In 2008, kuka employees participated in 

a relay marathon, organized an internal soccer tournament and, together with other major companies, 

held alternating chess tournaments. Free time for skiing in neighboring Austria was also on the agenda.

A number of kuka Group managers also lecture at the universities in the region; lectures on business 

management topics are given at the University of Augsburg, for example, and there are lectures on 

robotics at the University of Stuttgart and Karlsruhe College.

kr 16 receives red dot 

design award 2008.
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school ,  culture and sp or t s

As part of its social responsibility, kuka concentrates on promoting educational, cultural and sporting 

activities in greater Augsburg. After all, more than 40 percent of the workforce lives and works in this 

area. There are numerous such reciprocal relationships between the region and our company. We pay 

particular attention to the area’s schools and universities. In addition to participating in university 

recruitment shows, kuka sponsors Peutinger high school and holds a job fair at the Werner-von-Siemens 

secondary school. Financial support is also provided for events at the city theater and a series of con-

certs presented by the theater community. Finally, various pro and semi-pro sports also receive sup-

port. kuka is one of the sponsors of the venerable Augsburg soccer club, which plays in the second 

Bundesliga (federal soccer league), and the Augsburg Panthers, who are in the first ice hockey league. 

In 2008, the company also sponsored the annual World Cup canoe slalom at Augsburg’s Olympic white-

water course as well as a youth golf tournament.

kuka and the capital market

international financial m arke t crisis c auses economy to sl ide fur ther

Starting in the United States, the subprime crisis evolved into a worldwide financial crisis on stock mar-

kets over the course of 2008, which subsequently led to a major restructuring of the banking sector. 

Several large American and international banks and insurance companies were absorbed by competitors, 

had to be nationalized or declared bankruptcy. At the same time, the key North American, European 

and Asian industrial nations injected liquidity to safeguard their economies and support the banks’ equity 

ratios. The financial aid package in the United States totaled usd 700 billion, in Germany € 480 billion 

and in Japan € 80 billion.

The international financial market crisis worsened the ongoing economic downturn. During the first 

half year, the dramatic increase in oil prices and looming inflation also weighed on the general devel-

opment of the economy. The negative effects of the financial market crisis on the real economy were 

first seen in the fall, particularly in the tightening of credit markets. All the major industrial nations 

subsequently announced wide-ranging economic stimulus packages valued from € 23 billion (Great 

Britain) to usd 790 billion (United States) in order to mitigate the impact of declining demand in their 

countries.

The financial market crisis and the economic slump were also reflected in share prices on the stock 

markets. Price drops in the mid-double-digit percentage range were reported in all major industrial 

countries. The two leading German indices suffered a similar setback, with the dax and mdax declin-

ing 40.4 percent and 43.2 percent respectively over the course of the year. 

further information 

www.kuka-ag.de/en/  

investor_relations/shares
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mechanic al engineering industry shares under consider able pressure

As a result of the recession, economically sensitive and cyclic mechanical engineering company shares 

were among the hardest hit by the price drops. After a period of strong growth by German mechanical 

engineering companies from 2003 onward, the sector reported a drop in orders that started at the 

beginning of the year and worsened in the second half. Overall, orders received were down 7 percent 

from a year earlier according to the industry association’s statistics. This resulted in profit warnings 

and adjustment of corporate forecasts for 2009 and subsequent years. 

The share prices of kuka’s peer group of plant and engineering companies on the mdax and sdax 

declined accordingly, and dropped between 40 and 60 percent in 2008. kuka’s share price was unable 

to avoid a similar fate and also fell substantially. Overall, as a result of the emerging recession in many 

major industrial nations and plummeting sales, particularly in the North American and European auto-

motive industry, the share price was down 51.3 percent. kuka’s share price decline was therefore in 

the same range as that of its peer group. The stock price reached a high of € 26.01 on the first day of 

trading, January 2, and a low of € 10.07 at the end of November. By the end of December, it had recov-

ered slightly to € 12.67.  

        kuk a shar es – ke y number s
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

Number of shares millions 26.60 26.60 26.60 26.60 26.60

Earnings (loss) per share € 1.83 – 5.45 – 2.43 4.43 1.18

Dividend per share € 0.66 – – 1.00 –

Dividend yield (Dec. 31) % 3.30 – – 3.85 –

High for the year € 20.60 23.15 24.75 31.50 26.01

Low for the year € 16.00 15.62 14.02 18.58 10.07

Closing price for the year € 20.20 18.25 19.36 26.01 12.67

Change compared to prior year % 26.20 – 9.60 6.10 34.30 – 51.30

p/e ratio (Dec. 31) 11.00 – – 5.90 10.70

Market capitalization (Dec. 31) € millions 537.30 485.45 515.00 692.00 337.00

Average daily volume No. of shares 80,000 91,250 165,000 232,000 234,000

share buyback progr a m and dividend

On March 25, kuka launched a share buyback program aimed at acquiring up to 10 percent of total share 

capital or 2.66 million shares. By the end of the program on August 29, 1,327,340 shares or 4.99 per-

cent of total share capital had been repurchased. The repurchased shares remained in the hands of kuka 

and were not canceled. The average price of the repurchased shares was € 21.02.
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At the Annual General Meeting of kuka ag on May 15 in Augsburg shareholders approved the reinstate-

ment of dividend payments and distribution of € 1.0 per dividend-bearing share. The last dividend paid, 

in 2004, was € 0.66. This distribution was based on the strong cash position of the Group at the begin-

ning of 2008 as a result of the sale of the Packaging division and the excellent operating results for 

the 2007 financial year.

intensified investor rel ations

In spite of the deteriorating market environment, the financial market interest in kuka shares remained 

unchanged and high. The Executive Board fielded questions from shareholders at 13 road shows (com-

pared to twelve last year) and seven investor conferences (same as last year). The focus of the initiative 

was on Frankfurt, London / Edinburgh and New York (each three or four days) as well as Paris, Zurich 

and Munich (two days each). The executives also went to Milan, Vienna and Stockholm / Copenhagen. 

In addition, 82 separate meetings (compared to 85 last year) were held with investors and analysts at 

the company’s headquarters in Augsburg. The Executive Board also gave presentations about the Group 

at three events: the dvfa analysts’ conference in Frankfurt on March 19 (presentation of the financial 

statements), on June 12 at this year’s Capital Market Day in conjunction with the automatica trade 

fair in Munich (latest robot developments) and on November 4 to release the nine-month business results 

in Frankfurt / Main (strategy of the new Executive Board).

kuka ag is currently being covered by 19 analysts. Of these, 17 are representatives of banks located 

in Germany and two in London. Of these, nine recommended purchasing or holding the stock at the 

beginning of 2009.  

        shar eholder s truc tur e

(in %)

39� (37) Private German investors

29� (48) International institutional 
investors

27� (15) German institutional 
investors

  5� (0) kuka ag *

* 4.99 percent of total share capital

As of February 15, 2009

Prior year numbers in brackets

further information 

A list of the current analysts’ 

recommendations is 

available on the Internet 

at www.kuka-ag.de/en/

investor_relations/shares/

analyst_recommendations
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conver tible bond

kuka ag placed a convertible bond issue with a nominal value of € 69.0 million in the capital markets 

on May 9, 2006 via its 100-percent owned Dutch subsidiary, kuka Finance b. v. The convertible bond’s 

term extends to November 2011, pays interest at a rate of 3.75 percent per annum and can be converted 

to kuka shares at a conversion price of € 25.4. The convertible bond has been listed on the Euromtf 

market of the Luxembourg Stock exchange since November 9, 2006 (isin de000aogrmco / wkn aogrmc). 

At the end of December 2008, the last price for the convertible bond quoted by the Frankfurt stock 

exchange was 72.80 percent, which compares to 114.40 percent last year. This represents a decline of 

41.6 percent points, almost the same as the decline in the price of the company’s shares.

        kuk a shar e pr ice per for m ance from januar y 1,  20 0 8  to december 31,  20 0 8
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alois buchstab, head of industrial business development, kuka robotics

 “Safety and technical perfection are a top 

priority in the booming entertainment 

industry. Over ten years ago, kuka’s 

expertise enabled it to obtain a license 

to transport humans. The company is 

still the only robot manufacturer in the 

world with such a certification.”



 “The kuka 4-d-Simulator, developed for 

entertainment parks, introduces a 

completely new experience: riders can 

travel into the unknown, or examine 

manufacturing and assembly halls at 

close quarters.”

consumer spending on theme and amusement parks 

(in € billions)

24.72008

30.02012

 Forecast

Source: PricewaterhouseCoopers, Global Outlook for Media and Entertainment, 2008
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business and business environment

the integr ated business model

kuka focuses on robot-supported automation of industrial manufacturing processes and is thus active 

in the mechanical and plant engineering sector. kuka ag is listed on the German stock market index for 

medium-size companies (mdax) and has a market capitalization of about € 300 million.

Since January 1, 2009, the company has been led by kuka ag’s two-person Executive Board and two 

divisional heads, who are responsible for the business operations of kuka Roboter GmbH and kuka 

Systems GmbH. kuka ag’s Executive Board establishes the strategies for the domestic and foreign mar-

kets and is responsible for overall operational management, as well as Group issues. kuka Roboter 

GmbH and kuka Systems GmbH are the management companies of the Robotics and Systems divisions. 

Regional subsidiaries in 25 countries support the divisions worldwide. These branch offices are responsi-

ble for the sale of the divisions’ products and services and do the local assembly and field service work.

kuka ag and its management companies kuka Roboter GmbH and kuka Systems GmbH are headquar-

tered in Augsburg. This guarantees close cooperation between all Group entities. Other European sub-

sidiaries are located in Great Britain, Belgium, France, Spain, Italy, Sweden, Slovakia, the Czech Repub-

lic, Hungary and Russia and elsewhere. Another important business area is North and South America, 

with companies in greater Detroit / Michigan, Mexico and Brazil. In Asia, kuka has representatives in 

India, Malaysia, South Korea, Taiwan, Japan and China.

kuka’s integrated business model has three cornerstones. From a market perspective, closer coopera-

tion between the divisions’ key account managers should generate more synergies, particularly in sell-

ing to the automotive industry. In the research and development area, the number of projects that are 

jointly brought to market readiness at the Innovation Center is steadily increasing. Furthermore, the 

divisions were relieved of common tasks such as accounting and payroll, which are bundled centrally 

at kuka ag’s Shared Service Centers in Augsburg. The goals of these steps are to increase the synergies 

within the kuka Group through closer cooperation, develop standardized processes, strengthen the 

divisions in view of the deteriorating economic environment and concentrate the core competencies to 

the benefit of both divisions.

kuk a robotic s

In the integrated business model, the Robotics division delivers the core component, robots, which are 

used in the automation of manufacturing processes. kuka Robotics develops, manufactures and sells 

industrial robots, which are used in almost all industry sectors. The division’s product portfolio com-

prises six basic modular types with many mechanical and electrical infeed options. All new robots and 

applications are developed, designed and finally assembled at the Augsburg center. Certified suppliers 

New management team.

kuka robots are used in 

almost all industries.
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deliver project-related robot components. kuka Robotics targets the automotive sector, general indus-

try and service. Key account managers service the automotive industry. About 80 systems partners that 

specialize in the various sectors look after sales and service of kuka robots in general industry.

        kuk a robotic s – compe tit ive p osit ion	 kuk a robotic s – compe tit ive p osit ion
automotive	 gener al indus tr y

20 % kuka 10 % kuka

Fanuc, Kawasaki, 
Yaskawa, Nachi, abb, 

Others

90 % 
 

Yaskawa, Fanuc, abb, 

Kawasaki, Stäubli, 
Others

80 % 
 

Source: kuka and market information

 

The Robotics division sees itself as a global innovation and technology leader. kuka is the market leader 

in the automotive industry, with a market share of about 20 percent. kuka did not begin targeting 

general industry until the year 2000, but has since captured a market share of about 10 percent.

kuk a systems

In the integrated business model, the Systems division contributes application engineering expertise 

for automating manufacturing processes. kuka Systems acts as a general contractor, designing and 

building complete systems. In addition to utilizing its application-oriented robotics expertise, the divi-

sion employs many other metal forming and joining processes in its designs. The Systems division has 

designated regional centers of expertise to execute systems projects: Augsburg for Germany and Europe, 

greater Detroit for North America, and Shanghai for the growing Chinese market. Local subsidiaries 

that are close to the customer support these centers and independently process small orders.

In the automotive industry, kuka Systems focuses on flexible manufacturing lines for making vehicle 

bodies. Several different models or variants of a particular model can be built using these systems. 

Other business segments include press tool manufacturing and automated assembly lines for engine 

and transmission components. These entities are located in Schwarzenberg / Erzgebirge, Slovakia and 

Bremen, as well as greater Detroit, Michigan.

Divisions technology leaders in 

their target markets.
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        kuk a sys tems – compe tit ive p osit ion

25 % kuka

Comau (Fiat), 
ThyssenKrupp, 
edag / fft, abb, 

Others

75 % 
 
 

Source: kuka and market information

kuka Systems’ share of orders awarded by the automotive industry to third parties is about 25 percent, 

making it the market and technology leader in this sector. The division is expanding into technically 

comparable general industry sectors such as the aircraft and solar industries.

str ategy

Market conditions have deteriorated significantly since mid-2008. kuka’s strategy to address the situ-

ation is as follows: 

	 safeguard the core automotive industry business

	 accelerate expansion into general industry, particularly in the American and Asian regions

	 develop new business sectors

As a result of the global economic slump in 2008, the automotive sector has had to contend with declin-

ing passenger vehicle sales for the first time in almost 20 years. Capital spending on new models and 

production lines has thus been postponed and order volumes reduced since the second half of 2008. At 

the same time, carmakers, some of which have underutilized factories, are competing harder for the 

reduced number of consumers still purchasing vehicles. Capital spending that will enable the introduc-

tion of new types of cars to the market, particularly cheaper and more fuel-efficient models, could there-

fore pick up again soon in the Western industrial regions. In the bric nations (Brazil, Russia, India and 

China) the demand for vehicles, and therefore also robot-based automation for factories, continues to 

increase due to expanded export activities. Because of its worldwide presence, kuka’s robot and systems 

businesses can compensate for shifts in demand from the industrial regions to the emerging countries.

Accelerated expansion of 

general industry business.
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In general industry – that is, all sectors other than the automotive industry – investments to streamline 

operations and cut costs will continue to play an important role, particularly in times of weak earnings. 

kuka Robotics has grown faster than the overall market in this segment over the past three years. The 

highest growth rates were achieved in the metals machining and processing industry, machines and 

systems, as well as the plastics, food and logistics sectors. Other target markets are new applications 

for assembly and service robots, as well as healthcare technology. kuka Systems concentrates on 

related sectors that are switching from manual to automated manufacturing. The solar and aircraft 

industries are two key segments. Thanks to kuka’s robot-supported automation solutions, the com-

pany enjoys an excellent position in general industry.

On March 19, 2008, kuka ag released target growth numbers for orders received in 2008: 10 percent 

for the Robotics division and 5 percent for the Systems division (adjusted for non-operative effects). As a 

result of the economic decline, the Group’s planned growth numbers were consolidated and reduced “to 

last year’s level, excluding non-operative factors” on November 4, 2008. The actual adjusted consoli-

dated growth for orders received was 0.1 percent. The most recent target number for orders received in 

2008 was thus achieved.

The kuka Group’s target number for ebit margin in 2008 was 5.5 percent. The actual ebit margin 

reached was 4.1 percent, including a one-time charge resulting from the cancellation of a major sys-

tems order from a North American automotive supplier. Without this one-time charge, ebit margin 

would have been 5.7 percent and would therefore have exceeded the 2008 target number of 5.5 percent.

internal m anagement system

The internal management system ensures that the Group’s key indicators are transparent, which enables 

them to be systematically strengthened. kuka ag’s financial targets are performance indicators that 

affect the value of the company.

In order to determine return on sales, the operating result (ebit), i. e., earnings from operating activi-

ties before interest and taxes, is compared to sales revenues. This is the ebit margin. To determine the 

return on capital employed, the operating result (ebit) is compared to capital employed, which gives 

the return on capital employed, or roce. The operating result (ebit) and roce are determined for the 

Group as well as the Robotics and Systems divisions. Free cash flow; that is, cash flow from operating 

and investment activities, shows whether the investments can be funded from cash flow, and how much 

cash is available for payment of dividends and debt servicing. This indicator is used at the Group level. 

The weighted average cost of capital (wacc) for the divisions and the kuka Group will be 9 percent 

after taxes over the 2008 – 2010 planning period.

Target ebit margin achieved, 

excluding one-time charge.

kuka robots in an auto

motive assembly plant.
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Orders received is an important early indicator of business growth and is continuously monitored at the 

divisional and regional level, while order backlog indicates the degree to which the company’s capac-

ity will be absorbed in the coming months of the current financial year.

All key indicators are tracked and reviewed continuously using the internal reporting system. Any devi-

ations from plan are analyzed by management and, if necessary, agreement is subsequently reached 

on the corrective actions required to achieve the targets. 

economic climate

international financial m arke t crisis c auses economy to sl ide fur ther

Over the course of 2008, the economic climate increasingly deteriorated. A dramatic increase in oil prices 

and the looming inflation in the first half year accelerated the emerging economic decline. In the sec-

ond half of the year, the international financial market crisis worsened the world’s economic slump. All 

large industrial nations subsequently introduced comprehensive stimulus packages aimed at mitigating 

the falling demand experienced by their national economies. According to estimates by the International 

Monetary Fund, the global gross domestic product may have fallen from 3.5 percent in 2007 to about 

2 percent in 2008, which would be the lowest growth of the world economy in the past 20 years.

In the United States, the high debt load of private households put a significant damper on economic 

growth. During the financial year, the United States’ gross domestic product fell to 1.3 percent from 

2 percent a year earlier as a result (Source: January 30, 2009 issue of Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung). 

The decline may have been even sharper in the euro zone: from 2.6 percent in 2007 to 0.9 percent in 

2008 (source: db Research economic outlook 2009).

Thankfully, growth in China and India stabilized the situation. China’s gross domestic product grew 

9.6 percent compared to 11.9 percent in 2007, while growth in India came in at 7.7 present versus 9 per-

cent the year prior. Economic performance of the Eastern European nations was also again robust; gdp 

was up 4.6  percent compared to 5.6  percent a year earlier (Source: Westlb Research gdp – growth forecast).

In Germany, gdp growth was down by 50 percent, declining from 2.5 percent in 2007 to 1.3 percent in 

2008. Most of the growth occurred in the strong first quarter. By the fourth quarter, a decline of 2.1 per-

cent was already being reported (Source: German Statistics Office 2 / 2009).

Gross domestic product drops 

dramatically.
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        kuk a group or der s r eceived by r egion
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mechanic al and pl ant engineering sec tor rep or t s declining order s received

The German mechanical plant and engineering sector – after an outstanding 2007 business year – was 

able to increase manufacturing by another 5 percent compared to the year prior. However, orders 

received, which are a leading indicator of future capacity utilization for companies, were already down 

7 percent in 2008 compared to a year earlier. According to vdma, the German Engineering Federation, 

the 29 percent year-over-year drop during the fourth quarter makes it the weakest quarter since 1958. 

The decline was the same for both the domestic and export business. 

global automotive m arke t s decline sharply

The economic decline and the tightening credit conditions put pressure on the developed industrial 

regions, particularly the automotive markets. In the United States, car and light truck sales were 2008 

down 18 percent compared to the same time last year. Only 13.2 million vehicles were sold (source: 

January 8, 2009 issue of Handelsblatt), the lowest number in 16 years. In Europe too, new passenger 

vehicle registrations fell to their lowest level in 15 years. In total, sales declined 8 percent year-over-year, 

to 14.7 million units. Germany and the new eu nations in Central and Eastern Europe experienced the 

smallest declines at – 2 and – 1 percent respectively. In Japan as well, sales of passenger cars dropped 

6.5 percent to 3.2 million vehicles. Including the continuously increasing demand in the bric countries 

Brazil, Russia, India and China, and in the other developing nations, worldwide vehicle sales in 2008 

totaled 56 million units, a drop of 8 percent.

Mechanical and plant 

engineering sector manufac-

turing orders still higher.
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dem and for robot s again sl ightly higher

Worldwide demand for industrial robots again rose slightly in 2008. The International Federation of 

Robotics (ifr) estimates that robot sales for the year in total grew between one and 2 percent (in num

ber of units) compared to last year. Growth in the first half year was particularly strong, coming in at 

8 percent. The total number of robots sold in 2008 was 116,000 units, which compares to 114,300 the 

year before. Growth in Europe was above average at 8 percent, while Asian markets reported an aver-

age increase of 2 percent. In the United States, sales dropped 15 percent after strong growth the year 

prior. The demand for articulated robots was up 6 percent compared to other robot types, thus contin-

uing to be above average.

        number of robot s sold wor ldwide

(in thousands of units)

97.2

126.7

111.0 114.3 116.0

04 05 06 07 08

Source: International Federation of Robotics (ifr)

business performance

summ ary

Over the course of 2008, the economic climate turned very cloudy. In the second half of the year, the 

international financial market crisis worsened the economic downturn that was already in progress. A 

drop in orders received, especially driven by the automotive sector, was already apparent by the fourth 

quarter. Overall, the rapid deterioration in the general economic conditions had a negative impact on 

the kuka Group’s business performance.

adjusted order s received le vel sa me a s l a st ye ar

Despite the worldwide economic slump, the kuka Group was able to report in fiscal 2008 orders received 

totaling € 1,279.9 million, just 4.8 percent less than the € 1,343.8 million in 2007. However, adjusted 

for non-operative effects, such as the changes in input material purchasing by us subsidiary ktpo – kuka 
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Toledo Production Operations – (€ 35.0 million), the revised posting related to redemption of the financ-

ing for this company (€ 10.1 million) and the changed € / usd exchange rate (€ 19.6 million), orders 

received at the Group level were the same as last year.

The Robotics division’s orders received climbed 6.8 percent, from € 434.9 million in 2007 to € 464.4 mil-

lion as of the end of 2008. The division was particularly successful in expanding its general industry 

and service businesses, reporting double-digit growth of 24.4 percent and 23.6 percent respectively 

year-over-year. In total, general industry orders received for 2008 came in at € 194.3 million versus 

€ 156.2 million the year prior, and service went from € 81.4 million in 2007 to € 100.6 million in 2008. 

On the other hand, automotive sector orders received were down, particularly in the fourth quarter of 

2008. Overall, they dropped 14.1 percent to € 169.5 million from € 197.3 million in 2007.

In 2008, the Systems division’s orders received came in at € 854.9 million, down 8.8 percent from 

€ 937.7 million in 2007. However, adjusted for the ktpo effects and the changed € / usd exchange 

rate (€ 17.4 million), comparable orders received were down only 2.3 percent from last year.

kuka Systems’ project business was impacted by major regional shifts during the reporting year. While 

orders from German customers in 2007 totaled € 308.7 million, almost one-third of the total orders 

received of € 937.7 million, in 2008 domestic orders dropped substantially, to € 150.2 million. Instead, 

German manufacturers placed more orders for their European plants. As a result, the Systems division’s 

orders received from the rest of Europe went from € 134.7 million in 2007 to € 276.7 million in 2008. In 

North America, 2008 orders received from automotive industry customers fell to € 329.5 million, down 

from last year’s € 395.6 million. The largest order received from the region during the reporting year 

was an order from Ford for a car body assembly line in Mexico for the B Car, the equivalent of the Euro-

pean Ford Fiesta. In Asia and the remaining regions, orders received of € 98.5 million for 2008 were almost 

the same as the prior year’s € 98.7 million.

        kuk a group s ales r e venues by div ision

(in € millions)

Robotics

2007

2008

412.9

474.4

Systems

2007

2008

900.0

837.5

kuka Robotics: general industry 

business up 24.4 percent.

Robot application for 

gluing and sealing the 

hatchback of a car.
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Of the total orders received by the kuka Group, 63.8 percent were attributable to automotive industry 

business partners. Automotive suppliers accounted for 9.3 percent and general industry business part-

ners contributed 26.9 percent to orders received. 

high order backlog secures business ac tivit y

The kuka Group’s order backlog was up 2.6 percent, from € 528.8 million on December 31, 2007 to 

€ 542.3 million on December 31, 2008. The company’s current level of activity is thus notionally secured 

for 5.1 months of the current fiscal year. kuka Robotics’ sales revenues were significantly higher, but 

as a result, order backlog declined 3.6 percent to € 100.2 million. Activity is thus notionally secured for 

2.5 months. In contrast, kuka Systems’ order backlog was up 3.6 percent to € 450.3 million as of Decem-

ber 31, notionally securing business activity for 6.5 months.

adjusted sales re venues higher than l a st ye ar

kuka Group sales revenues for the financial year just ended came in at € 1,266.1 million, down 1.6 per-

cent from last year’s € 1,286.4 million. However, adjusted for non-operative effects at ktpo and the 

changed € / usd exchange rate impact on sales revenues (€ 18.8 million), Group-level sales revenues 

were actually 3.6 percent higher than the year prior.

The Robotics division’s sales revenues rose even faster in 2008, soaring 14.9 percent to € 474.4 million 

at the end of 2008 from € 412.9 million in 2007. The Systems division’s sales revenues for the 2008 

financial year were € 837.5 million, down 6.9 percent from € 900.0 million in 2007. However, adjusted 

for non-operative effects at ktpo and the changed € / usd exchange rate impact on sales revenues 

(€ 16.8 million), Group-level sales revenues were close to last year’s level.

        s ales r e venues by r egion
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earnings

summ ary

The kuka Group’s capacity utilization was excellent during the 2008 financial year. Adjusted for non-

operative effects, orders received were at about the same level as last year and sales revenues were up 

3.6 percent from a year earlier. But the Group’s operating result (ebit) was down from € 70.4 million 

in 2007 to € 52.0 million, because of a one-time charge related to the cancellation of a major systems 

order from a North American automotive supplier. Excluding this one-time charge of € 20.8 million, the 

operating result (ebit) would have been € 72.8 million, and therefore higher than last year. The adjusted 

ebit margin was 5.7 percent, which compares to last year’s 5.5 percent. The 5.5 percent earnings target 

for the current financial year would therefore have been exceeded. Overall, the kuka Group’s earnings 

for the 2008 financial year, including the one-time charge, were satisfactory.

        f ive -y e ar summ ar y of e ar nings
2004* 2005* 2006* 2007 2008

Operating result (ebit) € millions 77.7 – 53.4 16.7 70.4 52.0

% of sales revenues 7.0 – 5.1 1.4 5.5 4.1

* Prior year’s numbers adjusted for comparison purposes.

kuk a group gross m argin again higher

Gross margin on sales increased while sales revenues declined slightly, going from € 258.2 million in 

2007 to € 260.8 million in 2008. The kuka Group’s gross margin rose accordingly and went from 20.1 per-

cent in 2007 to 20.6 percent in 2008. This is the result of higher sales revenues and a better product mix 

at kuka Robotics, as well as improved profitability at kuka Systems, despite the one-time charge for 

the cancellation of a large systems order from a North American automotive supplier.

Operating costs went in the opposite direction, i. e., sales and administration costs plus r&d costs plus 

other operating income and expenses. In 2008, they rose 21.0 million to € 208.8 million, from € 187.8 mil-

lion in 2007. The increase was primarily due to the expansion of the sales force as per the overall strat-

egy, and missing one-time earnings from the sale of properties, which had contributed € 7 million last 

year to the general administration costs. kuka Group’s operating result (ebit) fell accordingly and went 

from € 70.4 million in 2007 to € 52.0 million in 2008.

Earnings situation including 

one-time charge satisfactory.
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substantial profit improvement at kuk a robotic s

From a divisional perspective, kuka Robotics’ operating result (ebit) rose from € 33.6 million in 2007 

to € 42.0 million in 2008. This was due to higher sales, particularly in the general industry and service 

areas, as well as better capacity utilization. ebit margin improved during the same period from 8.1 per-

cent in 2007 to 8.9 percent in 2008. In contrast, kuka Systems’ operating result (ebit) dropped from 

€ 37.2 million in 2007 to € 26.8 million in 2008 because of a one-time charge of € 20.8 million result-

ing from the cancellation of a major systems order from a North American automotive supplier. ebit 

margin followed during the same time frame and fell from 4.1 percent to 3.2 percent.

        group income s tatement – summ ar y

(in € millions)

2007 2008

Sales revenues 1,286.4 1,266.1

Operating result (ebit) 70.4 52.0

Financial result – 8.0 – 5.0

Taxes on income – 13.6 – 16.4

Profit from discontinued operations 69.1 0.0

Net income for the year 117.9 30.6

The kuka Group’s financial result went from € – 8.0 million in 2007 to € – 5.0 million during the finan-

cial year just ended. This improvement is due especially to the interest earnings of € 6.2 million result-

ing from the redemption of the financing for the ktpo pay-on-production contract (finance lease) in 

the United States, which was recognized for the first time. In contrast, interest expense moved in the 

opposite direction, and was higher compared to last year because of outside financing. Earnings before 

taxes were thus € 47.0 million compared to € 62.5 million the year prior. Taxes on income in 2008 were 

€ 16.4 million, up from € 13.6 million in 2007. The tax rate for the financial year just ended was there-

fore 34.9 percent, compared to 21.8 percent a year earlier. The main reasons for the higher taxes were 

the missing positive extraordinary items from the prior year and the impact of corporate tax reform in 

Germany, which became effective January 1, 2008. 

Net income for the year 2008 came in at € 30.6 million, while last year € 117.9 million were reported, 

mainly because of the sale of the Packaging division (earnings from discontinued operations were 

€ 69.1 million). Earnings per share in 2008 were thus € 1.18 per share, compared to € 4.43 a year ear-

lier, of which continuing operations’ share was € 1.83.

ebit margin up 8.9 percent at 

kuka Robotics.
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financial position

financial m anagement goal s and principles

The financing needs of the Group’s companies are largely bundled and managed centrally by kuka ag’s 

financial management department. This is where Group-wide credit, liquidity, interest and exchange 

risks are evaluated and to a large extent secured. Risk hedging is done exclusively on a transaction by 

transaction basis by actively using standard derivatives. kuka has issued a standard set of guidelines 

to all Group companies for managing financial risks.

group financing and working c apital m anagement

The aim of the Group financing policy is to secure sufficient liquid reserves at all times to satisfy the 

operating and strategic financial needs of the Group’s companies. Activities to secure working capital 

occur on the basis of a multiyear financial budget and a rolling monthly liquidity plan, each of which 

includes all consolidated Group companies.

In general, the impact of the financial crisis on the real economy has made access to money and the cap-

ital markets more difficult. There is a risk that refinancing costs could increase if the turbulence in the 

international financial markets continues. Given these conditions, the kuka Group has taken appropriate 

precautions regarding liquidity, increasing the frequency and depth of the liquidity planning activities and 

regularly analyzing various scenarios and simulations regarding the liquidity and financing situation.

The business operating activities of the Group’s companies and the associated revenue streams repre-

sent the Group’s most important source of liquidity. Cash management systems are used to employ the 

excess cash generated by individual Group companies to cover the financial needs of others. The central-

ized revenue sharing within the Group reduces the amount of third-party financing required for individ-

ual companies, which has a positive impact on the interest result. Coverage of kuka Group’s financial 

needs is primarily secured through lines of credit from banks, as well as the issue of the convertible 

bond. 

As of December 31, 2008, the kuka Group had confirmed cash and guaranteed credit lines and an abs 

program from national and international banks and credit insurance companies in the amount of 

€ 380.0 million as sources of working capital. This total is comprised of € 190.0 million in working cap

ital guarantees and € 115.0 million in cash credit lines, which are available via a syndicated loan agree-

ment with a term extending to December 2010. In addition, working capital guarantees of € 50.0 mil-

lion are available from credit insurance companies and an abs program launched in December 2006 

(regular sale of receivables) totaling up to € 25.0 million (actual amount required as of December 31, 

2008 was € 15.7 million). The financing is complemented by the placement of a convertible bond of 

€ 69.0 million secured on May 2006. 

Adequate cash flow precautions.

Jigless bodyshop with 

cooperating robots.
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        group c a sh flow summ ar y

(in € millions)

2007 2008

Cash earnings 81.2 69.4

Cash flow from operating activities 62.3 – 61.2

Cash flow from investing activities 161.3 – 105.7

Free cash flow 223.6 – 166.9

Above all, the kuka Group’s cash flow statement shows the higher outflow of cash. The prior year’s 

comparable numbers were particularly strong because of the cash injection resulting from the sale 

of the Packaging division and real estate holdings totaling € 193.4 million.

Cash earnings, which consist primarily of net earnings and depreciation of property plant and equipment 

and intangible assets, came in at € 69.4 million in 2008, compared to € 81.2 million the year prior. This 

led to a negative cash flow from operating activities of € 61.2 million for 2008 versus € + 62.3 million 

the year before. This includes the increase in receivables due to orders in the amount of € 80.3 million 

and the reduction in provisions amounting to € 47.9 million, particularly due to the payment of taxes. 

In addition, liquid assets were used to redeem the financing for the ktpo pay-on-production contract 

in the amount of € 77.1 million in the United States. This led to a receivable from finance leasing. At 

the same time, 2008 capital spending on property plant and equipment and intangible assets totaled 

€ 32.5 million. The negative cash flow from investing activities was therefore € 105.7 million. The kuka 

Group’s cash flow from investing activities plus operating activities resulted in a negative free cash 

flow of € 166.9 million, which compares to last year’s € + 223.6 million. Cash flow from financing activ-

ities was impacted by the share buyback initiative in the amount of € 27.9 million and payment of the 

dividend totaling € 26.1 million. In contrast, liabilities due to banks increased by € 35.3 million and 

led to a negative cash flow from financing activities of € 18.7 million, which compares to last year’s 

€ – 71.2 million. In total, the kuka Group’s liquidity declined by € 181.9 million, going from € 223.2 mil-

lion on January 1, 2008 to € 41.3 million as of December 31, 2008.

kuka Systems’ assembly 

line expertise extends to 

every imaginable type of 

car body.

Free cash flow declines because 

of higher expenditures and 

receivables.



Financial position
4 3g r o u p  m a n a g e m e n t  r e p o r to v e r v i e w f i n a n c i a l  s t a t e m e n t s d i v i s i o n s

c apital spending by division

The kuka Group had capital expenditures of € 32.5 million over the course of the 2008 financial year. This 

represents an increase of 23.1 percent over last year’s € 26.4 million. Spending on property plant and 

equipment totaled € 18.9 million during the reporting period, which compares to last year’s € 12.1 mil-

lion. Most of this went toward factory and office equipment (€ 8.6 million), assets under construction 

and down payments (€ 4.3 million), technical systems and machinery (€ 3.2 million) and property and 

buildings (€ 2.8 million). Capital spending on intangible assets in 2008 came in at € 13.6 million ver-

sus € 14.3 million the year prior and went mainly toward internally developed software and other devel-

opment costs.

        c apital spending by div ision

(in %)

57� (61) Robotics

38� (26) Systems

  5� (13) kuka ag / Other

Prior year numbers in brackets

Capital spending for the 2008 financial year by the two divisions was as follows: Robotics, € 18.4 million 

versus € 16.1 million in 2007 and Systems, € 12.2 million versus € 6.9 million the year prior. The increase 

in the Systems division was due to the construction of a new manufacturing hall in Slovakia and the pur-

chase of some machining centers. Capital spending by kuka ag / Other during the financial year totaled 

€ 1.9 million, compared to last year’s € 3.4 million.

Majority of capital spending 

by Robotics division.
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net worth

Net liquidity / debt, i. e., liquid assets minus current and non-current financial liabilities, went from 

€ 163.6 million at the end of 2007 to € – 53.6 million at the end of 2008. This is reflected in the drop in 

liquid assets from € 223.2 million to € 41.3 million and the increase in current financial liabilities on 

the liability side by € 33.1 million to € 33.6 million. The reasons were the redemption of the financing for 

the ktpo pay-on-production contract in the United States totaling € 77.1 million, the share buyback 

program amounting to € 27.9 million, the € 26.1 million dividend distribution, and taxes including inter-

est of € 30.3 million. At the same time, working capital increased because of the high level of work in 

progress at year end. This led to an increase in receivables from long-term manufacturing orders of 

€ 74.1 million. On December 31, 2008 they totaled € 167.1 million, while liabilities due to long-term 

manufacturing orders declined by € 17.8 million. 

        group a sse t s and financial s truc tur e

(in %)

assets liabilities

34.4� (24.4) Non-current assets 
24.7� (26.3) Equity

18.0� (16.8) Non-current liabilities

65.6� (75.6) Current assets 
57.3� (56.9) Current liabilities

Prior year numbers in brackets

On the liability side, other provisions declined by € 18.8 million, because of reduced project risks and 

other factors. Equity as of the 2008 period end declined by € 20.0 million compared to last year, to 

€ 213.5 million, mainly because of the share buybacks. The dividend payment and the allocation of the 

net income for the year nearly balanced each other. Overall, the equity ratio, i. e., equity compared 

to total assets, declined from 26.3 percent in 2007 to 24.7 percent in 2008. With an equity ratio of 

25 percent and low net debt as of the period end on December 31, 2008, the kuka Group continues 

to have a solid balance sheet.

Balance sheet remains solid.
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satisfac tory re turn on c apital employed

One of the kuka Group’s key indicators is return on capital employed, or roce. Average capital employed 

during the year rose from € 169.4 million in 2007 to € 242.3 million in 2008. This € 72.9 million increase 

was mainly due to the redemption of the financing for the ktpo pay-on-production contract and the 

project-related increase of long-term manufacturing orders in the Systems division. The higher level of 

capital employed and a lower operating result (ebit) led to an overall decline in roce. It went from 

41.6 percent in 2007 to 21.5 percent in 2008. The kuka Group’s return on capital employed (before 

taxes) for 2008 remains therefore at a satisfactory level.

The return on capital employed trend was different in the two divisions. The substantial increase in 

operating result (ebit) at kuka Robotics (25.0 percent) was more than enough to offset the 16.3 percent 

rise in capital employed. This caused the Robotics division’s return on capital employed to increase 

again, from 34.6 percent in 2007 to 37.2 percent in 2008. The Systems division’s roce returned to a more 

normal level of 20.2 percent in 2008 from 51.0 percent in 2007 because of the aforementioned factors.

kuka ag does not have an official rating.

supplementary report

After the close of the 2008 financial year, a change was made at the management level of kuka Roboter 

GmbH. The ceo of kuka Roboter GmbH, who was also part of kuka ag’s management team, was released 

from his duties and a provisional replacement was named. We do not expect any impact on the asset, 

financial or earnings situation as a result of this change.

In addition, us carmakers General Motors and Chrysler applied for further government aid on Febru-

ary 17, 2009 so that they would remain solvent. Should Chrysler and / or General Motors or Ford become 

bankrupt, it is possible that this could impact the assets, financial position and earnings of the Group to 

the extent that the value of receivables would need to be adjusted.

Return on capital employed 

satisfactory.





dr. johannes kurth, head of research and predevelopment, kuka robotics

“ Our ‘omniRob’ concept study is  

exemplary for the development and 

testing of new technologies for the  

mobile robots of tomorrow. We are  

gaining valuable experience regard

ing possible applications, such as  

autonomous navigation, safety tech

nologies and vision-guided gripping.”



“The next wave of productivity improve-

ment will require the automation of 

logistics processes. Mobile robots will 

be one of the key technologies in this 

area. Service robots will thus also be 

used in manufacturing.”

service robots: a growth market 

(Number of units used worldwide)

35,6582007

1.1 Mio.2011

Forecast

Source: World Robotics 2008
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research and development

Research and development at the kuka Group is strategically important to safeguarding its technology 

leadership position. The department works according to the following principles:

	 �develop application-oriented products and solutions for customers, which are distinguished by lead-

ing customer benefits and efficiency

	� continuously increase the scalability and modularity of the solutions using innovative control methods

	� continuously improve functionality while at the same time cutting costs

	� minimize the time-to-market between concept and finished product

kuka’s research and development engineers work in close proximity to the application and support teams 

and the Augsburg factory. This ensures that customer focus is maximized. The time-to-market, i. e., the 

time between the idea and a product that is ready to market, has been continually reduced over the past 

number of years. At the same time, the performance of the research and development unit was better 

in 2008 than during the same period a year earlier because of the steps taken to improve efficiency.

integr ated rese arch at the kuk a innovation center

As part of the integrated business model, the Robotics and Systems divisions work jointly at the kuka 

Innovation Center. The combined core competencies of robot technology and plant engineering give 

kuka an optimum basis for developing innovative automation solutions for manufacturing processes. 

The teamwork creates numerous synergies that are reflected in time and cost savings. In 2008, impor-

tant progress was made on fine tuning the interaction between robotic motion control and the control 

system for the manufacturing process being considered. For example, while gluing assembly pieces 

previously required an independent gluing control algorithm in order to align the glue output with the 

robot speed, new kuka technology now makes it possible to precisely synchronize the two control 

systems. Newly developed engineering tools make it possible to easily program robot movement and 

the gluing process using graphics and assembly modules depicted by 3-d cad-files. These technologies 

offer our customers significant quality and cost advantages. kuka has been able to reduce the program-

ming time by a factor of ten.

The engineers at the Innovation Center have also managed to transfer advanced methods for trajectory 

planning in a modern robot controller, which are based on enhanced mathematical models, to the laser 

process and increase the offset speed even more. kuka RoboScan enables faster offset movements when 

laser welding without using expensive hardware.

Another joint development of the two divisions at the Innovation Center is called High Output and Qual-

ity (hoq) Hemming. In order to fold car body components, for example, for vehicle doors or hatchbacks, 

the industry is turning to robots more and more frequently. They run a roller along the metal and bend 

it in the process. Last year, the control system for the driven folding roller was improved considerably 

Research and development 

performance improves.

Car body production – 

handled by robots.
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at the Innovation Center. The folding roller is now tightly synchronized with the robot movement when 

it runs along the metal. This reduces manufacturing time by about 50 percent, while at the same time 

improving product quality.

        r &d e xpenditur es by div ision

(in %)

91� (92) Robotics

  9� (8) Systems

Prior year numbers in brackets

r&d spending again higher

Last year, kuka spent € 33.7 million for research and development (r&d), which represents 2.7 percent 

of sales revenue during the reporting period. In 2007, r&d spending totaled € 30.8 million, or 2.4 per-

cent of sales revenues. The capitalization ratio, i. e., the share of r&d costs capitalized as in-house devel-

oped software or product development costs rose to 22.0 percent in 2008, from 17.2 percent the year 

prior. This was because of the increased expenses related to developing new robot control software.

In 2008, 90.6 percent of r&d expenditures were attributable to Robotics. The division spent € 31.0 mil-

lion, up from € 28.3 million in 2007, equivalent to 6.5 percent and 6.9 percent of sales revenues respec-

tively. The Systems division’s spending on research and development is always significantly lower. This 

is because the division does the majority of its development work to satisfy the needs of customer orders; 

as a result, Systems invested only € 3.2 million in research and development last year. In 2007 it spent 

€ 2.5 million. About 70 percent of the money budgeted for the general r&d budget goes toward devel-

oping new products and applications and 30 percent to fundamental technology research.

r&d is mainly financed from cash flow. In addition, the division participates in pre-competition govern-

ment r&d projects, which are supported by public funding, and cooperates with research centers, uni-

versities, colleges and other companies on eu, Federal Ministry of Education and Research and Bavar-

ian research foundation projects.

Over 90 percent of r&d expendi

tures attributable to kuka 

Robotics.
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robotic s division

Last year, kuka Robotics had 249 employees, or eleven percent of its total workforce, in research and 

development. The year before, there were 235 employees. Most of the company’s r&d employees have 

a university degree. About 50 percent of the employees are involved in software development and elec-

tronics, 30 percent in mechanics and mechatronics and about 20 percent are specialists who are tempo-

rary workers for kuka hired through an employment agency. kuka has a lean organization. Its r&d is 

conducted flexibly and cost effectively by working with a network of experts in the various specialty 

departments. In 2008, about 20 percent of the r&d was done by third parties. 

The performance of kuka Robotics’ r&d department has continually improved over the past few years. 

In 2008, the number of published patents, patent applications and design rights soared by nearly 50 per-

cent. The increasing number of published patents per year reflects the expertise and efficiency of kuka 

Robotics’ research and development activities.

ne w projec t s

In addition to developing the 3-d cad-file-based engineering tools that can be used to consistently pro-

gram a process and robotic motion on a graphical basis, the r&d team also enhanced the software tools 

for simplified robot operation. With little effort, kuka customers can generate these user interfaces 

themselves, making their robots considerably easier to operate. kuka’s products thus satisfy a key 

requirement of general industry customers: This sector needs simple graphic operating interfaces when 

it comes to automating their production processes. They must be intuitive and simple enough for any 

person to use.

One of kuka’s engineering tools, eXtendedMotion, synchronizes robot motion and supplementary axes in 

a unique manner. It constitutes the programming basis for such things as High Output and Quality (hoq) 

Hemming, as well as the key “Industrial 3-d seaming” process, which is important for the automation 

of cfrp-based (composite materials) in aircraft assemblies manufacturing. This seaming-robotic process 

was also completed together with a partner in 2008 and is already being used in industrial applications.

In the area of robotic application modules, kuka’s research and development engineers worked on 

groundbreaking new developments for medical technology last year. A robotic system for diagnostic 

applications is only one of the products that was brought to the stage of market readiness. The system, 

which has a positioning accuracy in the millimeter range, enables patients to be precisely positioned 

for x-ray examinations and relieves them of the need to undergo a conventional cat scan, which many 

consider to be stressful. The system developed by kuka uses a robot to conduct an x-ray scan by encir-

cling the patient.

hoq hemming – robot-

based flanging with short 

cycle times.

New robot system for diagnos-

tic applications in healthcare.
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four th dimension for the enter tainment industry

kuka’s entertainment industry Robocoaster technology was enhanced and has now become a simulator. 

A visualization module, a computer display hood and the large range of motion of the robot enable rid-

ers to experience true-to-life motion and sensations, similar to being in a film. A blower creates head-

wind and introduces the fourth dimension to the simulator experience: skin sensations. Riders thus 

have an intense emotional experience. Last year, the entertainment industry showed great interest in 

the trade show demonstrations. Another development expands the standard Robocoaster to four per-

sons, albeit with a reduced range of motion.

robot innovations at autom atic a

At Europe’s leading trade show automatica, held from June 10 – 13, 2008 in Munich, kuka Robotics 

presented three new developments aimed primarily at the fast-growing service robotics market: 

	 �a particularly easy-to-program and operate stationary lightweight robot for use in smaller operations 

as a workman’s third hand, which can in future be applied at manual workstations

	 �a self-navigating, remote-controlled mobile lightweight robot (omniRob), which can be used by itself 

or together with humans in workshops or industrial plants to transport products (see fold-outs above)

	 �new research results and solutions to make human-robot interaction safer

The omniMove platform was again enhanced in 2008. This platform can be used to handle up to 60 tons 

in a very small space, with a range of motion covering all spatial axes. The product has already con-

tributed significantly to kuka Robotics’ aircraft industry sales. A smaller version of the omniMove plat-

form can be used in combination with a kuka lighweight robot. This omniRob system, which features 

graphics-based programming, can be used for gripping applications, as well as get and fetch services and 

will be field tested in 2009.

kuk a le ads centr alized cooper ative r &d

In addition to the new development and enhancement done by the central r&d department and in con-

junction with customer orders, kuka has for years worked jointly on community projects with universi-

ties specializing in robotics, as well as with other institutions in Europe and North America. The company 

works in close alliance with the German Aerospace Center (dlr), the Fraunhofer Institute for Manufac-

turing Technology and Automation (ipa) in Stuttgart, the Fraunhofer Institute for Factory Operations 

and Automation (iff) in Magdeburg, as well as the universities in Augsburg, Munich, Stuttgart and 

Karlsruhe, the University of Naples and the Georgia Institute of Technology in the United States. 

Mobile lightweight robot 

unveiled.
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Among others, the company intensified the alliance with rwth Aachen. Research is now being done in 

several areas of new medical robotic technology applications under the terms of a cooperation agree-

ment between kuka Roboter GmbH, rwth Aachen and the Aachen university clinic. One of these areas 

is the rehabilitation of patients using “mechatronic physiotherapy robots”, which thanks to its extremely 

flexible load carrying capability can optimally support humans when they do their therapeutic exercises. 

Another goal is to improve x-ray therapy focusing with the help of robots. These forms of cooperation 

are an important building block in kuka’s efforts to transfer knowledge between the business and sci-

entific communities.

Cooperation with the German Aerospace Center (dlr) was also expanded in 2008. kuka Robotics and 

dlr intend to expand their successful cooperation through an intensive knowledge transfer in various 

areas, such as sensors and mobility. The intent is to transfer the expertise during biannual workshops, 

as well as ensure that dlr employees give insight into the research work to kuka by temporarily exchang-

ing researchers. 

In Europe, kuka has been coordinating the eu’s central research project care (Coordination Action for 

Robotics in Europe) since last year. The aim of the project is to produce a strategic roadmap for the eu’s 

research and development work in the robotics sector. By bundling the expertise of the European robot 

industry, robot research, and private and institutional investors in care, European companies should 

be able to penetrate new application areas around the world on the basis of Europe’s robotics expertise. 

Under kuka’s guidance, an action plan to define new private and industrial robot service applications 

related to security services and space activities was developed last year.

In 2008, Europe’s industrial robotics, professional and domestic service robotics, as well as security and 

space robotics companies founded the eu technology platform european robotics platform (europ). 

europ’s task is to define and promote robotics technology as an innovation driver for European industry. 

kuka Robotics is in charge of europ.

        kuk a group r &d e xpenses

(in € millions)

40

35

30

25

20

15

10

5

0
07 08

33.7
30.8

kuka coordinating key eu 

research project.



Research and development
5 3g r o u p  m a n a g e m e n t  r e p o r to v e r v i e w f i n a n c i a l  s t a t e m e n t s d i v i s i o n s

systems division

The Systems division has focused its r&d employees primarily on enhancing automotive manufacturing 

technologies. Robospin was developed for resistance spot welding, the most widely used joining tech-

nology for car body assembly. The control algorithm moves the robot in the direction of the next weld 

during the welding process, which makes the process faster, more accurate and cheaper. The electrode 

caps, which last longer when this method is applied, are fully automatically replaced by another new 

kuka product, the kuka Tipchanger.

kuka has developed a new framing station, kuka Framing, for use in body-in-white assembly lines. The 

system is used to make a complete car body by joining together a vehicle’s sides, roof and floor. Due to 

the different fixtures, which can be stored in two rotating drums each with four storage locations, the 

system is capable of producing up to six different cars.

digital fac tory enhanced

The Digital Factory’s virtual systems for product and manufacturing equipment life cycles were enhanced. 

kuka Systems’ Digital Factory is a series of networked digital processes and models, which the com-

pany uses extensively to optimize cost and time factors when developing production lines. While engi-

neering tools such as cad design and robot simulation have been available for specialized tasks for quite 

some time, exchanging information between these tools is still for the most part a manual task. kuka 

has developed an integration platform called “Info-Bus”, which enables users to develop digital systems 

models in addition to utilizing the individual tools. For example, a higher order system is used to man-

age weld points, which enables engineers to employ a simulation process to simultaneously query or 

store the point that is to be welded by a particular robot.

kuka Systems has three development centers for the aircraft industry; one in Great Britain, one in North 

America and one in Germany. One of the developments in 2008 was a “Multi Functional End Effector” 

tool (mfee). The new tool is moved to the desired position by the robot, where it can be used to inde-

pendently drill, measure and rivet thanks to separate on-board drives. This tool was specially devel-

oped for complex aircraft parts and can handle various materials such as aluminum, titanium and car-

bon fiber. The product includes a contactless control system to measure hole quality.

Last year, special tools for various stages of the solar module manufacturing process were introduced 

for the solar industry. kuka robo trim is a trimming tool that enables robots to automatically cut 

laminated modules. Tape heads are used to apply double-sided tape to solar modules. kuka robo tape 

tools can be used for a number of tasks, including electrically insulating thin-film solar modules and 

applying edge protection on the module casing and diffusion barriers at the edges of the solar modules. 

Aluminum frames are automatically applied to the solar modules at encapsulating stations. kuka’s 

patented robo frame system was developed for this purpose. Three robots at cross connection stations 

automatically apply cross connectors to form individual stringers. This is one of the first fully auto-

matic solutions for this complex manufacturing step.

New tool for machining carbon 

fiber and other materials.

Patented kuka Systems 

tool robo frame.
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procurement and manufacturing

The purchasing department’s main job is to provide the kuka Group with goods and services. These are 

sourced internationally by the business unit, and its key objectives are to ensure top quality, on-time 

delivery and effective costing. These goals are achieved by working in partnership with core suppliers. 

Performance targets are mutually coordinated and, if necessary, the partners agree on improvement 

plans.

commodit y prices e xceed pre vious highs

In 2008, as in 2007, escalating prices were a challenge for the purchasing department. The strong 

demand for commodities and heavy utilization of suppliers’ factories caused prices to rise further dur-

ing the first half year. This market situation changed fundamentally in the second half year as a result 

of the worldwide economic downturn and the international financial market crisis. The seller’s market 

turned into a buyer’s market in the fourth quarter. Prices for commodities, particularly oil, have since 

declined sharply and could contribute to further cost savings in 2009. As part of its international sourc-

ing strategy, kuka has signed agreements with suppliers in Eastern Europe, India and China, which 

will be used extensively.

kuk a group purcha sing centr alized

Since January 1, 2009, the Group’s central purchasing department has been in charge of all purchasing. 

Indirect materials will now be procured centrally by kuka ag. In 2008, the greater volumes created by 

bundling led to improved terms and conditions and lower costs for licensing and travel management, as 

well as personnel services. Direct material will continue to be purchased by the Robotics and Systems 

divisions themselves because of the different procurement practices and detailed product specifications.

it- supp or ted procurement processes

The Robotics division is preparing to roll out a comprehensive Supplier Relationship Management tool. 

This will include the establishment of a web-based procurement catalog, and inventory guided by sup-

pliers and implementation of electronic requests for quote and auctions. The goal is to reduce process-

ing and procurement costs and improve flexibility and supply accuracy for purchase transactions.

The Systems division is preparing to introduce a web-based data exchange portal that will be used to 

automatically process the exchange of all design and procurement related data between kuka and 

suppliers. The new data exchange portal will go live in June 2009. When started up, this system will 

generate significant time and personnel cost savings.

kuka Systems also held a Supplier Event Day on November 13, 2008 in Schwarzenberg / Erzgebirge. 40 

national and international suppliers from the plant engineering and construction, press tool and gen-

eral industry (systems integrators) segments won prizes for their outstanding performance. In addition, 

eight received a supplier award.

kuka Group’s central depart-

ment in charge of all purchas-

ing activities.
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five step s to a finished robot

kuka Robotics manufactures its products in accordance with the kuka Production System. Produc-

tivity and cycle time, as well as the quality of the products manufactured, can be successfully and 

verifiably controlled and continuously improved using this very efficient process. The maximum aver-

age three-shift capacity of the 9,000 square-meter manufacturing floor in Augsburg is 15,000 indus-

trial robots. 60 to 100 tonnes of raw materials such as steel and aluminum are processed per day in the 

factories. 

rotating work station system

The production workers alternate between two and three-shift operations for up to six days per week. 

They work on a rotating basis, i.e., the workers regularly switch workstations. This adds diversity to 

their jobs. The manufacturing staff are at the same time consistently encouraged to provide improve-

ment suggestions, so that the manufacturing process can be continuously improved. This policy also 

gives the company more flexibility in using its skilled workers.

Robots are manufactured in five steps: mechanical assembly, painting, electrical assembly, testing / accept-

ance and finishing / shipment. The cycle time from printing the manufacturing order to delivery to the 

sales warehouse has been reduced by more than 15 days in the past six years. The quality management 

processes that have enabled the cycle times to be shortened are industry-leading.

fully autom ated qualit y control

Management of the process is fully automated. Every component has a barcode that enables it to be 

identified and correctly assigned at all times. All processes are monitored and documented on an ongo-

ing basis. There is no need for additional quality assurance personnel. At the end of each process step, 

everything is checked to ensure that it is in its assigned location. Transfer to the next process stage 

does not take place until this has been confirmed. This process is called “Inprocess Control”.

multiple awards

On November 17, 2008, kuka Robotics won the prestigious “Manufacturing Excellence Award 2008”. 

Over the past number of years, it has become one of the most coveted process industry prizes in Ger-

many. In addition to the top prize, kuka also won first prize in the product innovation category after 

a multistage selection process. According to the jury, kuka set new customer orientation and prod-

uct innovation benchmarks in comparison to its competitors due to its outstanding performance in deal-

ing with customers, processes and products. kuka is the first company to receive two prizes in the 

history of the mx Award.

The Nordrhein-Westfalen design center has nominated outstanding product designs for the “red dot 

design award” since 1995 and has thereby created an internationally recognized quality seal. kuka had 

already received awards for its kr 150 k, kr 180 k and kr 210 k robots in 2002. In April 2008, its kr 16 

and kr 1000 Titan were added after being chosen from among more than 3,000 competing products. 

Lead times cut by over 15 days.

Manufacturing Excellence 

Award 2008.
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kuka’s kr 16 robot received the “red dot design award” for its versatility and flexibility. The kr Titan, 

which has a payload of 1,000 kg, is the most powerful robot in operation worldwide. In spite of this, it 

has a notably slim, powerful profile. 

kuk a systems simultaneously m anaging 50  construc tion sites

In 2008, kuka Systems focused above all on streamlining the logistics processes between the various 

factories and construction sites. On average, the project teams were working simultaneously on 50 

construction sites throughout the world. The logistics associated with these orders are considerable. 

For example, the increasing demand for refurbishment of old systems demanded more transportation 

and warehouse movements. The increasing cooperation between the Systems and Robotics divisions 

should reduce the logistics effort over the course of current fiscal year.

employees

Highly qualified and committed skilled workers and managers are a key success factor for a robot-based 

automation technology leader. kuka can only maintain and expand its quality and application orien-

tation advantage over competitors if our employees remain highly motivated and committed to solving 

problems and developing new ideas for our customers and for kuka’s success. kuka employees have 

creative minds and are capable of responding flexibly and skillfully to a wide variety of customer needs 

throughout the entire world. Moreover, they think entrepreneurially and conscientiously. kuka jobs 

around the world demand a high degree of independence and an entrepreneurial spirit. 

hum an resources progr a ms of ke y str ategic imp or tance

For kuka’s Human Resources Department, this means that personnel planning and development is of 

increasing strategic importance. Timely steps must be taken to contend with the pending shortage of 

skilled workers in Germany and the increasing average age of the workforce. Forward-looking person-

nel planning is now one of the most important variables that must be managed to secure the compa-

ny’s future. kuka’s hr Department therefore developed several programs and extended others in 2008 

to enable it to find suitable employees early, systematically coach younger employees to master their 

assignments, develop managers from within the ranks and ensure that the generational shift in the 

company is handled in the best interests of all parties. 

further information 

www.kuka.jobs

Forward-looking personnel 

planning safeguards the 

company’s future.
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As of December 31, 2008, the kuka Group had 6,171 employees, 439 or 7.7 percent more than the prior 

year’s 5,732. The Robotics division added 238 employees to support its business growth, primarily in 

r&d and in sales and manufacturing (Hungary). Some were contract workers. As of December 31, 2008, 

the division’s workforce totaled 2,261 persons, up 11.8 percent from the prior year’s key date. The Sys-

tems division added 199 persons, primarily in China and in manufacturing. Overall, the division had 

3,781 employees at year end, 5.6 percent more than at the same time last year. The Group holding com-

pany and other companies had 129 employees versus 127 last year. The majority of these work at the 

Augsburg headquarters and provide services for kuka’s companies.

The makeup of the workforce remained relatively constant compared to last year. In 2008, the average 

age in the Robotics division was 38.5 years and in Systems, 40.8 years. The qualification statistics of 

the workforce is a key performance indicator for companies. kuka employees are highly qualified: 20 per-

cent have a university or college degree, 72 percent have a diploma in a accounting or technical field, 

7 percent are trainees or apprentices and 1 percent has no skills training. 90 percent of kuka employees 

therefore have a degree or diploma, or are in the process of obtaining one. In the past year, 16 appren-

tices and four university graduates successfully completed their training programs at kuka. 

In 2008, 23 employees were honored for being with the company for 40 years. 15 employees celebrated 

their 25th anniversary with the company.

        employ ees by div ision	 employ ees by r egion

(in %)	 (in %)

37� (35) Robotics 56� (57) Germany

22� (22) Other Europe

61� (63) Systems

17� (17) North America

  2� (2) kuka ag / Other   5� (4) Other Regions

Prior year numbers in brackets

Dedicated skilled workers 

and managers are the key 

to success.

Over 90 percent of kuka’s 

employees have a degree or 

diploma.
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international tr ainee progr a m

kuka has for years been offering an international trainee program for young professionals in order to 

systematically prepare tomorrow’s managers right now for the tasks that lie ahead, and bind qualified 

persons from our own ranks to the company. 

kuka’s integrated business model led it to introduce its first joint trainee program for the Robotics and 

Systems divisions in the summer of 2008. Six engineers and one accountant rotate through the various 

departments in Germany for 15 months and are then placed at one of kuka’s foreign subsidiaries for a 

further three months. A two-month exchange at each of the respective sister companies is also part 

of the trainee program. The trainee program is accompanied by numerous workshops covering various 

behavioral and management topics. The trainees’ main contact during each phase of the training is the 

human resources representative who helped develop the program and also manages it. Supported by a 

mentor who knows the company and also the later area of responsibility of the candidate, the recruits 

are trained for their future career path based on an individual development plan. The activities also help 

these young professionals establish a network.

In 2008, kuka attended 16 university job fairs to provide information on the personal growth prospects 

for new employees.

In addition to the trainees, 19 apprentices between the ages of 15 and 19 began their apprenticeships 

at kuka last year. Their career choices included industrial accounting, computers, mechatronics, tool 

and die making and industrial mechanics. kuka offers “Implacement Days” to facilitate the launch of 

the young peoples’ careers. During a two-day workshop, the apprentices have the opportunity to get to 

know one another and develop a positive sense of belonging. The apprentices work in teams for the 

first time, learn to accept responsibility, and learn that kuka expects its employees to bring their own 

ideas to the table. Most days during the average three and a half year training period are filled with 

seminars conducted by the company. In 2008, the instructional program focused on software applica-

tions, the employee suggestion program, marketing, logistics, telephone communications, recogniz-

ing opportunities, and international topics including language training. The “Fit for Fair” training course 

gives the young people an opportunity to participate in tradeshow duty when kuka attends trade fairs. 

Apprentices who performed well also had the opportunity in 2008 to visit a kuka foreign subsidiary for 

four weeks. Last year, six apprentices spent a few weeks at subsidiaries in China, Belgium and the United 

States, becoming familiar with the local business and also the culture and mentality of people at those 

locations. kuka includes these foreign placements for apprentices in its human resources management 

program, not only as a motivational incentive but also to prepare the participants for later possible duties 

at foreign locations. 

Joint trainee program.

Apprentices in Augsburg 

taking a first level metals 

course.
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targe t agreement s include continuing educ ation

The kuka Academy is a symbol of the high quality of continuing education offered by kuka. At the Augs-

burg location, external tutors enable employees to refresh their foreign language skills, acquire busi-

ness management and tax law knowledge, improve their social skills, as well as their ability to commu-

nicate and manage conflicts. If kuka employees want to participate in furthering their education by 

taking courses outside the academy, the company welcomes their initiative and financially supports 

these endeavors. After all, one of the company’s stated objectives is to foster the skills and personal 

development of each employee. Furthermore, from the company’s perspective, continuing education 

opportunities are important incentives, which are motivational and reflect our appreciation of the staff.

Last year, a total of 1,480 employees participated in continuing training courses at the kuka Academy. 

In 2007, the number was over 1,000. The number of seminar days rose from 2,320 in 2007 to 2,627 last 

year. In 2008, the seminars were aimed at social skills and personality development, in addition to tech-

nical courses in areas such as 3-d design. Twelve employees also participated in management training 

programs. An additional twelve employees successfully completed a certified project management 

course. (Please refer to the section on “Sustainable business” on page 23 for more information about 

educational opportunities at kuka).

kuka has a joint program with the University of Augsburg, which enables employees to earn an mba. 

The four-semester, 20-month mba program is called “Company management”. An eight-week assignment 

in a foreign country is mandatory. The mba awarded at the end of the program is an internationally 

recognized academic degree. The main topics covered by the mba program are economics, management 

and international skills.

kuka human resources management is based on a work-life balance concept that offers its employees 

modern working hour options tuned to their particular stage in life. Last year, the Group had 13 part-

time positions and 24 employees working out of their home offices. In 2008, 13 women were on mater-

nity leave, and 26 women and 30 men were on parental leave so that they could dedicate themselves 

to raising their small children.

employee suggestions

kuka Robotics manufactures its products in accordance with the kuka Production System. This is a 

well-known system based on Japanese processes. kuka aims to achieve continuous improvement with 

this program and focuses on the employees to provide suggestions and drive progress. All kuka employ-

ees are encouraged to submit improvement suggestions. The statistical trend in the number of improve-

ment suggestions from kuka Roboter GmbH employees is interesting: Although the number of recom-

mendations has declined, the overall benefit achieved continues to rise and in 2008 reached about 

€ 235,000. The savings per idea almost tripled between 2006 and 2008. Last year, employees were paid 

kuka Academy sees significant 

increase in enrollment.

Savings per employee 

suggestion nearly triples.
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€ 16,000 in total for their suggestions. kuka Systems reported 92 improvement suggestions from 

77 employees during the reporting period, of which 85 were acknowledged. These employees received 

material awards.

One notable recommendation came from the logistics department in Augsburg. Until recently, robots 

were loaded onto trucks side-by-side on movable tracks called linear units. These linear units can now be 

stacked on top of one another by using ordinary lumber separators. This revised loading method cuts 

transportation expenses in half and significantly cuts kuka Systems’ and kuka Robotics’ shipping costs.

thank s to all employees

kuka’s Executive Board thanks all of its employees for their performance, their strong dedication and 

their loyalty to the company in 2008. kuka’s employees, with their motivation and desire to succeed, 

are the reason for the company’s technology leadership, and are the basis for its continuing growth. In 

addition, we thank the representatives of the executive staff, the employee association representa-

tives, the liaison persons for the severely disabled and the apprentice representatives.

risk report

gener al principles

The kuka Group conducts business around the globe, which exposes the company to numerous poten-

tial risks. The goal of entrepreneurial management is to minimize risks and take advantage of oppor-

tunities, in order to systematically and continuously improve shareholder value and achieve the target 

objectives.

Risk management

kuka continuously and systematically identifies external and internal risks in all business units and 

subsidiaries and evaluates them consistently throughout the Group with respect to their potential level 

of damage and likelihood of the events occurring. The precise risks are categorized into worst, medium 

and best-case scenarios and appropriate accruals or revaluations are formed on the balance sheet. Prior 

to the quarterly reports, a steering committee analyzes the identified risks. The responsible persons 

evaluate the plausibility and define possible management alternatives. A risk summary is subsequently 

generated, which includes identification of the top ten risks and a summary of the overall risk situa-

tion. The Robotics and Systems divisions’ top ten risks, and Group risks derived from them, are updated 

monthly and are a fixed agenda item of the monthly reporting process, as well as the Executive Board, 

Supervisory Board and Audit Committee meetings.

The managers of the divisions and subsidiaries are directly responsible for the early identification, con

trol and communication of risks. Risk coordinators in the central and decentralized business units 

ensure that the reporting process is uniform and consistent with the defined reporting channels and 

that the reporting thresholds are in line with the size of the company. Companies are always obligated 

kuka offers training 

around the globe.

Top ten risks updated monthly.
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to provide internal ad hoc reports for risks that exceed certain reporting thresholds. kuka Aktienge

sellschaft’s risk management system is coordinated by a head-office administrator and is an integral 

part of the overall budgeting, control and reporting process.

The Group’s risk management system makes it possible for executive management to identify material 

risks at an early stage and take appropriate steps to counter them as well as monitor the mitigating 

measures. Regular audits of the risk management process by the internal audit department ensure 

efficiency and continuous improvement. In addition, the external auditors check that the early risk 

identification procedure integrated into the risk management system is suitable for identifying risks 

at an early stage that threaten the existence of the company.

m arke t and business r isk s

In 2008, kuka felt the impact of the international financial crisis and the plummeting worldwide auto-

motive industry sales. For example, in November an order valued at about € 23 million awarded to lsw 

Maschinenfabrik GmbH in Bremen, a 100-percent owned subsidiary of kuka Aktiengesellschaft, by getrag 

Transmission Manufacturing llc, Indiana / usa was canceled. On November 17, 2008, getrag filed for 

bankruptcy protection under the terms of Chapter 11 of the us Bankruptcy Code. This event impacted 

kuka the operating result in the amount of € 20.8 million in 2008.

In addition, the financial position of most automobile manufacturers deteriorated significantly in 

2008, particularly that of the three largest American carmakers, Ford, General Motors and Chrysler. 

This is reflected in the low credit rating assigned to these companies by various rating agencies. About 

70 percent of the kuka Group’s exposure to these three manufacturers is on the American Continent 

and about 30 percent in Europe. The exposure to these companies is mitigated using a strict process 

of expediting receivables, as well as regular exposure reporting. In addition, new orders that exceed a 

certain value are only accepted with prior approval of the Executive Board and after applying certain 

securitization measures (guarantees, down payments, etc.).

kuka is also exposed to the changing investment behavior of its regular customers in the various mar-

ket subsectors. It is further exposed to country risks, such as patent and brand protection in Asia, 

exchange rate fluctuations, financial and technical risks and the risk of substantial price increases of 

key raw materials. 

perfor m ance r isk s

kuka Robotics

The risks in the robotics markets relate primarily to the spending behavior of the customers and the 

continuing price pressure in the automotive industry. Furthermore, the even greater cost conscious-

ness of all customers around the world, particularly the automotive sector and its suppliers, is caus-

ing them to keep their robots in service longer, which in turn leads to lower spending on replacements.

kuka Robotics counters such trends by continually developing new products and applications that offer 

customers quantifiable financial advantages driven by very short paybacks. The efforts focus on oppor-



6 2

tunities to further enhance innovative applications in the medical technology and other consumer-

related areas. In fiscal 2008, the kuka Group spent € 33.7 million on research and development. The 

majority of the spending was on robotics.

A key component of the corporate strategy is to develop new markets outside the automotive industry 

by expanding the customer base into general industry. In fiscal 2008, orders from such customers 

accounted for 41.8 percent of the Robotics division’s orders received. One example of such a market is 

healthcare technology. In addition, the company continues to press ahead with efforts to expand its 

business in America and Asia. 

Exchange-rate advantages benefit kuka competitors’ business in some areas. Increased distribution of 

value added across various local currencies will make the profitability of the company less susceptible 

to exchange-rate fluctuations.

kuka Systems

A key risk for the Systems division is in the capital spending decisions of the automotive sector, which 

in turn are strongly influenced by the global business and investment climate. The effects of the interna-

tional financial market crisis on orders received, as well as our customers’ capital spending and payment 

activities, became particularly noticeable in the fourth quarter of 2008. For example, projects planned 

for 2008 were postponed to the following year. In addition, carmakers’ cost reduction programs have 

a positive impact on the business on the one hand because of greater demands for better efficiency and 

more flexible production lines. On the other hand, they impact negatively because of the reduced capi-

tal spending overall. The long duration of the project management phase and the infrequency of the 

orders received, as well as price and competitive pressures, can expose the company to sales and profit 

risks. Exposure of our American subsidiaries in particular to the risk associated with the three major us 

carmakers Ford, General Motors and Chrysler is reduced through a strict project and receivables man-

agement program. Due to the project nature of the business, there are also the additional risks of cost 

estimation errors and contractual penalties. These are continuously monitored and accrued for.

We further mitigate risk by diversifying regionally, spreading our business activities across Europe, 

North America and increasingly Asia. Asia in particular is seen as an area of further potential, since the 

automotive industry wants to participate in Asia’s economic growth and is therefore building and 

expanding local manufacturing facilities. The increasing model variety in the automotive industry has 

a positive effect on orders received, since it results in rising demand for flexible production lines. This 

enables systems integrators and suppliers to participate in new business opportunities. us carmakers 

in particular will have to spend money to further adjust their manufacturing systems in order to remain 

competitive by catering to the demand for smaller, more fuel-efficient cars.

Pay-on-production contracts such as the one entered into by kuka Toledo Productions Operations (ktpo) 

offer additional opportunities and risks. Chrysler was sold by Daimler ag in August 2007, and in 2008, 

Chrysler’s credit rating continued to deteriorate. In addition, the sale of Chrysler triggered a change 

of control clause, which led to the redemption in 2008 of the financing for kuka’s Jeep Wrangler car 

body assembly line. The Jeep Wrangler brand offers above-average business opportunities in compari-

Expansion of general industry 

customer base is strategic 

corporate goal.

Regional diversification 

mitigates risk.
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son to other American cars, in which kuka participated in 2008. There is risk associated with the 

stronger dependence on passenger car sales and manufacturing volumes in the American car market.

A thorough analysis of the aircraft and solar industries indicates that they too offer potential opportu-

nities. The first orders have already been received.

corp or ate str ategy r isk s

The goal of kuka’s two divisions is to be among the technology and market leaders in their target 

markets. Consistently enhancing their technologies through coordinated innovation programs is there-

fore of primary importance. A key task is to identify the opportunities and risks of technical innova-

tions in a timely manner and evaluate them with respect to feasibility. The company mitigates the impact 

of incorrect market assessment by conducting regular market and competitor analyses, some of which 

are decentralized. This is supported by application-oriented developments, partnerships with systems 

integrators and alliances; for example, the cooperative research being done with the German Aerospace 

Center (dlr) in Wessling near Munich, with rwth Aachen and with the university clinic in Aachen.

Using effective quality assurance systems in combination with regular certification programs helps 

convince purchasers that we offer customer-oriented products and solutions and strengthens our 

companies’ positions in their target markets. For example, kuka Roboter GmbH won the Manufactur-

ing Excellence Award 2008. Both the overall prize and the award in the product innovation category 

went to Augsburg because of the company’s outstanding performance in regard to dealing with cus-

tomers, processes and innovative products.

The corporate strategy is managed by a central kuka ag department and is regularly reviewed and coor-

dinated with the divisions. Crossover technologies and concepts are developed at the joint Innovation 

Center. Uniform procedures and processes generate synergies that help the company meet the demands 

of the market for innovative products and solutions. r&d controllers are assigned by Robotics and Sys-

tems for this purpose.

Centralized generic, administrative and support functions such as accounting and payroll strengthen 

cooperation within the Group, lead to uniform processes that meet compliance requirements, create 

synergies and therefore optimize costs. Additional functions and divisions will follow in 2009.

per sonnel r isk s

kuka relies on qualified specialists and managers to achieve its goals. In today’s very competitive 

marketplace, it is therefore a constant challenge to attract these human resources to the Group and 

ensure they identify with the company over the long term. There is an increasing demand for well 

educated and motivated employees, especially in the world’s growth markets. In Germany, there is 

also evidence of an increasing shortage of qualified personnel, particularly in the technical area. This 

requires that the company has appropriate in-house training programs and permanently stays in tune 

with the job market and job seekers. kuka works closely with local and national universities and 

research institutes, such as the University of Augsburg, rwth Aachen and the German Aerospace 

Center (dlr). The entire topic is made even more acute by the increasingly recognizable demographic 

kuka robots mill stone, 

plastic or wood.

Close cooperation with univer-

sities and research institutions.
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shift. Already now, the number of candidates and the quality of the applicants in some areas, such as 

future apprentices, is steadily declining.

Centralized and decentralized training and continuing education programs for employees at all levels 

ensure that the Group’s people have the indispensable expert skills they require. The in-house and 

international trainee program offers young recruits the opportunity to get to know various business 

areas and foreign companies. The 190 apprentices to be trained by the kuka Group by year-end will be 

quickly integrated into the company and subsequently offered a permanent position if possible.

A key task is to ensure that the kuka Group is unaffected by future demographic trends. Entrepreneurial 

thinking and management styles are also encouraged by tying variable incentives to managers’ remu-

neration packages, which are paid according to business performance. This is supported by an employee 

share program. The performance criteria for assessing variable incentives were redefined for all man-

agers of the major companies. As of fiscal 2009, these will all be the same following the Excecutive 

Board’s remuneration: one-third for ebit, one-third for capital employed and one-third for free cash flow. 

infor m ation systems r isk s

it is a strategic tool used to achieve cost-related business goals. A key requirement for cost-effectively 

and smoothly operating it systems is to standardize and integrate them to form the basis of efficient, 

end-to-end business processes. Over the course of 2008, considerable progress was made in harmoniz-

ing the accounting it systems and aligning them with the general strategic direction of the Group. 

The technical and architectural aspects of the it systems must also align with the security and avail-

ability needs of the business processes.

By regularly reviewing and optimizing the it systems in use, as well as the relevant guidelines and 

organizational structures, the company is able to minimize the risks posed by the increasing potential 

threats from external sources, as well as the growing dependence of the business processes on a 

functioning it system. An ongoing it service continuity management process prevented interference 

with business processes. it is also permanently integrated into the kuka Group’s opportunity and risk 

management process. In addition to the annual it review, external auditors conduct spot checks of 

the it departments regarding their adherence to legal requirements. Regular qualitative and quanti-

tative benchmark comparisons are also conducted with external it service providers to identify poten-

tial improvement opportunities. In addition, risks were analyzed and reduced in a number of compa-

nies during the reporting period by conducting internal audits and business continuity management 

reviews.

financial r isk s

One of kuka ag’s primary tasks is to coordinate and control the Group’s financing requirements and 

ensure that kuka remains financially independent. With this goal in mind, the kuka Group optimizes the 

Group’s financing and limits its financial risks. The standardized, group-wide treasury reporting sys-

kuka guarantees top 

product training.

Financing secured until end 

of 2010.
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tem implemented in 2007 was further enhanced for this purpose. In addition, the Group’s overall liquid-

ity risk is reduced by closely monitoring the Group’s companies and their control of payment flows.

The Group’s financing is by contract secured until the end of 2010 by a syndicated loan of € 305.0 million, 

a convertible bond with a face value of € 69.0 million issued on May 9, 2006, an abs program (regular 

sale of receivables) valued at up to € 25.0 million introduced in December 2006 and other bilateral credit 

lines with credit insurance companies and banks. Interest rates are analyzed regularly to control these 

risks and the results are an important part of our risk management system. A change in the interest rate 

of 1 percent referred to the period end would alter the kuka Group’s interest income by € 0.1 million.

Transaction-related currency exchange risks are hedged using forward foreign exchange contracts 

(primarily futures and swap transactions). Details of the central currency management process are 

provided under Financial Instruments on pages 115 to 116 of the Group notes. As a basic principle, all 

kuka Group companies must secure their foreign currency positions as soon as they arise. Translation 

risks, that is, valuation risks associated with balance sheet items whose value has been converted from 

a foreign currency are not hedged. The risk associated with the volatility of leading currencies and the 

resulting economic exchange risk (competitive risk) is mitigated by having production facilities in sev-

eral countries (natural hedging). Internal guidelines are used to control the use of derivatives. Associ-

ated risks are continuously monitored internally.

The impact of the international financial market crisis will send the global real economy into a slump, 

which could also have a negative impact on the Group’s cash flow from operating activities. In gen-

eral, the economic downturn has made access to credit and the capital markets more difficult and 

there is a risk that refinancing costs could increase if the turbulence in the international financial 

markets continues. In addition, reduced liquidity could cause the financial markets to charge higher 

interest rates on loans.

Given these conditions, kuka has taken appropriate precautions regarding liquidity, increasing the 

frequency and depth of the liquidity planning activities and regularly analyzing various scenarios and 

simulations regarding the liquidity and financing situation.

compliance r isk s

The risks associated with compliance can lead to fines, sanctions, legal directives regarding future 

business conduct, forfeiture of profits, exclusion from certain businesses, loss of union concessions or 

other restrictions. Furthermore, involvement in potential corruption proceedings could harm the 

overall reputation of the kuka Group and could have a negative impact on efforts to compete for 

business in both the public and private sectors. Such proceedings could also have a negative impact 

on the relationship the kuka Group has with business partners upon which it depends, as well as its 

ability to find new business partners. It could also have a negative impact on the company’s ability 

to pursue strategic projects and transactions that may be important for the business, e. g., joint ven-

tures or other forms of cooperation. Ongoing or future proceedings could lead to the suspension of 

Derivatives used to hedge 

exchange rate risk.
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some existing contracts and third parties, including competitors, could initiate legal proceedings against 

the kuka Group for substantial sums of money.

In order to make these risks transparent and controllable, a Corporate Compliance Program was intro-

duced in early 2008. It applies to all German and international kuka companies and all managers 

around the globe have been trained. The initiative did not uncover any substantial risks, since the 

company is actively countering any exposure by mitigating risks at an early stage and striving to elimi-

nate risk sources, e. g., by aligning its business processes.

other r isk s

The kuka Group continuously monitors other risks and mitigates these as far as possible. There is no 

evidence of environmental risks from operational activities, since the company does not use hazard-

ous materials. Where possible, legal risks are limited by using standardized general contracts. The 

Group’s legal departments support the business operations and thereby help limit risks. A Group-wide 

Directors and Officers Liability Insurance policy is in place that covers, among others, the business 

management bodies (Executive Board and managers) and supervisory bodies (Supervisory, administra-

tive and advisory boards) of the German and foreign Group subsidiaries. Existing insurance policies are 

reviewed annually in order to weigh the relationship between the insurance protection and deduct-

ible amount versus the risk premium. The Executive Board subsequently makes the final decision. 

The shareholder structure is regularly analyzed to assess a possible takeover of the company. Because 

it has operations around the world, the kuka Group is required to observe numerous international and 

country-specific regulations, mostly related to the laws of the particular country, as well as financial 

administration rules. There is a risk that countries could implement duties should the company fail to 

properly observe laws and other regulations. Tax audits in particular could have a negative impact on 

the Group. Should the auditors find compliance issues, the company could be liable for payment of 

interest charges, penalties and tax backpayments. Appropriate precautions based on experience are 

taken for such tax risks.

summ ary

Considering the risks from an overall perspective, it is clear that the kuka Group is primarily exposed 

to market risks. This includes in particular the ef fects of the international financial market crisis, 

which have worsened the economic downturn. There is also the issue of dependency on major cus-

tomers in the automotive sector, particularly in the case of our American subsidiaries. Among the 

greatest risks to which the kuka Group is exposed are its contracts with the American carmakers Gen-

eral Motors, Chrysler and Ford, all in financial difficulties. These customers are being regularly moni-

tored with particular care.

The kuka Group’s risks are manageable and transparent, and as far as we are currently able to fore-

see, do not threaten the company’s survival. Neither do we see any risks that could threaten the com-

pany’s future business or legal existence.

Adequate accruals for tax risks.
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outlook

economic downturn negatively impac t s mechanic al and pl ant engineering industry

The outlook for world economic growth in the next two years is dominated by the current economic 

decline. The trough of the slump may be reached during the current year. All key industrial countries 

are currently in a recession. Deutsche Bank economists are expecting a drop in gdp in the United States 

and in the Eurozone of 2.2 percent and 2.0 percent respectively 2009. Last year gdp growth was 1.3 per-

cent in the United States and 0.9 percent in the Eurozone. Even in the emerging markets, economic 

growth could fall by nearly 50 percent, sliding from 7.9 percent in 2007 to 4 percent during the cur-

rent year. Overall, world economic growth in 2009 will be – 0.7 percent, the first time the economy has 

stopped growing. Last year it grew 2.0 percent. Experts expect that the economy will begin to pick up 

again in 2010, provided the international financial market crisis does not expand further.

In Germany, the economy has been regressing since the second quarter of 2008. But according to the 

federal government, the downturn in gross domestic product could be even worse and reach – 2.25 per-

cent this year, compared to 1.3 percent growth last year. It would be the most serious downturn since 

the end of the Second World War. Because it is an exporting nation, the German economy is particularly 

vulnerable to a weak world economy. This applies especially to the car industry, but also the mechani-

cal and plant engineering sector. According to the German Engineering Federation, vdma, this industry 

could see a drop in manufacturing of 7 percent in 2009. The trough of the slump in the mechanical and 

plant engineering industry is not likely to be reached until 2010 according to a study by Westlb, after 

the international infrastructure programs now being rolled out start to have a positive impact and 

again generate demand for German capital goods.

automotive industry sales continue to decline

After a drop in sales of 18 percent in 2008, General Motors in the United States is expecting a further 

decline of 20 percent in 2009. Only 10.5 million vehicles will be sold (source: January 8, 2009 issue of 

Handelsblatt). After a decline of only 2 percent last year, Germany too is expecting a sharper drop of 

6 percent, with 2.9 million vehicles being registered. Overall, worldwide car production could drop fur-

ther, from 56 million vehicles in 2008 to 53 million vehicles in 2010.

opp or tunities and r isk s for ne w produc t de velopment and ne w m arke t pene tr ation

kuka ag will continue to implement its strategy in the coming two fiscal years and will accelerate its 

initiatives in response to the economic difficulties. The strategy rests on three pillars:

	 �expand into general industry, particularly in the Americas and Asia

	 �penetrate and develop new robotics markets 

	 �safeguard the core automotive industry business

In general industry, i. e., all sectors other than the automotive industry, investments to streamline oper-

ations and cut costs will continue to play an important role, particularly in times of weak earnings. Here 

robot-based automation is increasingly being used to replace manual and less flexible automated man-

ufacturing processes. In Europe, kuka is the technology leader and has the largest market share in both 

World economy in recession.

Asian clients very interested 

in kuka robots.
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the robotics and plant engineering sectors. The industrial regions in America and Asia therefore offer 

excellent growth opportunities. The launch pad for this regional expansion is the strong market position 

of kuka Systems in North America and Brazil, as well as China and India. All of these regions represent 

the largest local markets. At the same time, the reputation of the kuka brand in the automotive indus-

try serves as a “door opener” for general industry. This applies equally to Robotics and Systems.

ne w m arke t s for a ssembly robot s and omnimove

The development of new products is primarily driven by the Robotics division. A relatively high r&d ratio 

of 6 to 7 percent of sales revenues ensures a continuous flow of new products and applications. Together 

with other well-known manufacturers, kuka Robotics has developed such things as new robot-based 

treatment systems in the medical technology field, e. g., for particle and cancer radiation therapy. kuka 

Robotics has also developed an innovative lightweight robot to support manual labor-intensive work-

stations, which is particularly easy to program and operate. It is intended to be used soon as a “work-

er’s third hand” in small and medium-size operations. This new assembly robot is controlled by sen-

sors and is currently being field tested. In addition, this robot, equipped with a smaller version of the 

omniMove platform, is designed to navigate independently while transporting light materials in work-

shops and factories.

The omniMove platform is known for its ability to move precisely in all directions and on the spot. It is 

able to manipulate heavy, bulky parts weighing up to 60 tons within a very compact envelope. On Decem-

ber 10, 2008, kuka signed a blanket agreement with Airbus for the supply of 41 omniMove platforms, 

which will be delivered over the next five years to help assemble the A 350 in all of the aircraft manu-

facturer’s European factories.

core business:  automotive industry

The recession in the major industrial nations has led to considerable sales difficulties in the automotive 

sector. International manufacturers are responding with shortened workweeks in their factories and 

postponement or adjustment of order volumes in cases of capital spending on new vehicle models and 

assembly systems. In contrast, the bric countries could continue to benefit from the increasing demand 

for vehicles in those countries and the opportunities to export to the industrialized regions.

kuka has had successful business relationships with all European and North American carmakers for 

many years. At the same time, the company has been an established business partner with a strong 

market position in the bric countries, Russia, China and Brazil, for almost 20 years. Due to this broad-

based global presence, kuka is able to offset capital spending cutbacks and structural shifts in the 

automotive industries of the developed industrial regions by capital spending increases in the emerging 

countries.

Robot-based automation 

increasingly replaces manual 

and less flexible assembly 

processes.

kuka is an established bric 

nations business partner.
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c apital spending at l a st ye ar’s le vel

Capital spending is a key requirement for surviving in a worsening market environment. In past years, 

kuka ag has made about € 30 million per annum available to the operating business units. From now 

until 2010, the same amount is being budgeted as in past years, but is subject to review if dictated by 

the economic situation.

dividend p olic y

The kuka Group follows an investor-oriented dividend policy that corresponds to the earnings trend of 

the company. Free cash flow is decisive for our dividend policy for this reason. In the future, 30 – 40 per-

cent of the free cash flow generated in the fiscal year ended will be designated for the distribution of 

dividends. The significant cash outflow burdened the free cash flow in the 2008 business year. The 

Executive Board and Supervisory Board of kuka ag therefore recommend the Annual General Meeting 

on April 29, 2009 in Augsburg not to distribute a dividend for the 2008 business year.

over all summ ary regarding group de velopment

The two-year outlook is strongly affected by the high degree of uncertainty regarding the economy. All 

key industrial countries are currently in a recession. However, experts expect that the world economy 

will start to grow again in the next year, when the international aid packages start to bear fruit in the 

major industrial nations. The demand from general industry could revive accordingly in the medium 

term. Because of the automotive sector’s sales-related profit problems, which are expected to continue 

over the period being considered, spending on new models and assembly systems will be sluggish at 

best. With the current economic difficulties, projected business development, including the company’s 

financial and profit situation, is expected to be negative overall between now and 2010. kuka ag’s 

Executive Board has therefore resolved to implement the following steps to safeguard the company’s 

earnings position:

	 �cut material costs

	 �adjust manufacturing capacities

	 �reduce temporary staff

	 �terminate temporary contracts / hiring freeze

	 �reduce overtime / banked hours

	 �adjust compensation in line with the earnings position

	 �review development projects

	 �reduce administrative and consulting costs 

Measures to secure earnings.
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disclosure according to ar ticle 315  par agr aph 4  of the german commercial code (hgb) 

(group m anagement rep or t)  and e xpl anation thereof according to ar ticle 120 , 

par agr aph 3 ,  cl ause 2  of the ger m an corp or ation ac t (ak tg). 

The information required by article 315, paragraph 4 of the German Commercial Code (hgb) is disclosed 

and explained in the following. The Executive Board is of the opinion that according to article 120, para-

graph 3, clause 2 of the German Corporation Act (AktG) further information has to be disclosed.

The total share capital of kuka Aktiengesellschaft is valued at € 69,160,000 consisting of 26,600,000 bearer 

shares. Each bearer share represents a notional holding of € 2.60 of the share capital. All shares have 

equal rights and each share guarantees its holder one vote at the Annual General Meeting.

The Executive Board is not aware of any restrictions that would affect voting rights or the transfer of 

shares. The company did not receive any notification regarding direct or indirect equity shareholdings 

that exceed ten percent of the voting rights. Shares with special rights that would impart controlling 

authority do not exist. Neither is there any participation by employees in the sense of article 315, para-

graph 4, item 5, of the German Commercial Code (hgb).

The Executive Board consists of at least two persons as per article 6, para. 1 of the company’s articles of 

association. The Supervisory Board decides upon the number of Executive Board members as per article 6, 

para. 2 of the company’s articles of association. The appointment and dismissal of members of the Exec-

utive Board follows the rules of articles 84 and 85 of the Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and article 31 of the 

German Act on Company Co-Determination (MitbestG). 

Article 119, para. 1, clause 5 and article 179 para. 1 of the Stock Corporation Act (AktG) stipulates that 

any changes to the company’s articles of association require a resolution by the shareholders at the 

Annual General Meeting. Article 22, para. 1 of the company’s articles of association states that a simple 

majority of the holders of total share capital attending the Annual General Meeting is sufficient, pro-

vided that the articles of association do not make a greater majority mandatory. The latter is required 

especially for resolutions concerning changes to the company’s business purpose, reduction in capital 

stock and changes to the form of incorporation. Article 11, para. 3 of the company’s articles of association 

states that the Supervisory Board is authorized to make changes to the company’s articles of associa-

tion that only affect the version. Furthermore, according to article 4, para. 5 of the company’s articles 

of association, the Supervisory Board is authorized to change the company’s articles of association, 

provided it makes use of its authority to increase capitalization in accordance with article 4, para. 5 of 

the company’s articles of association (see below) or the authorization is unnecessary.

In accordance with article 4, paragraph 5 of the company’s articles of association, the Executive board 

is authorized to increase the company’s share capital, subject to approval by the Supervisory Board, until 

May 31, 2011 up to a total of € 34,500,000 by issuing on one or several occasions new shares in the name 

of the bearer against cash contributions or contributions in kind. In the event this authorization is exer-

cised, the shareholders shall unconditionally be granted subscription rights; however, subject to appro

val by the Supervisory Board, the Executive Board is authorized to exclude the shareholder subscription 

rights prescribed by law (i) for fractional amounts (ii) to the extent this is required in order to grant the 
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holders subscription rights to new shares, as per the resolution passed at the Annual General Meeting 

on July 4, 2003, in the quantities to which they would be entitled by exercising their conversion or 

option rights related to convertible bond and / or warrants issued by kuka Aktiengesellschaft or its 

companies (iii) for increases in equity against cash contributions if the offering price of the new share 

does not fall considerably short of the market price, and to the extent the number of shares issued 

under exclusion of subscription rights in accordance with article 186, paragraph 3, sentence 4 AktG 

(German Corporation Act) does not exceed 10 percent of the total share capital, neither at the point in 

time the authorization becomes effective nor at the time of exercising the authorization. In doing so, 

the company’s own shares, if sold under exclusion of subscription rights, and shares issued or to be issued 

for the satisfaction of bonds with conversion and option rights issued pursuant to the resolution of 

the Annual General Meeting on July 4, 2003, in case the bonds were issued during the term of the author

ization under exclusion of subscription rights in corresponding application of article 186 paragraph 3 

sentence 4 AktG (German Corporation Act), have to be counted under this restriction. This also applies 

(iv) for capital increases against contributions in kind for the purpose of acquiring companies or parts 

of companies.

According to article 4 paragraph 6 of the articles of association, the total share capital is conditionally 

increased by up to € 19,500,000 by issuing up to 7.5 million new shares. The conditional capital increase 

is only carried out to the extent that option and / or conversion rights are exercised by the holders of 

option and / or conversion rights issued by the company or its directly or indirectly majority owned com-

panies in Germany or abroad on or before July 4, 2008.

On May 9, 2006, kuka Aktiengesellschaft partially exercised the respective authorization to issue options 

and / or convertible bonds and the previously described conditional capital by privately placing a con-

vertible bond issue guaranteed by kuka Aktiengesellschaft with a nominal value of € 69,000,000 through 

its 100-percent-owned Dutch subsidiary kuka Finance b. v. Under the terms of the placement, the com-

pany is obliged to completely but not partially convert every bondholder’s bond valued at a nominal 

€ 50,000 in accordance with their conversion rights at any time during the exercise period (July 8, 2006 

to October 18, 2011) and at the conversion price of € 25.3833 per share to value shares of kuka Aktien

gesellschaft issued to the bearer with a pro rata amount of the share capital of € 2.60 each (due to the 

distribution of dividends in May 2008 for the 2007 fiscal year, the conversion price needed to be adjusted 

to the bond terms and conditions). The company’s capital would be increased by € 7.1 million by issu-

ing currently about 2,718,000 new shares with a pro rata amount of the share capital of € 2.60 each, 

subject to the antidilution provisions of the bond terms, should all bearers of convertible bonds use 

their conversion right. The bond was subsequently listed on the Euromtf market of the Luxembourg stock 

exchange. 

The conditions of the bonds contain a change of control rule typical of the industry, according to which 

the bond issuer (kuka Finance b. v.) and the guarantor (kuka Aktiengesellschaft) must publish the 

change of control as soon as it becomes known in a leading newspaper with general readership in Lux-

embourg, probably Luxemburger Wort, and must publish the record of the change of control in a simi-

lar manner. Every bondholder then has the right to demand repayment of one or all of his bonds at face 

value plus interest thereon, on the said record date of the change of control from the bond issuer. In 

kuka robots work hand-in-

hand to weld a car body.
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other respects, the conversion ratio will be aligned as further required by the conditions of the bonds. 

Control in the aforementioned sense means direct or indirect (in the sense of article 22 wphg) legal 

or economic interest in shares, which together guarantee more than 30 percent of the voting rights of 

kuka Aktiengesellschaft or in the case of an offer to purchase shares, circumstances in which the 

shares which are already under the control of the offerer (and or persons working with the offerer) plus 

the shares for which the offer has already been accepted, together guarantee more than 50 percent of 

the voting rights of kuka Aktiengesellschaft at the same time the offer became unconditional.

As per the resolution passed at the Annual General Meeting of kuka Aktiengesellschaft on May 16, 2007, 

which was withdrawn effective the close of August 29, 2008 as per the resolution passed at the Annual 

General Meeting of kuka Aktiengesellschaft on May 15, 2008, the company was authorized to buy back 

its own shares up to a total of 10 percent of the total share capital at the time the resolution was passed 

through the stock market or in form of a public purchase offer by the company to all shareholders. The 

company took advantage of this authorization by buying back 1,327,340 of its own shares (4.99 percent 

of total share capital) between March 25, 2008 and August 29, 2008.

Furthermore, as per the resolution passed at the Annual General Meeting of kuka Aktiengesellschaft 

on May 16, 2007 and subject to approval by the Supervisory Board, the Executive Board is authorized 

under exclusion of subscription rights to sell the treasury shares thus acquired (i) within the scope of 

company mergers or the acquisition of companies, parts of companies, or investments in companies 

to third parties, (ii) in other ways than through the stock exchange or through an offer to all sharehold-

ers if these shares are sold for cash at a price not considerably less than the market price of company 

shares of same endowment at the moment of the sale, if and as far as the shares sold under exclusion 

of subscription rights in total do not exceed 10 percent of the stock capital, namely neither at the time 

of the effective date nor at the time of the execution of the authorization – this limitation includes such 

shares that were issued under exclusion of subscription rights for the service of bonds with conversion 

or option rights and / or taking advantage of an authorization to issue new shares from approved capi-

tal according to article 186 paragraph 3 sentence 4 AktG (German Corporation Act) – and (iii) for the 

purposes of listing on foreign stock exchanges on which the company shares had previously not been 

approved for trading. Moreover, subject to approval by the Supervisory Board, the Executive Board is 

authorized to withdraw the treasury shares. The purchase and the disposal authorization can be executed 

once or several times as well as in parts. This authorization as per the Annual General Meeting to use 

the treasury shares acquired as per the resolution of the Annual General Meeting of May 16, 2007 was 

not withdrawn as a result of the resolution of the Annual General Meeting of kuka Aktiengesellschaft 

dated May 15, 2008, which became effective as of the close of August 29, 2008. 

As per the resolution passed at the Annual General Meeting of kuka Aktiengesellschaft on May 16, 2007, 

the company is authorized to buy back its own shares up to a total of 10 percent of the total share capi-

tal at the time the resolution was passed through the stock market or in form of a public purchase offer 

by the company to all shareholders, whereby the treasury shares already reacquired (4.99 percent of 

total share capital) must be taken into consideration. In doing so, the purchase price (without acquisi-

tion costs) cannot be more than 10 percent higher or lower than the market price to be established 

according to the resolution. The authorization for the use of reacquired own shares as per this resolu-
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tion is essentially the same as the aforementioned authorization for the use of reacquired treasury 

shares as per the resolution of the Annual General Meeting of kuka Aktiengesellschaft on May 16, 2007.

Furthermore, subject to approval by the Supervisory Board, the Executive Board is authorized under 

exclusion of subscription rights to sell the treasury shares thus acquired (i) within the scope of company 

mergers or the acquisition of companies, parts of companies, or investments in companies to third par-

ties, (ii) in other ways than through the stock exchange or through an offer to all shareholders if these 

shares are sold for cash at a price not considerably less than the market price of company shares of 

same endowment at the moment of the sale, if and as far as the shares sold under exclusion of subscrip-

tion rights in total do not exceed 10 percent of the stock capital, namely neither at the time of the 

effective date nor at the time of the execution of the authorization – this limitation includes such shares 

that were issued under exclusion of subscription rights for the service of bonds with conversion or 

option rights and / or taking advantage of an authorization to issue new shares from approved capi-

tal according to article 186 paragraph 3 sentence 4 AktG (German Corporation Act) – and (iii) for the 

purposes of listing on foreign stock exchanges on which the company shares had previously not been 

approved for trading. Moreover, subject to approval by the Supervisory Board, the Executive Board is 

authorized to withdraw the treasury shares. The purchase and the disposal authorization can be exe-

cuted once or several times as well as in parts.

kuka Aktiengesellschaft and its material consolidated companies signed a syndicated loan agreement 

with a bank consortium led by Bayerische Hypo- und Vereinsbank ag, Dresdner Bank ag, and Landes-

bank Baden-Württemberg under which the lenders make an amount of up to € 305 million available. This 

covers the material debt requirements of the kuka Group (including filing of bank guarantees). The 

contract includes a change of control clause that is typical in the industry under the terms of which the 

syndicated banks can demand repayment of the loan in the event that a shareholder (or several share-

holders working together) acquire(s) control of at least 30 percent of the voting rights of kuka Aktien

gesellschaft. If kuka Aktiengesellschaft were unable to immediately secure refinancing from the mar-

ket in such a case, it could cause the company to be unable to pay its creditors and thereby could lead 

to the insolvency of kuka Aktiengesellschaft. 

No compensation agreements exist on the part of the company for the scenario of a take-over bid with 

members of the Executive Board or employees.

compensation rep or t

The Compensation Report explains the basis for the establishment of the compensation for the Exec-

utive Board and the Supervisory Board as well as its amount and structure. Additionally, it contains 

disclosures regarding the ownership of shares by the Executive Board and Supervisory Board and trans-

actions with kuka Aktiengesellschaft. The report follows the recommendations of the German Corpo-

rate Governance Code and contains disclosures, which are necessary according to the regulations of the 

commercial code, including the disclosure of Executive Board compensation pursuant to articles 314, 

315 of the German Commercial Code (hgb). The audited Compensation Report is part of the consolidated 

report. It is included in the Corporate Governance Report.





fr ank zimmer m ann, industrial business de velopment, wood industry,  kuk a robotic s

“Flexible automation solutions that 

improve efficiency are more important 

than ever in the wood industry. kuka 

robots are a very safe investment that 

maximizes forecasting reliability and 

guarantees substantial market growth 

potential – now and in the future.”



“Speed and power are the key 

features of successful robot 

applications in the wood industry. 

Even the strongest kuka robot 

– the kr 1000 Titan – has no prob-

lem maintaining a fast pace.”

industrial robots in the wood industry

(number of units)
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Source: World Robotics 2008
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kuka robotics

kuka Robotics’ core competence is in developing, manufacturing and selling high-tech industrial 

robots together with the associated controls, software and linear units. The robots’ payload ranges 

from five to 1,000 kg. Highly flexible kuka robots are now being used in over 20 general industry sectors 

(general industry refers to all markets outside the automotive industry). Within the past number 

of years, kuka Robotics has established an international network of systems partners and is continu-

ously penetrating new markets with new applications. As always, kuka robots continue to be used in 

a wide variety of automotive industry applications.

The product portfolio is based on a modular system. Six basic types can be combined with a large 

number of mechanical and electrical feeding and loading options, enabling kuka Robotics to supply 

custom tailored systems that meet customer needs. The robots are assembled at the central Augsburg 

plant and shipped to customers from there.

On November 17, 2008, kuka Robotics won the coveted “Manufacturing Excellence Award 2008” (mx 

Award). Over the past number of years, it has become one of the most important process industry 

awards in Germany. In addition to the top prize, kuka also won first prize in the product innovation 

category after a multistage selection process. According to the jury, kuka set new benchmarks for 

customer orientation and product innovation in comparison to other competitors. It was the first time 

in the history of the “mx Award” that one company won two prizes.

grow th driven by customer orientation

kuka Robotics was again able to grow faster than the market. Orders received rose 6.8 percent from 

last year’s � 434.9 million, reaching � 464.4 million. Sales revenues came in at � 474.4 million versus 

� 412.9 million in 2007, an increase of 14.9 percent. Order backlog as of the December 31, 2008 cutoff 

date was � 100.2 million, which compares to � 103.9 million the year prior. The operating result (ebit) 

increased as a result of higher capacity utilization and a more profitable product mix, coming in at 

€ 42.0 million in 2008 versus � 33.6 million in 2007. The division’s return on sales improved accord-

ingly, rising from 8.1 percent in 2007 to 8.9 percent in 2008.

dem and for robot s again sl ightly higher

Worldwide demand for industrial robots again rose slightly. The International Federation of Robotics 

(ifr) estimates that robot sales for the year in total grew between 1 and 2 percent (in number of units) 

compared to last year. Growth in the first half year was particularly strong, coming in at 8 percent. The 

total number of robots sold in 2008 was 116,000 units, which compares to 114,300 the year before. 

Growth in Europe was above average at 8 percent, while Asian markets reported an average increase 

of 2 percent. In the United States, sales plummeted 15 percent after strong growth the year prior. The 

demand for articulated robots was up 6 percent compared to other robot types, thus continuing to be 

above average.

further information

http://www.kuka.com/

germany/en

kuka Robotics wins prestigious 

mx Award.
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The concentration of industrial robots used by the manufacturing industry is expressed in terms of 

robot density. This indicator is an expression of the ratio of the number of robots per 10,000 employees 

in the manufacturing industry. According to this indicator, Japan has the greatest robot density when 

all types of robots are taken into consideration. The country reported 310 robots per 10,000 manufac-

turing employees. Germany is in second place with 234 robots per 10,000 manufacturing employees. 

Next is Korea with 185 robots, ahead of Italy and the United States, which have 116 robots each. At 

the present time, the automotive industry is the furthest advanced when it comes to the number of 

robots used for automated manufacturing.

innovation le ader ship

kuka Robotics offers high-tech solutions for industrial robot applications. New generations of robots 

that are capable of robot-robot cooperation, human-machine cooperation and manufacturing assist-

ance and are based on modular, interactive robot technologies will drive the growth of this division 

over the course of the next years.

Cooperating robots contribute to higher automation and flexibility – and not only for car manufactur-

ing in the automotive industry. Here, several robots work simultaneously side-by-side to share a task 

in order to reduce cycle times, or to help each other when manipulating heavy payloads. Safe coopera-

tion between humans and robots also helps maximize the utilization of overlapping workspaces and 

activities: kuka Safe Robot technology makes it possible. Prerequisites for the success of this innova-

tion are a close customer relationship, the flexibility to accommodate customer wishes and the ability 

to develop new technologies from these requirements.

grow th driven by gener al industry

One focus of the division’s activities was the expansion of its sales and service network, particularly 

in Eastern Europe, America and Asia. General industry includes all markets outside the automotive 

industry, especially plastics and food, metals machining and processing, healthcare technology and 

logistics. In these markets, robot-based automation can generate substantial productivity advantages 

when compared to manual manufacturing. This now also applies to low-wage countries, as they must 

meet higher quality specifications as soon as they start to manufacture products for export. Overall, 

kuka Robotics was able to considerably improve its orders received from general industry. They went 

from � 156.2 million in 2007 to � 194.3 million in 2008, an increase of 24.4 percent.

Examples of general industry orders in fiscal 2008 included orders for palletizing robots, which were 

shipped to other European countries as well as China and Brazil. The first Titan heavy load robot was 

purchased by the plant engineering company Grenzebach Maschinenbau GmbH for use in the glass 

industry. The building technologies company Grundfos in Denmark ordered robots to assemble water 

pumps. kuka shipped machines for automating a water valve grinding and polishing process to systems 

partner shl Automatisierungstechnik ag. Systems partner lewa Attendorn GmbH received orders 

for robots to be used in an arc welding application. An agreement was reached with machine tool manu-

facturer Gildemeister ag and Maschinenfabrik Berthold Hermle ag for the supply of robots for auto-

mating machine tools. Other noteworthy orders came from the plastics, chemical and metals sectors.

kuka Titan easily stacks 

750-kg sheets of wood.

Expanded general industry 

sales and service network.
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kuka Robotics received an order from the aviation industry for the supply of 41 omniMove type mobile 

platforms, which will be used to assemble the new Airbus A350. A blanket order with a term of five years 

was placed by the purchaser. These platforms will be used in various European Airbus factories to manu-

facture the wings and fuselage sections of the plane. omniMove platforms feature an extremely pre-

cise and flexible horizontal range of motion in all directions, and they can also rotate on the spot. A 

specially designed system of rollers makes them extremely maneuverable and gives them a very small 

working envelope. Bulky parts can thus be handled in a very tight space. omniMove platforms are capa-

ble of accepting a large variety of tools. They also give robots mobility. 

        kuk a robotic s – ke y f igur es

(in € millions)

2007 2008 Change in %

��Orders received 434.9 464.4 6.8

��Sales revenues 412.9 474.4 14.9

��ebit 33.6 42.0 25.0

��% of sales 8.1 8.9 0.8 %-points

��% of capital employed (roce) 34.6 37.2 2.6 %-points

��Capital employed 97.1 112.9 16.3

����Employees (Dec. 31) 2,023 2,261 11.8

��

��

automotive order s decline

The automotive industry remains the most important individual market. kuka Robotics has been supply-

ing industrial robots to many international carmakers for over 30 years and has become the market 

leader in the automotive business. The automotive industry has the strictest engineering and innova-

tion capability requirements. In the automotive business unit, orders received in 2008 declined, mostly 

in the fourth quarter. They fell 14.1 percent, from � 197.3 million in 2007 to � 169.5 million in 2008. 

Important orders in 2008 came from bmw for the 5 and 7 Series successors, as well as from bmw in 

China. kuka Robotics received orders from vw in South Africa and India. An order came from Brazil 

for kuka robots for the vw Gol, a compact car for the Latin American market. Other major orders were 

booked for various Mercedes models. In addition, Renault ordered robots for manufacturing the Renault 

Master van.

Airbus places large order 

for omniMove platform.
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e xpanded service

kuka Robotics’ service activities have started to expand as a result of the substantial increase in gen-

eral industry business. The Service business unit provides training, repairs, maintenance and spare 

parts for general industry and automotive customers. The business is based on an installed base of more 

than 80,000 kuka robots around the world. The business unit’s orders received climbed 23.6 percent, 

to � 100.6 million in 2008 from � 81.4 million in 2007.

ne w applic ations: enter tainment and he althc are technology

In 2002, kuka Robotics unveiled the Robocoaster for the entertainment industry, the first and only 

passenger robot in the world. Today it is a fixture at many amusement parks around the globe. kuka 

has now launched a 4-d simulator, in which two passengers can climb into a closable capsule attached 

to a robot arm with six axes, giving it six degrees of freedom in its range of motion. Inside the capsule, 

the passengers experience various simulations with accompanying images projected onto an integrated 

screen, for example, a break-neck ski race, while the Robocoaster simulates the motion. To make the 

experience even more authentic, a blower integrated into the system creates the sensation of an icy 

headwind on their skin. This Robocoaster feature opens the door to the fourth dimension. The simula-

tor can also be used for innovative product presentations or thrilling roller coaster rides.

The strength of kuka robots – high flexibility, top safety and precision, low down time and mainte-

nance – also set new standards in the medical technology field. New treatment systems have been 

developed in cooperation with other international manufacturers. For example, in the field of particle 

radiotherapy, kuka robots optimize the position of the patient for irradiating tumors. A further appli-

cation for cancer therapy is the “Cyberknife” – a proven x-ray application. Instead of a scalpel, a robotic 

x-ray head capable of delivering collimated radiation precisely destroys the tumor cells. The results of 

kuka’s activities in healthcare technology can also be transferred to general industry and automo-

tive industry tasks.

kuka robots can palletize 

and depalletize at tempera-

tures as low as minus 30° C.

4-d-simulator for the 

entertainment sector.





ar tur moser, projec t m anager s -tec,  kuk a systems 

 “We capitalize on our applications and 

automation technology engineering 

leadership by sharing our carmaking 

experience and expertise with other 

sectors and industries.”



“Our innovative joining processes, such 

as laser-remote and laser-hybrid welding, 

enable us to quickly and precisely fuse 

together materials with utmost reliability, 

for example, when manufacturing rail-

way vehicles and carriages.”

market size for the high-speed railway vehicle industry

in western europe and asia / pacific (in € billions)

2.222007

4.362016

 Forecast

Source: Study by unife / Roland Berger on the global railway industry, 2008
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kuka systems

kuka Systems offers automotive, aircraft and solar industry customers comprehensive automated solu-

tions for their manufacturing plants. With 3,781 employees as of December 31, the company’s Euro-

pean, American and Asian offices plan, design and build robot-based systems for welding, gluing, seal-

ing, metal forming, assembling, testing and handling metals, glass or other materials in accordance 

with their customers’ unique specifications.

New customers in markets such as the aircraft and solar industries attest to the division’s ability to 

compete. The aircraft industry uses kuka systems to manufacture and join outer shell components of 

aircraft and propulsion systems. kuka’s automation expertise can be applied in the solar industry to 

rationalize manufacturing at all value added stages of the process. With a market share of 25 percent, 

kuka Systems is the market and technology leader in the automotive industry in terms of private sec-

tor tenders.

kuka Systems’ contribution to the integrated business model is application engineering. Acting as a 

general contractor, kuka Systems plans and builds complete manufacturing systems for our internation-

ally active customers. The division relies mainly on three regional centers: Augsburg for Germany and 

Europe, greater Detroit for the North American business, and Shanghai for the emerging Chinese mar-

ket. 25 subsidiaries that are close to the customer support these centers and independently process 

small orders.

In the automotive industry, kuka Systems focuses on building flexible assembly systems, which can be 

used to manufacture several different car body models or types. The division also offers press tools for 

stamping car parts and automated assembly lines for engines, transmissions and axles. These businesses 

are based in Schwarzenberg / Erzgebirge and Dubnica / Slovakia, as well as Bremen and greater Detroit /  

Michigan.

high c apacit y util iz ation

In fiscal 2008, the Systems division’s overall capacity was very highly utilized, even though postponed 

orders in the second half year were already leading to lower sales. Sales revenues came in at € 837.5 mil-

lion, 6.9 percent lower than last year’s € 900.0 million. However, after adjusting the result by € 35.0 mil-

lion to changes in input material purchasing by us subsidiary ktpo, plus € 10.1 million for the revised 

posting related to the redemption of the financing for this company, plus € 16.8 million for the changed 

€ / usd exchange rate, the division’s sales revenues were about the same as last year.

Orders received were also down from last year’s € 937.7 million and came in at € 854.9 million. Adjusted 

for non-operative effects totaling € 62.5 million, orders received were slightly under last year’s level. 

Order backlog was up accordingly, rising from € 434.7 million in 2007 to € 450.3 million as of December 31. 

The order backlog therefore notionally secures the present level of activity for over six months.

further information 

www.kuka-systems.com 

Adjusted sales revenues at last 

year’s level.
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The division’s operating result (ebit) went from € 37.2 million in 2007 to € 26.8 million during the period 

under review because of the one-time charge associated with the cancellation of a systems order from 

a North American automotive supplier. Return on sales declined accordingly, going from 4.1 percent in 

2007 to 3.2 percent in 2008. The one-time charge of € 20.8 million was booked against the fourth-quar-

ter operating result. Excluding the one-time charge, the division’s operating result (ebit) for 2008 would 

have come in at € 47.6 million, equivalent to an ebit margin of 5.7 percent of sales revenues, thanks to 

the excellent loading and the improved profitability of the orders delivered.

At the end of the reporting period, kuka Systems had 3,781 employees. This represents an increase of 

5.6 percent over the 3,582-person workforce at the end of last year. The additional staff was hired pri-

marily to expand the activities in China and in manufacturing. 

ne w order s from the automotive industry

In the second half of 2008, various kuka Systems automotive industry customers shelved their plans to 

purchase new assembly systems or postponed the purchases until 2009. The need for new capital spend-

ing was examined even more closely than before, while customers were even more prepared to refur-

bish and continue to use existing systems. Plant upgrades and refurbishments increased accordingly.

Despite the difficult economic climate, kuka Systems was able to pull in numerous major automotive 

industry orders in 2008. For example, the division received an order from carmaker Ford for the com-

plete B Car body shop. This is a key strategic project for Ford. The B Car is a successful European model, 

which the carmaker is introducing to the North American market. It is equivalent to the European Ford 

Fiesta. The new assembly line will be installed at the Cuautitlán assembly facility in Mexico.

Volkswagen too entrusted kuka Systems with supplying automation technology that will be used to 

expand its production capacity in India. The German carmaker ordered car body door and hatch assem-

bly systems for its new factory in Chakan near Pune. The lines will be used for the Skoda Fabia and two 

Polo models destined for the emerging markets. The equipment for the order will be delivered over a 

period of two years. The division also won orders from the Indian carmakers tata, Mahindra & Mahin-

dra and tal during the fiscal period. 

Other major orders came from European carmakers vw, bmw, Opel and Volvo, as well as us manufac-

turers Ford and Chrysler.

rising dem and from the sol ar industry

Interest in renewable energies remained high last year in view of the sharply higher prices for energy 

from conventional sources. The increase in new solar system installations in Germany was greater than 

anywhere else in the world. However, experts forecast that over the long term, only suppliers able to 

rapidly cut the costs of solar systems and at the same time improve their efficiency will be successful 

in this market. As a result, the sector’s capital spending plans remain high, which leads to increasing 

demand for automation expertise. 

ebit margin 5.7 percent 

excluding one-time charge.

Flexible assembly systems 

for carmakers.
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Last year, demand for kuka Systems’ products and services was strongest in the photovoltaics, thermal 

solar systems, energy storage and conversion systems segments. Several important orders were received. 

For example, robot-based assembly systems for manufacturing photovoltaic modules were delivered 

to the us solar company Evergreen. kuka Systems also successfully entered the Swiss solar market. 

        sys tems div ision – ke y f igur es

(in € millions)

2007 2008 Change in %

Orders received 937.7 854.9 – 8.8

Sales revenues 900.0 837.5 – 6.9

ebit 37.2 26.8 – 28.0

% of sales 4.1 3.2 – 0.9 %-points

% of capital employed (roce) 51.0 20.2 – 30.8 %-points

Capital employed 73.0 132.7 81.8

Employees (Dec. 31) 3,582 3,781 5.6

�

fir st a ircr af t industry reference install ations

The recession has also noticeably impacted the international aviation industry, causing a drop in orders 

for new aircraft and cancellations of existing orders for planes. In spite of this, the major aircraft makers 

Airbus and Boeing have a backlog each of more than 3,700 airplanes as a result of the booming demand 

over the past number of years. With annual shipments estimated at 400 to 500 planes, the backlog will 

keep these two companies busy for over six years. At the same time, the manufacturers are pressing 

ahead with converting their mainly manual and partly automated assembly systems. Robot-based auto-

mation contributes considerably to this effort. kuka Systems won reference-worthy orders from both 

Airbus and Boeing in 2008 for assembly systems for components made of the newly developed carbon 

fiber reinforced material (cfrp).

engineering services from a single source

kuka’s us subsidiary ktpo operates an assembly line in North America on a pay-on-production basis. 

The system is located at Chrysler’s site in Toledo / Ohio and is used to build Jeep Wrangler car bodies. 

In the first quarter of 2008, kuka redeemed the financing for this assembly system. In view of the sig-

nificant slump in the passenger vehicle market in North America, the number of bodies produced for 

this off-road vehicle in 2008 remained relatively stable.

Robot-based manufacturing 

systems supplied to us solar 

industry company.
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The Harbour Report, the leading indicator of North American carmakers, named the Toledo supplier park 

for the Jeep Wrangler North America’s most efficient and productive factory. The throughput time per 

vehicle is on average 13.6 hours, a full two hours less than the nearest competitor. 

kuka Systems’ press tool manufacturing unit builds cutting and metal-bending tools that come in all 

sizes and complexities. The press tools to manufacture large quantities of sheet metal components are 

used as single presses, automated press lines and large scale transfer presses. In addition, customers 

are asking for field service more and more frequently. The press tools are manufactured in Schwarzen-

berg / Erzgebirge and Dubnica / Slovakia. The press tool business unit supplies products to carmakers 

in Germany and the European Union, and increasingly also to customers in China and India. Important 

orders for 2008 were received from vw (Polo successor), Audi (Q5 China), Volvo (V 50 successor), Jag-

uar (xj successor) and Magna (Porsche Cheyenne / vw Touareg).

The assembly technology business unit plans, designs and builds automated assembly lines, primarily 

for car engines, cylinder heads, transmissions and axles. It also builds test stands for engines and trans-

missions. The assembly technology business unit is located in Bremen and greater Detroit / Michigan. 

Important orders were placed in 2008 by zf Saarbrücken (first eight-speed automatic transmission), gft 

Kosice / Slovakia (double-clutch transmission), Porsche (Panamera), fiat (two-cylinder engine), Cum-

mins (cylinder head and engine block) and Ford Coyote (cylinder head). Test stands were also delivered 

to vw, Ford and General Motors in Mexico, as well as to Caterpillar.

kuka Systems offers general industry customers planning, design and construction of special machines, 

welding cells and manufacturing lines, including subcontracted welding.

regional shif t s in order s received

kuka Systems’ project business was impacted by major regional shifts during the reporting year. While 

orders from German customers in 2007 totaled € 308.7 million, almost one-third of the total orders 

received of € 937.7 million, in 2008 domestic orders dropped substantially, to € 150.2 million. Instead, 

German manufacturers placed more orders for their European plants. As a result, the Systems division’s 

orders received from Europe (excluding Germany) went from € 134.7 million in 2007 to € 276.7 million 

in 2008. In North America, orders received from automotive industry customers came in at € 329.5 mil-

lion, down from last year’s € 395.6 million. The largest order received from the region during the report-

ing year was an order from Ford for a car body assembly line in Mexico for the B Car, the equivalent of 

the European Ford Fiesta. In Asia and the remaining regions, orders received of € 98.5 million for 2008 

were almost the same as the prior year’s € 98.7 million.

Toledo pay-on-production 

facility “Best North American 

factory”.

Riveting aircraft wings in 

the aviation industry.
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corpor ate governance report

The Executive Board reports – simultaneously for the Supervisory Board – on Corporate Governance 

at kuka in accordance with section 3.10 of the German Corporate Governance Code (“cgc”) as follows:

Responsible and transparent Corporate Governance is a fundamental principle of kuka. This applies 

especially to the cooperation between the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board.

decl ar ations of compliance

The declarations of compliance of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board that have been issued 

for every financial year starting in 2002, have in each case been made available for inspection by any 

interested party on the company’s website at www.kuka.com.

The identical declarations of the Executive Board dated February 23, 2009 and of the Supervisory Board 

dated February 24, 2009 in accordance with article 161 of the German Corporation Act (AktG) and the 

German Corporate Governance Code read as follows:

“kuka Aktiengesellschaft has since issuing the latest (identical) declaration of compliance of the 

Executive Board (February 11, 2008) and of the Supervisory Board (February 25, 2008) complied with, 

and continues to comply with, the recommendations of the Government Commission on the German 

Corporate Governance Code as amended on June 14, 2007 or respectively since its validity as amended 

on June 6, 2008, which were published in the electronic edition of the Bundesanzeiger (German Fed-

eral Gazette) dated August 8, 2008, including the recommendation to form a nomination committee 

for the Supervisory Board since its introduction in September 2007, subject to the following exceptions:

kuka Aktiengesellschaft has a Directors and Officers liability insurance (d&o insurance) for the members 

of the Executive and Supervisory Boards which stipulates a relatively small deductible (Section 3.8, 

para. 2 cgc). The compensation received by members of the Supervisory Board is entirely fixed (Sec-

tion 5.4.6, para. 2 cgc).

Moreover, kuka Aktiengesellschaft adheres to nearly all proposals contained in the Code.”

As of February 25, 2009, the identical declarations of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board 

have been available on the company’s website at www.kuka.com. 

note about deviations from section 3.8, paragraph 2 cgc and section 5.4.6, paragraph 2 cgc

The company has directors and officers liability insurance (d&o) for the members of the Executive and 

Supervisory Boards which stipulates a relatively small deductible. The Executive Board and the Super-

visory Board are convinced from the company’s perspective at this time that the contractual clause 

regarding the deductible should be viewed as sufficient, even if parts of the judicial literature gener-

ally sets the suitability level higher for deductibles in terms of Section 3.8, paragraph 2 cgc. 
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In accordance with article 17, paragraph 1 of the articles of association of the Company as amended 

at the Annual General Meeting on June 1, 2006, every member of the Supervisory Board, in addition 

to reimbursement for expenses, receives a fixed compensation. The compensation amounts to € 30,000 

– except for the Chairman of the Supervisory Board and the members of the Supervisory Board com-

mittees – and is payable after the end of the financial year; the following report on compensation 

illustrates particulars about the compensation.

After examination of the different variable compensation models and intensive internal and external 

consultation, the Supervisory Board still upholds the opinion that under consideration of its inde-

pendency and all essential aspects, especially the statutory duties of the Supervisory Board, the elec-

tion terms of its members, and the ongoing legal uncertainty, a fixed compensation presents a rea-

sonable compensation structure while respecting Corporate Governance. The Supervisory Board is 

convinced that variable compensation elements would have to be applied to the same objective crite-

ria as the ones for the Executive Board, which may not entirely meet legal objections. The Supervisory 

Board will continue to diligently follow the development of the case law and judicial literature; the 

trends at corporations listed on the stock exchange, and any relevant changes of the cgc, and will 

review its opinion in the light of possible developments.

m anagement and company struc ture

The kuka Group consists of kuka Aktiengesellschaft – the Group’s managing holding company – and 

the two divisions, Robotics and Systems. All Group companies are – with few exceptions – allocated to 

the two management companies kuka Roboter GmbH or kuka Systems GmbH and are directly or indi-

rectly held by these, for the most part 100 percent.

Similarities between the business divisions regarding market and production areas, clients, and geo-

graphic focus are being identified and intensively developed further. Independent thereof, the busi-

ness divisions are responsible for their business and thus also for their results. Moreover, as before, 

controlling the implementation of established targets is achieved through project and risk manage-

ment, strong key data oriented management as well as executive staff development and brand strategies.

On October 27, 2008, the Executive Board resolved to reorganize the executive structure of kuka 

Aktiengesellschaft and the management structure in the kuka Group, with effect at the beginning of 

2009. The Supervisory Board approved this resolution on November 3, 2008. Effective January 1, 2009, 

the Executive Board of kuka Aktiengesellschaft consists of two persons, namely the Chief Executive 

Officer (ceo) and the Chief Financial Officer (cfo). The kuka Aktiengesellschaft articles of association 

expressly state that the Executive Board may consist of two persons (article 6, paragraph 1 of the arti-

cles of association of the Company). The newly formed Executive Board of kuka Aktiengesellschaft is 

supported by a management team. The management team consists of the Executive Board of kuka 

Aktiengesellschaft as well as the chairman of the management board of kuka Roboter GmbH and the 

chairman of the management board of kuka Systems GmbH. The chairmen of the management boards 

of the two management companies kuka Roboter GmbH and kuka Systems GmbH become divisional 

chairmen for the Robotics and Systems division, respectively. The tasks of the divisional chairmen include, 
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among other things, advising the Executive Board of kuka Aktiengesellschaft as part of the manage-

ment team.

The following objectives are associated with the reorganization: (i) Strengthening of the operational 

areas Systems and Robotics and (ii) Concentration of the strategic alignment of the Group. Further-

more, effective January 1, 2009, additional corporate departments were formed at kuka Aktiengesell

schaft level for higher-level, administrative and business-promoting tasks.

resp onsible cooper ation of e xecutive board and supervisory board

The common goal of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board is the sustainable increase of the 

shareholder value. To this end, the Executive Board and Supervisory Board work closely together in 

the interest of the company. No former Executive Board members belong to the Supervisory Board. 

The Executive Board reports to the Supervisory Board regularly, in a timely manner, and comprehen-

sively regarding all planning questions, business development, risk assessment, risk management, and 

any actions taken in this regard. In the process, the Executive Board also addresses changes in the busi-

ness development from established plans and goals, and explains the reasons leading to such changes. 

The reporting of the Executive Board to the Supervisory Board also includes the topic of Corporate 

Compliance. Articles of association and standard rules of procedure have provisions ensuring that import

ant business transactions are subject to agreement by the Supervisory Board. Details about the coop-

eration of Executive Board and Supervisory Board can be found in the report of the Supervisory Board on 

pages 9 to 15.

In the financial year 2008 there were no consulting or other service or work contracts in place between 

Supervisory Board members and the company. There were no conflicts of interest between Executive 

Board and Supervisory Board members which would require immediate disclosure.

e xecutive board

The following changes took place at the Executive Board level in fiscal 2008: 

Gerhard Wiedemann stepped down from his position as Chairman of the Executive Board and Labor 

Director of kuka Aktiengesellschaft on September 30, 2008 due to his retirement. Mr. Wiedemann 

will offer his support to the Executive Board of kuka Aktiengesellschaft in the role of an advisor until 

March 31, 2009. 

Effective October 1, 2008, Dr. Horst J. Kayser was appointed Chairman of the Executive Board and 

Labor Director of kuka Aktiengesellschaft. 

Dr. Jürgen Koch stepped down from his position as member of the Executive Board for Finance and 

Controlling on June 30, 2008 for personal reasons. 
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Effective July 1, 2008, Dr. Matthias J. Rapp was appointed Chief Financial Officer.

In fiscal 2008 the Executive Board consisted of three members: 

Until leaving the Executive Board, Gerhard Wiedemann, the Chairman of the Executive Board, was in 

particular responsible for strategic corporate development, public relations, senior group executives, 

personnel, and legal affairs as well as the Systems division, and also served as Labor Director. Dr. Kayser 

took over these responsibilities on October 1, 2008 as the successor to Mr. Wiedemann. Until leaving 

the Executive Board, Dr. Jürgen Koch was responsible in particular for finance and controlling, investor 

relations and m&a. Dr. Rapp took over these responsibilities on July 1, 2008 as the successor to Dr. Koch. 

In fiscal 2008 Mr. Bernd Liepert was responsible for the Robotics division, as well as for it and marketing.

reorganiz ation of the e xecutive board and establishment of a m anagement te a m 

beginning january 1,  20 0 9

As a result of the aforementioned new executive structure (page 87), beginning January 1, 2009, the 

Executive Board consists of the Chief Executive Officer, Dr. Horst J. Kayser, as well as the Chief Finan-

cial Officer, Dr. Matthias J. Rapp. Mr. Liepert stepped down from his position as member of the Execu-

tive Board of kuka Aktiengesellschaft effective December 31, 2008. 

Mr. Liepert, as chairman of the management board of kuka Roboter GmbH, became a member of the 

newly formed management team effective January 1, 2009. The management team consists of mem-

bers of the Executive Board of kuka Aktiengesellschaft as well as the chairmen of the management 

boards of kuka Roboter GmbH and kuka Systems GmbH. The latter are the divisional chairmen of 

kuka Aktiengesellschaft for the Robotics and Systems divisions, respectively. Beginning January 1, 2009, 

this newly formed management team will be complemented by the chairman of the management 

board of kuka Systems GmbH, Dr. Stefan Söhn. After the dismissal of Mr. Liepert as chairman of the 

management board of kuka Roboter GmbH effective February 4, 2009, Mr. Manfred Gundel has been 

appointed interim chairman of the management board of kuka Roboter GmbH. Beginning February 4, 

2009, Mr. Gundel is also a member of the management team and divisional chairman for the Robotics 

division as a part of his function.

The Executive Board of kuka Aktiengesellschaft has adapted its previous standard rules of procedure 

to the new executive structure effective January 1, 2009. At the same time, the members of the man-

agement team have established their own standard rules of procedure. 

As a rule, the Executive Board members convene at least every 14 days, and they also keep in constant 

close contact at other times. The Executive Board avoids conflicts of interest. The members of the 

management team also regularly convene every 14 days, and they keep in constant close contact at 

other times.
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compensation of the e xecutive board

The compensation of the Executive Board is described in the report on compensation below. 

supervisory board

The Supervisory Board is composed in accordance with the German Act on Company Co-Determination 

and consists of twelve members; six members are elected by the shareholders, and six by the employees.

The term of office for all members of the Supervisory Board ends with the adjournment of the Annual 

General Meeting on May 15, 2008. Supervisory Board shareholder representatives were elected at the 

company’s Annual General Meeting on May 15, 2008. Mr. Helmut Gierse was elected to the Supervi-

sory Board at the Annual General Meeting. Helmut Gierse took over the position of Prof. Dr.-Ing. Gerd 

Hirzinger, who stepped down from the Supervisory Board with the adjournment of the Annual General 

Meeting. Dr. Rolf Bartke, Dr. Reiner Beutel, Pepyn René Dinandt, Dr. Helmut Leube and Dr. Herbert 

Meyer were re-elected members of the Supervisory Board.

In October 2007, a voting procedure was introduced for electing employee representatives to the Super-

visory Board. The election of employee representatives took place on April 15, 2008. The election results 

were published on April 24, 2008 in the electronic edition of the Bundesanzeiger (German Federal Gazette).

The term of office for all newly elected members of the Supervisory Board began immediately at the 

close of the Annual General Meeting on May 15, 2008. In the constituent assembly on May 15, 2008, 

Dr. Rolf Barkte was elected Chairman of the newly elected Supervisory Board. Dr. Bartke has been Chair-

man of the Supervisory Board since 2005.

To the extent that members of the Supervisory Board were employed in a controlling position with 

important business partners, transactions with them were subject to the standard terms and condi-

tions for arms-length transactions. The members of the Supervisory Board complied and continue to 

comply with the criteria for independence under Section 5.4.2 cgc. Procedures continue to ensure 

that conflicts of interest are avoided (Section 5.5 cgc).

The following committees were established internally by the Supervisory Board: These are (i) the Arbi-

tration Panel in accordance with article 27, paragraph 3 of the German Act on Company Co-Determina-

tion (MitbestG), (ii) the Personnel Committee, (iii) the Audit Committee (Section 5.3.2 cgc) as well as 

(iv) the Nomination Committee (Section 5.3.3 cgc).

According to the regulations of the Corporate Governance Code, the Supervisory Board or the Audit 

Committee was engaged with compliance issues and the Executive Board reported to these commit-

tees accordingly.

It has been agreed with the independent auditor that the independent auditor will immediately report 

to the Supervisory Board any material findings or events that arise in the course of the audit of the 
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annual financial statements. Finally, it will also be agreed with the independent auditor that the inde-

pendent auditor will inform the Supervisory Board and / or note in the audit report any finding of facts 

during the performance of the audit, indicating that the declarations issued by the Executive Board and 

Supervisory Board with respect to the Code are in any way incorrect (Section 7.2.3 cgc). As ordered, the 

auditor reviewed the interim report per June 30, 2008. 

In the past year, the Supervisory Board again reviewed the efficiency of its activities (Section 5.6 cgc) 

pursuant to the regulations of the Corporate Governance Code at its meeting in September of 2008. 

The review was conducted on the basis of a questionnaire and provided a positive result. Moreover, 

the Supervisory Board resolved to involve the University of Witten / Herdecke to academically monitor 

the review of the Board’s efficiency. The academic monitoring covers a period from 2008 to 2010 within 

the scope of the research project “High-Performance Boards – Quality and Efficiency in the Supervisory 

Board Committee” led by the Institute for Corporate Governance at the University of Witten / Herdecke.

compensation of the supervisory board

The compensation of the Supervisory Board is described in the report on compensation below. 

shareholding

No member of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board holds more than 1 percent of the shares 

issued by kuka Aktiengesellschaft. The total shares of all Executive Board and Supervisory Board 

members do not exceed 1 percent.

corp or ate compliance 

kuka has always applied a high standard of ethical principles. Essential components are strict obedi-

ence to the law and value-oriented behavior. These form the basis of the Corporate Compliance Pro-

gram passed by the Executive Board in November 2007 and approved by the Supervisory Board in Decem-

ber 2007, which took effect throughout the corporation on February 1, 2008. The Corporate Compliance 

Program is currently embodied in a manual and a total of 15 guidelines, which deal with the fields of 

law and business activities relevant to the Group. According to the resolution of the Executive Board, 

the Chairman of the Board is the highest competence for this program. It is led, implemented, governed, 

and further developed by a Compliance Committee, formed on the level of kuka Aktiengesellschaft 

by five persons. Each company has appointed a Compliance Officer. The position of an external ombuds-

man has also been established. By the end of September 2008, the management of domestic and for-

eign Group companies across the globe had received instruction.

annual gener al mee ting

The ordinary Annual General Meeting 2009 will take place in Augsburg on April 29, 2009. 

Each share has one vote. Unit shares are issued and global certificates are created. The shares are bearer 

shares. The Executive Board makes it easier for shareholders to exercise their voting rights in the Annual 

General Meeting by offering them the right to issue powers of attorney to proxies who are appointed 
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by the company and are bound by directives of the shareholder. Shareholders present at the Annual 

General Meeting will also be able to reach the proxies appointed by the company at that meeting. It 

is also possible to issue powers of attorney to financial institutions, shareholder associations and 

other third parties.

accounting and audit of the annual financial statement s

Since 2004, the annual financial statements for the kuka Group have been prepared in accordance 

with the International Accounting Standards (ias) and the International Financial Reporting Standards 

(ifrs), as adopted by the European Union. The audit of the annual financial statements and of the 

Group consolidated financial statements is performed by an independent auditor, elected by the Annual 

General Meeting. Per proposal of the Supervisory Board, the Annual General Meeting 2008 elected 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Frankfurt / Main, as audi-

tor for the annual accounts and group auditor for the fiscal year 2008 as well as for a potential review 

of the midyear report of the fiscal year 2008. The midyear report of the fiscal year 2008 was reviewed 

by an auditor for the first time based on the aforementioned resolution.

The review of the independence of the auditor, the issuing of the audit assignment to him / her, the 

determination of audit focuses and the agreement on the fee are undertaken by the Audit Committee 

of the Supervisory Board in accordance with the provisions of the Corporate Governance Code.

opp or tunities and r isk m anagement and controlling 

A detailed description of the opportunities including controlling and risk management at the kuka 

Group is included in the chapter on risk management of the Annual Report on pages 60 – 66. In accord-

ance with legal requirements, the aim of risk management is the early recognition of risks that could 

jeopardize the continued existence of the kuka Group and its operating companies, in order to make 

it possible to take measures to minimize, transfer or avoid risk. The risk strategy and policy is particu-

larly guided by the business risks, financial markets risk, including currency risk, and the specific risks 

in the divisions – in each case from a short, intermediate and longer-term perspective. In particular, 

controlling is an essential tool of efficient risk management at the kuka Group.

kuka further optimized opportunity and risk management throughout the year 2008. The adaptation 

of opportunity and risk management to changes in the business environment is an ongoing task of the 

Executive Board.

financial rep or ting

The company informs its shareholders, the participants in the capital markets and the media about 

the condition as well as material business events at the company in particular through quarterly reports, 

midyear statements, the Annual Report, the financial press conference reporting on the annual finan-

cial statements, and the ordinary Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. In addition, it issues the 

Annual Document in accordance with article 10 wppg (Securities Prospectus Act), ad-hoc releases accord-

ing to article 15 wphg (German Securities Trading Act), notices according to article 15 a wphg (Direc-
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tors’ Dealings) and article 26 wphg (Disclosure of Shareholders and Owners of Certain Financial Instru-

ments), holds conferences with analysts, talks with analysts and investors in Germany and abroad, 

and issues other press releases. 

All such information is also communicated in the English language and is simultaneously published on 

the Internet. All regular financial reporting dates are published in the company’s financial calendar, 

which can be found on the back cover page of this annual report and on the website at www.kuka.com.

compensation report

The Report on Compensation forms part of the Corporate Governance Report and summarizes the basic 

principles used to establish the compensation of the Executive and Supervisory Boards of kuka Aktien

gesellschaft and explains the structure and level of remuneration of the members of the Executive and 

Supervisory Boards. The executive compensation report is an integral part of the management report.

compensation of the e xecutive board

The Executive Board members’ compensation consists of fixed and variable components. 

The fixed components comprise a base salary and payments in kind. The variable components include 

annually recurring components tied to business performance, as well as components that offer long-

range incentives and that are tied to risk taking. The base salary is paid in twelve equal monthly install-

ments. The payments in kind of the Executive Board members consist mainly of the use of company 

vehicles.

The variable component is granted in relation to kuka Group business performance indicators such as 

ebit, capital employed and free cash flow. The associated details are established annually by mutual 

agreement. The variable components include a cap.

Effective January 1, 2007, the members of the Executive Board signed a further contract agreeing that 

the company at its sole discretion may award an additional variable incentive payment for extraordinary 

performance.

In addition, a phantom share program that provides a long-term incentive was established for the Exec-

utive Board for the first time in 2006. Phantom shares are virtual shares that grant the holder the right 

to cash compensation at the level of the company’s current share price. In contrast to stock options, 

the revenue from phantom shares is based not only on the increase in share value, but the full value of 

the share. In addition, a dividend equivalent that mirrors the actual dividend distributed on real kuka 

shares is paid annually during the life of the plan for each virtual share held. There are no voting rights 

associated with phantom shares.
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The term of each phase of the program is three calendar years. It was rolled out for the first time for the 

period from 2006 to 2008. The present program covers the period 2008 to 2010. At the beginning of 

the three-year period, the Supervisory Board’s Personnel Committee establishes the amount to be allo-

cated. This amount is divided by kuka’s current share price, which establishes the preliminary number 

of phantom shares. Also at the beginning of the three-year performance period, the Personnel Commit-

tee establishes an eva (economic value added) for continuing operations (before taxes) based on the 

operative plan for the three reference years [ebit minus minimum interest rate on capital employed 

(ce) x 0.11 (0.09) = eva], which is based on the budget for the first business year of the three-year period 

and the plan for the two subsequent business years. The program for 2006 – 2008 and the program for 

2007 – 2009 have an interest rate of 11 percent. The program for 2008 – 2010 has an interest rate of 

9 percent. The cumulative eva of the three-year performance period is divided by the eva of continuing 

operations as per the operating budget for the three years covered by the agreement. The success fac-

tor can vary between 0 and 2.0. The final number of phantom shares depends on the degree of achieve-

ment of the success factor, by which the preliminary number of phantom shares is multiplied. At the 

upper limit, the number of phantom shares is doubled. Payment is based on the final number of phan-

tom shares at the closing share price (average price of kuka shares between January 1 of the year fol-

lowing the three reference years (following year) and the day preceding the first meeting of the Person-

nel Committee in the following year).

Each Executive Board member participating is obligated to apply 25 percent of the gross amount paid 

out in April of the following year to the purchase of kuka shares at the then current share price. This 

share purchase serves to build up a level of holdings established at 50 percent of annual base compen-

sation in the form of kuka shares starting in March of the following year. The obligation ends with 

the participant’s departure from the kuka Group. In the event of employment termination, initiated by 

either party, all allocated phantom shares expire.

The starting value for the phantom share program is defined as the average price of kuka’s stock bet

ween January 1 and the day preceding the first meeting of the company’s Supervisory Board Person-

nel Committee in the following year. The value was € 21.25 for the first phantom share program, € 21.91 

for the second phantom share program, and is € 21.65 for the current phantom share program.

The Supervisory Board’s Personnel Committee will decide anew each year whether or not to grant the 

Executive Board share-price-oriented compensation. The repeated granting of such compensation in 

the past does not constitute a right to being granted such or comparable compensation in the future. 

The objective of the program is to ensure that every member of the Executive Board is also a kuka share-

holder. It promotes share ownership among members of kuka’s Executive Board and thereby ties the 

interests of these corporate members more closely to the interests of the shareholders. Changing suc-

cess targets or comparative parameters retroactively is prohibited.
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The company approved benefits from the company pension scheme for two members of the Executive 

Board, comprising vested rights to pension payments, as well as widow’s and orphan’s pensions. No 

loans were granted to Executive Board members during the reporting period. 

compensation for 20 0 8

Payments granted to members of the Executive Board during the 2008 business year totaled € 3,504,000.

The payments for the 2008 business year include the fixed salary, payments in kind, variable target 

achievement and performance-based compensation and compensation in accordance with the phantom 

share program. This total includes all amounts that were paid out in 2008, or for which accruals were 

formed in the financial statements as of December 31, 2008, minus the amounts accrued as of Decem-

ber 31, 2007.

The variable performance-related annual incentive payment had three equally weighted components 

related to achievement of target ebit, capital employed and cash flow during the 2008 business year. 

In the event the targets are achieved, the variable incentive is paid to each Executive Board member in 

the form of a predefined sum in euros. In the event of an over or under achievement of the targets, the 

variable incentive is prorated on the basis of the over or under achievement, which can result in a pay-

ment of twice the nominal amount at a maximum, or a reduction to € 0.00 in the opposite case.

The relationship between base salary and performance-based components on an individual basis is 

shown in the following table: 

in € thousands

Fixed salary 

including pay-

ments in kind *
Incentive payment 

for fiscal 2008

Phantom Share 

Programs granted 

volume (fair value at 

the time of granting) Total

Gerhard Wiedemann (until September 30, 2008) 448 ** 241 83 772

Dr. Horst J. Kayser (from October 1, 2008) 102 100 166 368

Dr. Jürgen Koch (until June 30, 2008) 744 *** 435 0 1,179

Dr. Matthias J. Rapp (from July 1, 2008) 155 91 200 446

Bernd Liepert 408 **** 181 150 739

3,504 *****

        * �Payments in kind comprise the use of company cars, payment of hotel costs at the company’s headquarters, travel costs and premiums for accident insurance. 
The premium for d&o insurance, unlike that for accident insurance, is not included in the payments in kind because it cannot be allocated on an individual 
basis since the company pays a flat premium for the protected group of persons, which extends beyond the members of the Executive Board. 

      ** �Incl. dividend of € 23,000.

    *** �Incl. dividend, severance, pro-rata variable incentive for 2009 and payment from the phantom share programs € 557,000.

  **** �Incl. dividend of € 18,000.

***** �Due to the period-related definition of the different phantom share programs, € 2,578,000 in the 2008 business year was recognized in the income statement 
as executive compensation other than that shown here.
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        phantom shar e pro gr a m 20 0 6  –  20 0 8

Volume granted 

in € thousands  

(fair value at the 

time of granting)

Initial share price 

of kuka shares in € 

Preliminary 

number of 

phantom shares

Gerhard Wiedemann 100 21.25 4,706

Dr. Jürgen Koch 150 21.25 5,883 *

Bernd Liepert 100 21.25 4,706

* Calculated and paid pro rata to June 30, 2008.

        phantom shar e pro gr a m 20 07  –  20 0 9

Volume granted 

in € thousands  

(fair value at the 

time of granting)

Initial share price 

of kuka shares in € 

Preliminary 

number of 

phantom shares

Gerhard Wiedemann 150 21.913 6,845 *

Dr. Jürgen Koch 150 21.913 3,423 **

Bernd Liepert 150 21.913 6,846

Dr. Matthias J. Rapp 75 21.913 3,423 ***

Dr. Horst J. Kayser 50 21.913 2,282 ****

      * Pro rata to September 30, 2008.

    ** Calculated and paid pro rata to June 30, 2008.

  *** Pro rata from July 1, 2008.

**** Pro rata from October 1, 2008.

        phantom shar e pro gr a m 20 0 8  –  2010

Volume granted 

in € thousands  

(fair value at the 

time of granting)

Initial share price 

of kuka shares in € 

Preliminary 

number of 

phantom shares

Gerhard Wiedemann 83 21.65 3,849 *

Dr. Horst J. Kayser 116 21.65 5,389 * 

Dr. Jürgen Koch – – –

Dr. Matthias J. Rapp 125 21.65 5,773 *

Bernd Liepert 150 21.65 6,928

* Pro rata
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Accruals are made for the expected payments resulting from this according to the ratio from the balance 

sheet date. The preliminary number of phantom shares, which has been assessed with the success fac-

tor achieved at that time, is multiplied by the kuka share price as of the key date. The corresponding 

accruals amount to:

phantom shar e pro gr a m 20 0 6  –  20 0 8

in € thousands

Accrual as at 

December 31, 2008

Gerhard Wiedemann 37

Dr. Horst J. Kayser 0

Dr. Jürgen Koch 0

Dr. Matthias J. Rapp 0

Bernd Liepert 37

        phantom shar e pro gr a m 20 07  –  20 0 9

in € thousands

Accrual as at 

December 31, 2008

Gerhard Wiedemann 82

Dr. Horst J. Kayser 5

Dr. Jürgen Koch 0

Dr. Matthias J. Rapp 13

Bernd Liepert 51

        phantom shar e pro gr a m 20 0 8  –  2010

in € thousands

Accrual as at 

December 31, 2008

Gerhard Wiedemann 65

Dr. Horst J. Kayser 3

Dr. Jürgen Koch 0

Dr. Matthias J. Rapp 5

Bernd Liepert 11

The extent to which members of the Executive Board are entitled to benefits from the company pension 

plan is as follows: 

Messrs. Wiedemann and Liepert were entitled to company pension plan benefits from the Group’s com-

panies of which they were or are the chairman. These obligations were transferred to kuka Aktienge

sellschaft on April 1, 2006. The Group’s companies will be charged for the time prior to the transfer. The 
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employer’s pension commitment for Mr. Wiedemann includes a maximum old-age pension of € 36,000 

per annum and for Mr. Liepert a maximum of € 6,000 per annum. It also includes provisions regarding 

a vocational and employment disability pension, widow’s pension (60 percent of the old-age pension) 

and orphan’s pension (12 percent of the old-age pension for half-orphans and 24 percent for full-orphans). 

If pension payments are started early, the payout is reduced by 1 percent of the final pension amount 

for each quarter year prior to the pensioner’s 65th birthday that the pension payments begin. 

In 2008, the following amounts were added to pension accruals: 

in € thousands Addition

Gerhard Wiedemann 44

Dr. Jürgen Koch –

Bernd Liepert 2

The variable component payment for Messrs. Wiedemann and Liepert will be reduced by an amount 

equal to the annual contribution to the pension accrual from 2006 onward. 

The former Executive Board member, Dieter Schäfer, who already stepped down from his position as 

member of the Executive Board in the 2007 business year, was permitted to use his company vehicle 

until December 30, 2008, the originally agreed end of the employment contract. Other payments to 

former members of the Executive Board were not granted in the 2008 business year.

With a few exceptions, former Executive Board members have been granted benefits from the company 

pension scheme, which include old-age, vocational and employment disability, widow’s and orphan’s 

pensions. The amount of accruals included for this group of persons in 2008 for current pensions and 

vested pension benefits totals € 9,080,000, compared to € 8,853,000 in 2007.

kuka Aktiengesellschaft has no compensation agreements with the members of the Executive Board 

or the employees that would come into effect in the event of a take-over bid.

compensation of the supervisory board

Compensation structure

A resolution was passed at the Annual General Meeting of the Company on January 1, 2006, which 

changed the articles of association to require fixed compensation for members of the Supervisory Board. 

In addition to reimbursement of expenses, each member of the Supervisory Board will be paid a fixed 

amount of € 30,000, payable following the end of the business year. 
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The Chairman of the Supervisory Board will be paid four times that amount, and the deputy chairman’s 

compensation will be double. For chairing the Annual General Meeting, provided it was not chaired by 

the Chairman of the Supervisory Board, and for membership in one or more committees that were not 

of an interim nature, Supervisory Board members are paid an additional sum of € 30,000. A commit-

tee chairman will be paid at most 1 1/2 times the annual remuneration, even if he chairs several com-

mittees or is a member of another committee; this does not apply to the committee as per article 27, 

paragraph 3 of the MitbestG (German Act on Company Co-Determination). 

In addition, for each Supervisory Board meeting, each Supervisory Board member will have a choice of 

either being reimbursed for expenses or receiving a lump sum payment of € 450 per sitting plus appli-

cable value added tax. This option may only be declared once per year. 

Compensation for 2007 and 2008

The principles outlined for compensation of the members of the Supervisory Board were already appli-

cable to the compensation for the 2007 financial year due in 2008. The following table compares the 

compensation of the members of the Supervisory Board for the 2007 and 2008 business years.

in € thousands

Payment for 2008 

(compensation  

for 2007) 

Accrual in 2008  

(compensation  

for 2008) 

Dr. Rolf Bartke  

Chairman of the Supervisory Board and Chairman of the Personnel Committee

 

165

 

165

Mirko Geiger  

Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board (until May 15, 2008)

 

90

 

33

Jürgen Kerner  

Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board (from May 15, 2008)

 

0

 

57

Jürgen Kerner (until May 15, 2008) 30 11

Walter Prues 60 60

Dr. Reiner Beutel 60 60

Dr. Herbert Meyer  

Chairman of the Audit Committee

 

75

 

75

Pepyn René Dinandt 30 30

Dr.-Ing. Helmut Leube 30 30

Herbert R. Meyer (until May 15, 2008) 30 11

Fritz Seifert 30 30

Wilhelm Steinhart (until May 15, 2008) 30 11

Prof. Dr.-Ing. Gerd Hirzinger (until May 15, 2008) 30 11

Helmut Gierse (from May 15, 2008) 0 19

Wilfried Eberhardt (from May 15, 2008) 0 19

Siegfried Greulich (from May 15, 2008) 0 19

Thomas Knabel (from May 15, 02008) 0 19
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group income statement
of kuka Aktiengesellschaft for the period January 1 – December 31, 2008

in € thousands notes 2007 2008

sales revenue 1 1,286,367 1,266,115

Costs of sales 2 – 1,028,137 – 1,005,329

gross income 258,230 260,786

Selling expenses 2 – 83,378 – 91,678

Research and development expenses 2 – 30,776 – 33,711

General and administrative expenses 2 – 69,349 – 81,867

Other operating income and expenses 3 – 4,278 – 1,513

earnings from operating activities 70,449 52,017

Write-off of financial assets 4 – 91 0

Interest income 5 5,476 9,679

Interest expense 5 – 13,379 – 14,696

financial results – 7,994 – 5,017

earnings before tax 62,455 47,000

Taxes on income 6 – 13,638 – 16,448

earnings from continuing operations 48,817 30,552

Earnings from operating activities of discontinued operations – 2,687 0

Result from the disposal of discontinued operations 71,798 0

result from discontinued operations 7 69,111 0

annual net profit 117,928 30,552

Annual net profit attributable to minority interests 49 61

Annual net profit attributable to kuka 117,879 30,491

Earnings per share (basic) 8 4.43 1.18

  (of that discontinued operations) 8 (2.60) (0.00)

 
Group income statement
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group balance sheet
of kuka Aktiengesellschaft as at December 31, 2008

        a sse t s

in € thousands notes Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2008

non-current assets  

Fixed assets 9

Intangible assets 10 69,497 74,200

Property, plant and equipment 11 91,928 93,062

Participations in associated companies 12 36 0

Financial investments 12 1,631 366

163,092 167,628

Long-term finance lease receivables 13 0 81,996

Long-term tax receivables 12,821 11,603

Other long-term receivables and other assets 9,849 10,226

Deferred taxes 6 31,104 26,554

216,866 298,007

current assets

Inventories 14 150,020 151,454

Receivables and other assets

Trade receivables 15 178,912 164,414

Receivables from construction contracts 15 92,995 167,101

Receivables from affiliated companies 15 3,585 367

Current Finance lease receivables 13 0 3,267

Current tax receivables 10,736 22,809

Other assets, prepaid expenses and deferred charges 16 11,887 16,710

298,115 374,668

Cash and cash equivalents 17 223,171 41,349

671,306 567,471

888,172 865,478
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        equit y and l iabil it ies

in € thousands notes Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2008

equity 19  

Subscribed capital 20 69,160 69,160

Capital reserve 21 26,581 26,581

Revenue reserves 22 136,437 116,299

Minority interests 23 1,356 1,494

233,534 213,534

non-current liabilities, provisions and accruals 28

Non-current financial liabilities 29 59,059 61,332

Other non-current liabilities 30 11,519 13,174

Pensions and similar obligations 25 73,859 68,458

Deferred taxes 6 4,719 13,082

149,156 156,046

current liabilities 28

Current financial liabilities 29 516 33,629

Trade payables 148,880 149,062

Advances received 35,374 36,744

Liabilities from construction contracts 15 72,403 54,603

Accounts payable to affiliated companies 144 203

Other current liabilities and deferred income 30 85,319 102,891

Provision for taxes 26 36,561 11,293

Other provisions 27 126,285 107,473

505,482 495,898

888,172 865,478

 
Group balance sheet
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cash flow statement

in € millions 2007 * 2008 *

net income for the year 117.9 30.6

Result from the disposal of discontinued operations – 71.8 0.0

Amortization of intangible assets 9.1 8.9

Depreciation of tangible assets 20.0 17.1

Write-off of financial assets 0.1 0.0

Other non-payment related expenses / income 5.9 12.8

cash earnings 81.2 69.4

Result on the disposal of assets – 17.0 – 2.0

Changes in provisions 23.6 – 47.9

Changes in current assets and liabilities:

  Changes in inventories – 8.8 0.2

  Changes in receivables and deferred charges 11.5 – 80.3

  Changes in liabilities and deferred income (excl. financial debt) – 28.2 – 0.6

cash flow from operating activities 62.3 – 61.2

(of that discontinued operations) (– 9.9) (0.0)

Payments from disposals of fixed assets 39.1 3.9

Payments for capital expenditures on intangible assets – 14.8 – 13.6

Payments for capital expenditures on tangible assets – 15.9 – 18.9

Payments for investments in financial assets – 1.0 0.0

Outgoing payments in connection with the sale of consolidated companies 
and other business units

 
154.3

 
0.0

Payments for the acquisition of consolidated companies 	
and other business units

 
– 0.4

 
–

Payments for the acquisition of finance lease receivables 0.0 – 77.1

cash flow from investing activities 161.3 – 105.7

(of that discontinued operations) (– 3.9) (0.0)

free cash flow 223.6 – 166.9

Payments for the acquisition of treasury shares 0.0 – 27.9

Payments of dividends 0.0 – 26.1

Payments for repaying liabilities due to banks and liabilities similar to bonds – 71.2 35.3

cash flow from financing activities – 71.2 – 18.7

(of that discontinued operations) (3.9) (0.0)

payment-related changes in cash and cash equivalents 152.4 – 185.6

(of that discontinued operations) (– 9.9) (0.0)

Exchange rate-related and other changes in cash and cash equivalents – 4.1 3.7

(of that discontinued operations) (– 3.5) (0.0)

changes in cash and cash equivalents 148.3 – 181.9

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 74.9 223.2

(of that discontinued operations) (13.4) (0.0)

cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period** 223.2 41.3

(of that discontinued operations) (0.0) (0.0)

(of that continuing operations ) (223.2) (41.3)
	

  * Please see discussion of the cash flow statement in the Notes to the financial statements, p. 157.
** Funds on hand correspond to the item “Cash and cash equivalents” on the balance sheet. 
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statement of recognized  
income and expense

in € millions 2007 2008

Currency translation differences – 8.3 – 0.3

Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit pension plans 	
and similar commitments

 
9.9

 
3.4

Deferred taxes on items offset directly against equity – 3.2 – 1.0

income and expense recognized directly in equity – 1.6 2.1

Group annual net loss / profit 117.9 30.6

total income and expense recognized in equity 116.3 32.7

(of which: attributable to minority interests) (0.0) (0.1)

(of which: attributable to kuka) (116.3) (32.6)

(of which: changes in accounting policies) (6.7) (0.0)

 
Cash flow statement / 
Statement of recognized 
income and expense
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group notes for the financial year 2008

development of group equit y

The development of Group equity was as follows:

notes 20 21 22 23

Revenue reserves

Number of shares 
outstanding

Subscribed capital 
in € millions

Capital reserve 
in € millions

Treasury stock 
in € millions

Other 
revenue reserves 

in € millions

Translation 
gains / losses 
in € millions

Net retained 
earnings 

in € millions

Equity to 
shareholders 
in € millions

Minority interests 
in € millions

Total  
in € millions

December 31, 2006 26,600,000 69.2 29.9 0.0 22.6 – 2.7 0.0 119.0 1.5 120.5

Other changes and changes in ownership – – – 3.4 – 0.2 – – – 3.2 – 0.1 – 3.3

Income and expense recognized directly 
in equity

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
6.7

 
– 8.3

 
–

 
– 1.6

 
–

 
– 1.6

Group net profit for the year – – – – – 2.8 115.1 117.9 – 117.9

kuka ag dividend – – – – – – – – – 0.0

December 31, 2007 26,600,000 69.2 26.5 0.0 29.5 – 8.2 115.1 232.1 1.4 233.5

Other changes and changes in ownership – – – – 1.3 – – 1.3 – 1.3

Income and expense recognized directly 
in equity

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
2.4

 
– 0.3

 
–

 
2.1

 
–

 
2.1

Share buy-back – 1,327,340 – – – 27.9 – – – – 27.9 – – 27.9

Group net profit for the year – – – – – – 30.5 30.5 0.1 30.6

kuka ag dividend – – – – – – – 26.1 – 26.1 – – 26.1

December 31, 2008 25,272,660 69.2 26.5 – 27.9 33.2 – 8.5 119.5 212.0 1.5 213.5
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notes 20 21 22 23

Revenue reserves

Number of shares 
outstanding

Subscribed capital 
in € millions

Capital reserve 
in € millions

Treasury stock 
in € millions

Other 
revenue reserves 

in € millions

Translation 
gains / losses 
in € millions

Net retained 
earnings 

in € millions

Equity to 
shareholders 
in € millions

Minority interests 
in € millions

Total  
in € millions

December 31, 2006 26,600,000 69.2 29.9 0.0 22.6 – 2.7 0.0 119.0 1.5 120.5

Other changes and changes in ownership – – – 3.4 – 0.2 – – – 3.2 – 0.1 – 3.3

Income and expense recognized directly 
in equity

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
6.7

 
– 8.3

 
–

 
– 1.6

 
–

 
– 1.6

Group net profit for the year – – – – – 2.8 115.1 117.9 – 117.9

kuka ag dividend – – – – – – – – – 0.0

December 31, 2007 26,600,000 69.2 26.5 0.0 29.5 – 8.2 115.1 232.1 1.4 233.5

Other changes and changes in ownership – – – – 1.3 – – 1.3 – 1.3

Income and expense recognized directly 
in equity

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
2.4

 
– 0.3

 
–

 
2.1

 
–

 
2.1

Share buy-back – 1,327,340 – – – 27.9 – – – – 27.9 – – 27.9

Group net profit for the year – – – – – – 30.5 30.5 0.1 30.6

kuka ag dividend – – – – – – – 26.1 – 26.1 – – 26.1

December 31, 2008 25,272,660 69.2 26.5 – 27.9 33.2 – 8.5 119.5 212.0 1.5 213.5

 
Group notes
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group segment reporting

        segment r ep or ting by div ision
 
 

Robotics

 
 

Systems

kuka Aktiengesellschaft, 
Other Companies and 

Reconciliation / Consolidation items Continuing Operations 

in € millions 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008

Group external sales revenue 380.0 430.6 897.2 834.6 9.2 0.9 1,286.4 1,266.1

as a % of Group sales revenue 29.5 34.0 69.7 65.9 0.8 0.1 100.0 100.0

Intra-Group sales 32.9 43.8 2.8 2.9 – 35.7 – 46.7 – –

sales revenue by division 412.9 474.4 900.0 837.5 – 26.5 – 45.8 1,286.4 1,266.1

ebit 33.6 42.0 37.2 26.8 – 0.4 – 16.8 70.4 52.0

as a % of sales revenues of the division 8.1 8.9 4.1 3.2 – – 5.5 4.1

as a % of Group external sales revenue 8.8 9.8 4.1 3.2 – – 5.5 4.1

as a % of capital employed (roce) 34.6 37.2 51.0 20.2 – – 41.6 21.5

Capital Employed (annual average) 97.1 112.9 73.0 132.7 – 0.7 – 3.3 169.4 242.3

Assets 239.7 255.4 367.1 532.6 13.5 – 2.5 620.3 785.5

Liabilities 142.5 138.8 331.6 319.3 72.3 74.4 546.4 532.5

Capital expenditure 16.1 18.4 6.9 12.2 3.4 1.9 26.4 32.5

Deprecation / amortization of 
intangible and tangible assets

 
12.2

 
12.9

 
11.3

 
10.7

 
2.4

 
2.4

 
25.9

 
26.0

Impairment losses on intangible 
and tangible assets

 
0.5

 
–

 
0.5

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
1.0

 
–

Payroll (annual average) 1,958 2,164 3,599 3,688 111 133 5,668 5,985

        segment r ep or ting by r egion

Germany Other Europe North America Other Regions / Reconciliation Continuing Operations 

in € millions 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008

Group external sales revenue 465.4 514.3 257.6 306.3 414.3 321.0 149.1 124.5 1,286.4 1,266.1

as a % of Group sales revenue 36.2 40.6 20.0 24.2 32.2 25.4 11.6 9.8 100.0 100.0

Capital Employed (annual average) 68.1 115.9 50.6 50.0 58.4 86.9 – 7.7 – 10.5 169.4 242.3

Assets 396.1 555.8 138.4 157.0 116.9 233.2 – 31.1 – 160.5 620.3 785.5

Capital expenditure 20.1 21.0 3.3 8.0 2.3 1.9 0.7 1.6 26.4 32.5

Payroll (annual average) 3,240 3,375 1,229 1,305 986 1,005 213 300 5,668 5,985



1 0 9g r o u p  m a n a g e m e n t  r e p o r to v e r v i e w f i n an c i a l  s tat emen t s d i v i s i o n s

 
 

Robotics

 
 

Systems

kuka Aktiengesellschaft, 
Other Companies and 

Reconciliation / Consolidation items Continuing Operations 

in € millions 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008

Group external sales revenue 380.0 430.6 897.2 834.6 9.2 0.9 1,286.4 1,266.1

as a % of Group sales revenue 29.5 34.0 69.7 65.9 0.8 0.1 100.0 100.0

Intra-Group sales 32.9 43.8 2.8 2.9 – 35.7 – 46.7 – –

sales revenue by division 412.9 474.4 900.0 837.5 – 26.5 – 45.8 1,286.4 1,266.1

ebit 33.6 42.0 37.2 26.8 – 0.4 – 16.8 70.4 52.0

as a % of sales revenues of the division 8.1 8.9 4.1 3.2 – – 5.5 4.1

as a % of Group external sales revenue 8.8 9.8 4.1 3.2 – – 5.5 4.1

as a % of capital employed (roce) 34.6 37.2 51.0 20.2 – – 41.6 21.5

Capital Employed (annual average) 97.1 112.9 73.0 132.7 – 0.7 – 3.3 169.4 242.3

Assets 239.7 255.4 367.1 532.6 13.5 – 2.5 620.3 785.5

Liabilities 142.5 138.8 331.6 319.3 72.3 74.4 546.4 532.5

Capital expenditure 16.1 18.4 6.9 12.2 3.4 1.9 26.4 32.5

Deprecation / amortization of 
intangible and tangible assets

 
12.2

 
12.9

 
11.3

 
10.7

 
2.4

 
2.4

 
25.9

 
26.0

Impairment losses on intangible 
and tangible assets

 
0.5

 
–

 
0.5

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
1.0

 
–

Payroll (annual average) 1,958 2,164 3,599 3,688 111 133 5,668 5,985

        segment r ep or ting by r egion

Germany Other Europe North America Other Regions / Reconciliation Continuing Operations 

in € millions 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008

Group external sales revenue 465.4 514.3 257.6 306.3 414.3 321.0 149.1 124.5 1,286.4 1,266.1

as a % of Group sales revenue 36.2 40.6 20.0 24.2 32.2 25.4 11.6 9.8 100.0 100.0

Capital Employed (annual average) 68.1 115.9 50.6 50.0 58.4 86.9 – 7.7 – 10.5 169.4 242.3

Assets 396.1 555.8 138.4 157.0 116.9 233.2 – 31.1 – 160.5 620.3 785.5

Capital expenditure 20.1 21.0 3.3 8.0 2.3 1.9 0.7 1.6 26.4 32.5

Payroll (annual average) 3,240 3,375 1,229 1,305 986 1,005 213 300 5,668 5,985
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gener al comments

accounting principles

kuka Aktiengesellschaft, Zugspitzstraße 140, 86165 Augsburg, has prepared its Group consolidated financial 

statements for the period ending December 31, 2008 according to the International Accounting Standards 

(ias) and the International Financial Reporting Standards (ifrs) of the International Accounting Standards 

Board (iasb), the interpretations of the Standing Interpretation Committee (sic) as well as the International 

Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee (ifric). The applied accounting principles were applicable and 

approved by the European Union as of the balance sheet date and were supplemented by the guidelines 

stipulated in article 315a, paragraph 1 of the German Commercial Code (hgb). The statements comply with 

all standards (ifrs / ias) and interpretations (ifrics) for which application is mandatory for the 2008 finan-

cial year. As a general rule, the accounting and valuation policies used conform to the methods applied in 

the prior year except for the standards and interpretations for which application is mandatory for the first 

time in the 2008 financial year. The newly applied standards and interpretations are listed under changes to 

accounting and measurement policies. 

The Group consolidated financial statements are in compliance with German law. The numbers for the prior 

year were prepared according to these same standards. With the exception of specific financial instruments 

reported in fair values, the Group consolidated financial statements are prepared based on historical acqui-

sition or production costs. 

The Group consolidated financial statements have been prepared in euros. Unless otherwise noted, all amounts 

are stated in millions of euros (€ million). The report on emoluments represents an exception, providing infor-

mation in thousands of euros (€ thousand). 

The Executive Board authorized the consolidated financial statements for publication on February 23, 2009.

consolidation principles

Subsidiaries directly or indirectly controlled by kuka ag according to ias 27 or sic 12 (“Control Concept”) 

are consolidated in the Group financial statements according to the rules of full consolidation.

The Group consolidated financial statements are based on the financial statements of kuka Aktiengesell

schaft and those of the consolidated subsidiaries and were prepared according to the uniform accounting and 

valuation policies for the Group. The consolidation of investments in subsidiaries capital was performed 

by elimination of the carrying amount of the participation against the proportionate equity in the subsidi-

ary restated as at the date of acquisition. In line with ifrs 3, any positive differences are capitalized as good-

will under intangible assets. Any negative differences must be recognized in the income statement. 

Intra-Group sales, expenses, earnings, as well as receivables and payables are netted, and inter-company 

profits and losses are eliminated. The deferred tax entries required in connection with the consolidation 

processes have been recorded.

Guarantees and warranties that kuka Aktiengesellschaft issues on behalf of consolidated subsidiaries are 

eliminated provided they do not have an external effect.
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scope of consolidation

In addition to kuka Aktiengesellschaft, the Group consolidated financial statements include seven companies 

registered in Germany (prior year: ten) as well as 38 companies domiciled outside of Germany (prior year: 33) 

on whose behalf kuka Aktiengesellschaft exercises directly or indirectly uniform control. 

The following changes to the scope of consolidation occurred in 2008:

First-time consolidations

The following companies, which had previously not been consolidated because of their relative insignificance 

were included in the scope of consolidation for the first time this year:

Systems division

	 kuka Sistemy ooo, Togliatti / Russia

Robotics division

	 kuka Robot Automation Taiwan Co. Ltd., Chung-Li City / Taiwan

	 kuka Robotics Japan k. k., Tokio / Japan

	 kuka Robotics ooo, Moscow / Russia

The incorporation of the first-time consolidations had no material effect on the net assets, financial posi-

tion and results of operations of the Group.

kuka Robotics Canada Ltd., Saint John / Canada, was re-established on November 20, 2008. 

Other changes to the scope of consolidations

In the 2008 financial year, the following mergers took place effective January 1, 2008 between companies 

within the scope of consolidation:

	 kuka ProTec GmbH, Augsburg into kuka Roboter GmbH, Augsburg

	 �kuka Dienstleistungs-GmbH, Augsburg, into iwka Anlagen-Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Augsburg. In a 

second step, iwka Anlagen-Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Augsburg, was renamed kuka Dienstleistungs-

GmbH, Augsburg. 

	 �iwka Produktionstechnik GmbH, Augsburg, into Bopp & Reuther Anlagen-Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, 

Mannheim. 

Discontinued operations 

ifrs 5 requires a separate disclosure of assets (companies) that are no longer intended to remain as part of 

continuing operations but are intended for disposal. 

The following criteria, which are intended to ascertain that the sale of these companies is highly probable, 

were adhered to, and companies to which they applied were classified as Discontinued Operations:

	 �The management level authorized to make the necessary decisions must be committed to the planned sale. 

Additionally, active efforts to identify a buyer must have been initiated. The companies intended for sale 

must be actively marketed for sale at a price that approximately corresponds to their current fair value.

	 �These companies must be available for immediate sale in their present condition.

	 �The likelihood must be strong that the execution and closing of this sale can be expected within twelve 

months from the date of reclassification.
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As of the date of the classification as assets intended for disposal, the long term assets of these companies 

are no longer subject to scheduled depreciation. The assets and liabilities are recognized at the lower of 

their carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell. 

The information on discontinued operations only applies for the prior year numbers and has been separately 

disclosed in the income statement with no valuation adjustment. No prior-period adjustment has been made 

on the balance sheet. For the income statement, the numbers for all companies categorized as discontinued 

operations as of December 31, 2007 were reported in accordance with ifrs 5 and shown as earnings from 

discontinued operations.

The earnings from discontinued operations for the prior year therefore include the earnings from the follow-

ing Packaging division companies, which were sold to a fund of the Berlin-based holding company Odewald 

& Compagnie Gesellschaft für Beteiligungen mbH on April 19, 2007:

	 �a + f Automation + Fördertechnik GmbH, Kirchlengern

	 �Benz & Hilgers GmbH, Neuss

	 �bw International Inc., Davenport / usa

	 �bw International (Holdings) Ltd., Altrincham / Great Britain

	 �bwi plc, Altrincham / Great Britain

	 �erca Formseal Iberica s. a., Barcelona / Spain

	 �erca Formseal s. a., Les Ulis / France

	 �Fabrima Máquinas Automáticas Ltda., São Paulo / Brazil

	 �gasti Verpackungsmaschinen GmbH, Schwäbisch Hall

	 �hassia Verpackungsmaschinen GmbH, Ranstadt

	 �Hassia Redatron Packaging Machinery Pvt. Ltd., Pune / India

	 �iwka Packaging usa Inc, Morganville / usa

	 �Hüttlin GmbH, Steinen

	 �iwk Packaging Machinery Ltd., Bangkok / Thailand

	 �iwk Verpackungstechnik GmbH, Stutensee

	 �iwka Packaging Systems GmbH, Kirchlengern

	 �iwka Packaging Verwaltungs GmbH, Stutensee

	 �iwka Packaging ooo, Moscow / Russia

	 �iwka pacsystems Inc., Fairfield / usa

	 �r. a. Jones Inc., Covington / usa

	 �Packaging Technologies Inc., Davenport / usa

	 �Tecmar sa, Mar del Plata / Argentina

as well as four non-consolidated participations and two associated companies. Profits from the sale and the 

results from the disposal of discontinued operations were reported at the time of the sale on April 19, 2007.

currenc y tr ansl ation

Receivables and payables denominated in foreign currency are translated as at the balance sheet date using 

an average rate. Any associated translation gains or losses are recorded as gains or losses under other oper-

ating income or expenses.
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The annual financial statements of the consolidated foreign subsidiaries are translated from their functional 

currency (ias 21) into euros. For almost all foreign companies, this is the respective local currency, since 

they operate predominantly within their currency area. The sole exception is kuka Robotics Hungária Ipari 

Kft., Taksony / Hungary, which converted to the euro as its functional currency in 2007, since it conducts 

business predominantly in euros. 

Accordingly, all assets and liabilities are translated at the rate effective on the balance sheet date. Goodwill 

and equity are translated using historical rates. Income and expenses are translated using average rates for 

the year. The translation of annual profits or losses on the income statement is also done at average rates 

for the year. Differences arising from the translation of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign curren-

cies compared to their translation in the prior year, as well as translation differences between the income 

statement and the balance sheet are recognized in the revenue reserves. 

accounting and valuation

Goodwill

Within the framework of the rules under ifrs 3, goodwill is recognized using the “impairment only” approach 

and is tested for impairment at least annually.

The impairment test is performed for the defined cash generating units as per ias 36 rules, using the dis-

counted cash flow method. The data from the detail planning phase from the business plan for the next 

three years was used as the underlying data for this purpose, assuming in subsequent years that the annual 

cash flows will generally equal those in year three. For the sake of simplication, the perpetuity calculation 

further assumes that investments equal depreciation / amortization expense and the working capital remains 

unchanged.

With respect to the segment-specific discount rates as well as the further parameters and their derivation, 

and also for the identification of the principal items of goodwill, please refer to the discussions under item 10.

Self-developed software and other development costs

Development costs for newly developed products or internally generated intangible assets (for instance, soft-

ware) are capitalized provided that the technical feasibility and commercialization of the newly developed 

products are assured, that this will result in an inflow of economic benefits to the Group, and that the further 

requirements of ias 38.57 have been met. In this context, the costs of production encompass the costs 

directly and indirectly attributable to the cost of development. According to ias 38, expenditures on research 

are recognized as expenses when they are incurred.

Scheduled depreciation commences when the asset is put into use and is recognized over the expected useful 

life of, as a rule, one to three years, using either the straight-line or unit-based method. Moreover, the value 

recognized for capitalized costs of development projects not yet completed is subject to impairment tests.

Other intangible assets

Purchased intangible assets, predominantly software, are recognized at their acquisition cost and are amor-

tized as scheduled over their expected useful life of three to five years using the straight-line method.

The kuka Group does not carry any assets with an undefined useful life with the exception of goodwill.
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Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment for continuing operations are recognized at acquisition or production costs 

less scheduled depreciation, which is generally applied using the straight-line method. If the depreciation 

according to the declining balance method better reflects the wear and tear of movable tangible assets, 

this method is applied. The selected depreciation method is continuously reviewed.

In addition to directly attributable costs, the costs of production for internally generated assets also include 

a proportionate share of overhead costs. Interest on borrowed capital is recognized as an expense when it 

is incurred.

Scheduled depreciation is based predominantly on the following periods of useful life:

in years

Buildings 25 – 50

Property facilities 2 – 15

Technical plant and equipment 2 – 15

Other equipment 2 – 15

Factory and office equipment 2 – 15

Impairment charges of intangible and tangible assets are recorded in accordance with ias 36 if the recover-

able amount of the asset is less than its carrying amount. In this context, the recoverable amount is the 

higher of the net realisable value and the value in use of the asset in question. If the reasons for an impair-

ment recorded in prior years no longer apply, the impairment is reversed.

Government grants

In accordance with ias 20, government grants are recognized only if there is reasonable assurance that the 

conditions attaching to them will be complied with and that the grants will be received. 

Government grants related to assets (for instance investment subsidies and allowances) are deducted from 

the acquisition or production costs of the relevant asset. Grants related to income are recognized in the 

income statement.

Finance and operating lease

In connection with finance leases, ownership is attributed to the lessee in cases in which the latter assumes 

substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership (ias 17). Provided that the ownership is attrib-

utable to the kuka Group, such leases are capitalized as at the date of the lease agreement at their fair value 

or at the lower present value of the minimum lease payments. Depreciation is recognized by the straight-line 

method over the useful life or over the lease term if it is shorter. The discounted value of payment commit-

ments in connection with the lease payments is recognized as a liability and disclosed under other liabilities.

Finance lease agreements, for which the kuka Group is the lessor and all substantial risks and rewards associ-

ated with the ownership are transferred to the lessee, are recognized as a sales and financing transaction for 

the lessor. A receivable is valued at the amount of the net investment value from the leasing relationship and 

the interest income is recognized in the income statement.
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To the extent that the kuka Group has entered into operating leasing according to ias 17, lease or rent pay-

ments are directly recognized as an expense in the income statement and distributed using the straight-

line method over the term of the leasing agreement, unless a different systematic basis more closely cor-

responds with the utilization period. Relevant total future costs are reported in item 11.

Financial instruments

Financial instruments are contracts that simultaneously give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a finan-

cial liability of another entity. These include both originated financial assets (for instance, trade receivables or 

trade payables) as well as derivative financial instruments (transactions to hedge the risk of a change in value).

Derivative financial instruments are financial contracts whose value is derived from the price of an underly-

ing asset (for instance, stocks, bonds, money market instruments or commodities) or a reference rate (such 

as currencies, indices or interest rates). They require little or no initial investment and are settled at a future 

date. Examples of derivative financial instruments include options, forward contracts and interest rate swap 

transactions. The kuka Group uses derivatives nearly exclusively to hedge foreign currency risks. 

ias 39 differentiates between the following categories of financial instruments that are relevant for kuka:

	 �Loans and Receivables

	 Financial Assets / Liabilities Held-for-Trading

	 Available-for-sale Financial Assets

	 �Financial Liabilities Measured at Amortized Cost

Unless otherwise noted, financial instruments are recognized at fair value. The fair value of a financial instru-

ment is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 

willing parties in an arm’s length transactions. 

As a general rule, financial instruments are initially recognized or derecognized when the asset is delivered 

to or by kuka (settlement date accounting). 

Participations in associated companies and other financial investments

In the kuka Group, participations in continuing business units that are not material to the net assets, finan-

cial position and results of operations of the Group are reported under financial assets available for sale. They 

are recognized at costs of purchase. Current market values are not available, since no shares are traded in an 

active market.

Receivables and other assets

Receivables and other assets are recognized at costs of acquisition with appropriate discounts applied for all 

identified individual risks. General credit risk, to the extent that it can be documented, is also accounted 

for by appropriate valuation allowances. For this purpose, these financial assets are grouped in accordance 

with similar default risk characteristics and are collectively tested for impairment, and written down if nec-

essary. When calculating any such impairment losses, the empirical default history is taken into account in 

addition to contractually stipulated payment flows. 
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The carrying amount of the assets is lowered using separate accounts for allowances for impairment losses. 

Actual defaults result in a write-off of the receivables in question. The maximum theoretically possible default 

risk corresponds with the carrying amounts. The carrying amounts largely correspond with the market values.

Derivatives with a positive fair value are recognized under other assets.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all cash funds recognized on the balance sheet, i. e. cash on hand, checks 

and cash balances with financial institutions, provided that they are available within three months.

Liabilities

Liabilities are recognized on the balance sheet at their depreciated / amortized cost of purchase. Payables 

arising from finance leases are recognized at the present value of future lease payments.

Long-term liabilities with a term of more than one year are discounted to the balance sheet date on the basis 

of appropriate interest rates where the interest effect is material.

If the fair value of derivatives is negative, this results in recognition under other liabilities. 

Derivatives

In accordance with ias 39, the kuka Group recognizes all derivatives at fair value as of the settlement date. 

The fair value is determined with the aid of standard financial mathematical techniques, using current mar-

ket parameters such as exchange rates and counterparty credit ratings (mark-to-market method) or quoted 

prices. Average prices are used for this calculation.

Accounting for hedging instruments within the restrictive framework of the hedge accounting rules must 

differentiate between fair value hedges and cash flow hedges.

Fair value hedges are used to hedge the risk of changes in the fair value of contractual obligations under orders 

received or committed (pending transactions). Changes in the fair value of the underlying transactions and 

of the associated hedging instruments are recognized directly in the income statement when the transac-

tions expire as well as on each balance sheet date. 

Cash flow hedges are used to hedge the risk of changes in the value of future cash flows. Until it is realized, 

the change in fair value of the hedging instrument is retained in equity as a reserve and is reclassified as 

gains or losses on the income statement in the same periods in which the underlying transaction affects 

profit or loss.

ias 39 imposes strict requirements for the use of hedge accounting. kuka complies with these as follows: 

At the initiation of a hedging transaction, both the relationship between the financial instrument used for 

hedging and the underlying transaction, and the hedging strategy and objectives are documented. This 

includes the specific matching of hedging instruments with the corresponding assets / liabilities or (com-

mitted) future transactions, as well as an estimate of the degree of effectiveness of the hedging instruments 

used. The effectiveness of existing hedges is monitored continuously; if a hedging relationship becomes 

ineffective, the ineffective positions are immediately unwound.
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Inventories

According to ias 2, inventories are valued at average cost of acquisition or production. In addition to the 

direct unit costs, production costs also include appropriate costs for indirect materials and production 

overheads according to ias 2. Interest on borrowed capital is not capitalized. Write-downs to lower net realiz-

able value have been taken to the extent required. In addition to valuation allowing disposal at no net loss, 

these writedowns also cover all other inventory risk. If and when the circumstances that previously caused 

the inventories to be written down no longer exist, the amount of the write-down is reversed.

Construction contracts 

Construction contracts that meet the criteria of ias 11 are recognized according to the percentage-of-com-

pletion method (poc method). As a rule, the percentage of completion to be recognized by contract is deter-

mined by the cost of work to date as a percentage of the estimated total costs (cost-to-cost method). The 

corresponding earnings from the contract are recognized on the basis of the percentage of completion thus 

determined. These contracts are presented as receivables respectively liabilities from contracts. To the extent 

that services performed to date exceed advances received, the contracts are recorded on the balance sheet 

as receivables arising from contracts. If there is a negative balance after deduction of advances, this is rec-

ognized as liabilities from construction contracts. If necessary, provisions are recognized for impending losses.

Current and deferred taxes

Tax receivables and liabilities are assessed using the expected amount of the reimbursement from, i. e. pay-

ment to the tax authorities.

According to ias 12, deferred tax assets and liabilities have been recorded for all temporary differences 

between the carrying value of assets and liabilities on the Group consolidated balance sheet and their rec-

ognized value for tax purposes (liability method) as well as for tax loss carry-forwards. Deferred tax assets 

for accounting and valuation differences as well as for tax loss carry-forwards are only recognized to the 

extent that there is a sufficiently probable expectation that the corresponding benefit will be realized in 

the future. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted. Deferred tax assets are netted against 

deferred tax liabilities if the tax creditor and periodicity are the same.

Pension provisions and similar obligations

The measurement of pension liabilities and similar obligations is performed according to ias 19. Pensions and 

similar obligations comprise obligations of the Group to pay benefits under defined benefit plans. The pen-

sion obligations are determined according to the so-called projected-unit-credit method. In addition to known 

pensions and vested benefits as at the balance sheet date, this method also takes expected future increases 

in salaries and pensions into account. The calculations are based on actuarial reports that must be prepared 

annually and must be based on biometric data. Service costs are recognized as personnel expense, the inter-

est portion of the addition to provisions as well as the return on the fund assets are recognized as financing 

activities. Actuarial gains and losses are recognized directly in equity (the so-called “Option 3”).

Other provisions

Other provisions are recognized in the event that there is a current obligation to third parties arising from 

a past event. It must be possible to estimate the amount reliably and it must, more likely than not, lead to 

an outflow of future resources. Provisions are only recognized for legal and constructive obligations to third 

parties.
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No provisions were recognized for future expenses, since the latter do not represent an external obligation.

Liabilities in the personnel area, such as vacation pay, flex-time credits and the statutory German early retire-

ment scheme (Altersteilzeit) are recognized under other liabilities. 

Liabilities for outstanding vendor invoices are recognized under trade payables.

Long-term provisions with a term of more than one year are discounted to the balance sheet date on the basis 

of appropriate interest rates where the interest effect is material.

Share-based compensation

The Phantom Share Programs for the Executive Board of the kuka Group are recognized as share-based com-

pensation with a cash settlement. A provision is made for the payment commitment in the amount of the pro-

rated fair value as of the respective key date; changes to the fair value are recognized in the income statement.

Revenue recognition

Construction contracts (ias 11) are accounted for by the percentage-of-completion method. Other revenues 

are recognized in accordance with ias 18. Sales revenues are booked in the period in which the products or 

goods were delivered or the services were rendered. Any reductions to the proceeds, contract penalties and 

cash discounts are deducted from this. At this time, the amount of revenues can be reliably measured and 

the inflow of economic benefits from the transaction is sufficiently probable.

Cost of sales

The cost of sales comprises the cost of production of the goods sold as well as the acquisition cost of any 

merchandise sold. In addition to the cost of attributable direct materials and labor, this also includes indi-

rect costs, including the depreciation and amortization of production plants and intangible assets as well 

as any write-downs of inventories. kuka accounts for provisions for product warranties as part of the cost 

of sales at the time of revenue recognition. Pending losses from contracts are recognized in the reporting 

period in which the current estimate for total costs arising from the respective contract exceeds the expected 

contract revenue.

Research and development costs

Research and development costs that are not eligible for recognition as an asset are recognized as expenses 

when they are incurred. 

a ssump tions and estim ates

The preparation of the Group consolidated financial statements requires management to make assumptions 

and estimates that affect the recognition and amount of assets and liabilities on the balance sheet, revenues 

and expenses, as well as the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Actual amounts may differ from these assump-

tions and estimates on a case-by-case basis. In the application of accounting and measurement methods, the 

company has made the following important discretionary decisions, which have a significant effect on the 

amounts in the annual financial statements. These do not include those decisions that represent estimates.
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Development costs

Development costs are recognized as assets in accordance with the methods described under accounting 

and measurement methods. For the purpose of determining the amounts to be recognized as assets, man-

agement must make assumptions concerning the expected future cash flows from assets, the applicable 

discount rates and the timing of the inflow of expected future cash flows that the assets will generate.

Goodwill impairments

The Group tests assets recognized as goodwill at least once a year for impairment. This requires an estimate 

of the value in use less costs of disposal of the respective cash-generating units to which the goodwill has 

been allocated. To determine the value in use, management must estimate the future cash flows of the respec-

tive cash generating units and further select an appropriate discount rate for calculating the present value 

of these cash flows. For details about the carrying amounts of the assets recognized as goodwill and the per-

formance of the impairment tests please refer to the discussion under item 10.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable income will be available 

such that the loss carry-forwards can actually be used. The determination of the amount of deferred tax 

assets requires an estimate on the part of management of the expected timing and amount of anticipated 

future taxable earnings as well as future tax planning strategies. For details please refer to the discussion 

under item 6.

Receivables and liabilities from construction contracts

A number of companies, particularly in the Systems segment, conduct a portion of their business in the form 

of construction contracts, which are recognized using the percentage of completion method. Sales are 

reported based on the percentage of completion. A precise estimate of the progress toward completion is 

essential for the accounting process. Depending on the method used to determine the percentage of com-

pletion, the most important estimates include the total order costs, the costs yet to be incurred until com-

pletion, the total project revenues and risks as well as other assessments. The management team responsi-

ble for the respective project continuously monitors all estimates and adapts these as needed. 

Pensions and other post-employment benefits

Expenditures under defined-benefit plans and other post-employment medical benefits are determined on 

the basis of actuarial calculations. The actuarial calculations are prepared on the basis of assumptions with 

respect to discount rates, expected returns on plan assets, future increases in wages and salaries, mortal-

ity rates and future pension increases. In line with the long-term orientation of these plans, such estimates 

are subject to significant uncertainties.

changes in accounting and me a surement p olicies

kuka Aktiengesellschaft’s consolidated financial statements were not affected by changes in accounting 

and measurement policies in fiscal 2008.

The new mandatory interpretations effective in 2008 – ifric 12 Service Concession Arrangements and ifric 14 

ias 19 The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction – likewise 

have little or no effect.

 
Group notes



1 2 0

ifrs Standards and interpretations that are not yet mandatory

The following new and amended standards and interpretations had been adopted by the preparation date of 

the Group consolidated financial statements. However, they will only become effective at a later date and 

were not applied to the present Group consolidated financial statements under early adoption. Their impact 

on the Group consolidated financial statements of kuka Aktiengesellschaft has not yet been completely 

analyzed. Consequently, the anticipated effects as described in the footnotes to the table only represent a 

first estimate.

Standard / Interpretation

Effective date 
for fiscal years 

starting on or after
Planned application 

by kuka ag

ifrs 8 – Operating Segments January 1, 2009 Fiscal 2009

Amendment to ifrs 2 – Share-based Payment January 1, 2009 Fiscal 2009

ifrs 3 – Business Combinations (revised) July 1, 2009 Fiscal 2010 *

ias 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements (revised) January 1, 2009 Fiscal 2009

ias 23 – Borrowing Costs (revised) January 1, 2009 Fiscal 2009

ias 27 – Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements according 	
to ifrs (revised)

 
July 1, 2009

	
Fiscal 2010 *

Amendment to ias 32 Financial Instruments: 	
Presentation and ias 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

 
January 1, 2009

	
Fiscal 2009 *

Amendments to ias 39 – Eligible Hedged Items January 1, 2009 Fiscal 2009 *

Amendments to ifrs (Annual Improvements Process 2007) ** January 1, 2009 Fiscal 2009 *

ifric 11 – ifrs 2 – Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions March 1, 2009 Fiscal 2009 *

ifric 13 – Customer Loyalty Programs July 1, 2009 Fiscal 2009

ifric 15 – Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate January 1, 2009 Fiscal 2009

ifric 16 – Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation October 1, 2008 Fiscal 2009 *

ifric 17 – Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners July 1, 2009 Fiscal 2010 *

  * Pending adoption by the European Union.
** This affects the following standards: ifrs 5, ias 1, ias 16, ias 19, ias 20, ias 23, ias 27, ias 28, ias 29, ias 31, ias 36, ias 38, ias 39, ias 40 and ias 41.

The iasb and the ifric have published the following standards and interpretations that have already been 

adopted under eu law under the comitology procedure, but for which application was not yet mandatory in 

the 2008 financial year.

ifrs 8 Operating Segments

ifrs 8 was published in November of 2006 and must be adopted for the first time for financial years start-

ing on or after January 1, 2009. ifrs 8 requires the disclosure of information about the operating segments 

of an entity and takes the place of the obligation to define primary (business) and secondary (geographic) 

segment reporting formats for a company. ifrs 8 takes what is termed the management approach, accord-

ing to which segment reporting is determined solely by the financial information that is used by the deci-

sion makers of the entity for the internal control and management of the enterprise. The main parameters 

for this are the internal reporting and organization structure as well as the financial information that is used 

to make decisions about the allocation of resources and to assess performance. 

The Group has not elected for an early adoption of ifrs 8 and continues to apply ias 14 Segment Reporting. 

The new standard will have an effect on the nature and format of financial information that is disclosed about 

the operating segments of the Group, but not on the recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities 

in the consolidated financial statements.
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ias 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements (revised)

The revised Standard ias 1 was published in September of 2007 and must be adopted for the first time for 

financial years starting on or after January 1, 2009. The new version of the Standard includes significant 

changes to the presentation and disclosure of financial information in the annual financial statements. The 

innovations include, in particular, the introduction of comprehensive statement comprising both the net 

profit / loss generated during a period as well as unrealized gains and losses that have, to date, been recog-

nized directly in equity, and that replaces the income statement in its present form. In addition it will now 

be necessary to prepare a balance sheet as of the beginning of the comparison period in addition to the bal-

ance sheet as of the balance sheet reporting date and the balance sheet as of the prior reporting date, if 

and when the entity applies accounting and measurement methods retrospectively, corrects an error or reclas-

sifies a line item in the annual financial statements. 

The new standard will have an effect on the nature and format of financial information that is disclosed 

about the Group, but not on the recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities in the consolidated 

financial statements. 

Amendment to the ifrs (Annual Improvements Process 2007)

The annual improvements process acts as a vehicle for the iasb to make non-urgent but necessary amend-

ments to existing standards. The main objective is to eliminate inconsistencies and clarify ambiguous for-

mulations. The first standard consists of two parts and was issued in May 2008. The first part contains amend-

ments that can affect the presentation, the approach, or the valuation. The second part contains amendments 

to formulations or editorial changes. 

At this time the kuka Group does not expect that the application of the revised version – provided it is endorsed 

by the eu in this form – will have any considerable effect on the presentation of the financial statements.

The following standards and interpretations have already been adopted into eu law, but have little or no 

effect on kuka ag’s consolidated financial statements:

	 �Changes to ifrs 2 – Share based Payment

	 �ifrs 3 – Business Combinations (revised)

	 �ias 23 – Borrowing Costs (revised)

	 �ias 27 – Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements according to ifrs (revised)

	 �Changes to ias 32 – Financial Instruments: Presentation and ias 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

	 �Amendments to ias 39 – Eligible Hedged Items

	 �ifric 13 – Customer Loyalty Programs

	 �ifric 15 – Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

	 �ifric 16 – Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

	 �ifric 17 – Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners
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notes to the group income statement 
and to the group bal ance sheet

The income statement gives priority to the presentation of continuing operations as they would appear after 

the disposal of discontinued operations. Accordingly, the results of discontinued operations are presented as 

a single line in the income statement, with further details discussed under Item 7.

1  sales re venues

Sales revenues include fees and charges billed to customers for goods and services – less any reductions to 

the proceeds, contract penalties and cash discounts.

The breakdown of sales revenues by business divisions and regions is shown in segment reporting (cf. page 108 f.). 

In connection with construction contracts, sales revenues in the amount of € 661.2 million were recognized 

in the reporting year (compared to € 638.8 million in the prior year) according to the percentage of comple-

tion method.

2  sales,  distribution, rese arch & de velopment and gener al administr ation cost s

The following is a breakdown of the Cost of sales, Selling expenses, Research and development expenses and 

General and administrative expenses:

Cost of sales Selling expenses

Research and 
development 

expenses

General and 
administrative 

expenses Total

in € millions 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008

Cost of materials 737.0 702.1 4.4 2.0 5.8 0.9 1.7 1.3 748.9 706.3

Personnel expenses 231.6 248.2 43.9 47.2 16.4 23.5 40.1 39.1 332.0 358.0

Amortization 15.5 14.0 0.8 0.7 4.9 5.7 5.7 5.6 26.9 26.0

Other expenses 
and income

 
44.0

 
41.0

 
34.3

 
41.8

 
3.7

 
3.6

 
21.8

 
35.9

 
103.8

 
122.3

total 1,028.1 1,005.3 83.4 91.7 30.8 33.7 69.3 81.9 1,211.6 1,212.6

Cost of materials are arranged as follows:

in € millions 2007 2008

Cost of raw materials, supplies and goods purchased 549.4 509.3

Cost of purchased services 199.5 197.0

cost of materials 748.9 706.3

Personnel expenses are directly allocated to the functional areas based on the cost centers, which results in 

the following figure:

in € millions 2007 2008

Wages and salaries 277.6 301.0

Social security payments and contributions 	
for retirement benefits and provident funds

 
54.4

 
57.0

  (of that for retirement benefits) (3.5) (2.7)

personnel expenses 332.0 358.0
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Annual average employed by the kuka Group:

Total 2007 Total 2008 of that Germany of that Abroad

Wage earners 2,241 2,373 1,314 1,059

Salaried employees 3,251 3,442 1,905 1,537

Trainees / apprentices 176 170 156 14

total employees 5,668 5,985 3,375 2,610

(including discontinued operations) (6,307) (–) (–) (–)

3  other oper ating income and e xpenses

These line items capture income and expenses that are not allocated to the functional categories Cost of 

sales, Selling expenses, Research and development or General and administrative expenses or otherwise 

reported separately. 

in € millions 2007 2008

Income from foreign currency transactions 5.0 21.4

Reimbursements from damages claims 0.1 0.8

Income from the disposal of assets 0.0 0.3

Other income 3.5 5.6

other operating income 8.6 28.1

Expenses for foreign currency transactions 4.6 23.3

Donations 0.4 0.3

Other taxes 5.1 2.6

Other expenses 2.8 3.4

other operating expense 12.9 29.6

other operating income and expenses – 4.3 – 1.5

4  write - downs of financial a sse t s

The write-downs of financial assets in the amount of € 0.1 million related to shares in Tölzer & Wagner Elektro

technik GmbH, Rohrbach, which were written down to their net realizable value. 

5  interest income / e xpense

in € millions 2007 2008

Other interest and similar income 5.5 9.7

  (of that, related to affiliated companies) (0.5) (0.0)

Interest and similar expenses 13.4 14.7

  (of that, related to affiliated companies) (0.4) (0.2)

net interest income / expense – 7.9 – 5.0

Other interest and similar income includes an amount of € 0.2 million (prior year: € 0.3 million) for expected 

returns on pension plan assets. The remaining interest income represents returns on bank deposits as well 

as the change from operating to finance leasing in connection with the financing of a factory building for the 

production of bodies for the Jeep Wrangler in Toledo / usa (cf. notes under 13). 
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Interest and similar expenses include the interest portion of additions to the provision for pensions in the 

amount of € 4.0 million (prior year: € 3.7 million). In addition this item includes lc and commitment fees, 

refinancing costs and interest on loans received. The convertible bond also added € 4.9 million. (prior year: 

€ 4.7 million) to net interest expense for the financial year.

6  ta xes on income / deferred ta xes

Tax expense

Income tax expense breaks down by origin as follows:

in € millions 2007 2008

Current taxes 12.0 5.2

  (of that relating to other periods) (0.0) (– 4.0)

Deferred taxes

  from temporary differences – 0.2 12.5

  from loss carry-forwards 1.8 – 1.3

tax expense 13.6 16.4

Of the current expenses for tax on earnings, € 1.4 million is attributable to domestic expenditure compared 

to € 2.6 million in the previous year, whereas € 3.8 million is attributable to foreign expenditure compared 

to € 9.4 million last year. 

Deferred tax expenses of € 2.1 million are attributable to domestic operations (compared to € 0.8 million in 

the previous year); € 9.1 million to foreign (compared to € 0.8 million the previous year). 

The expected tax expense based on earnings before tax of € 47.0 million (prior year: € 62.5 million) and the 

applicable tax rate for the kuka companies in Germany of 30.0 percent (prior year: 39.0 percent) leads to the 

following actual tax expense:

in € millions 2007 2008

earnings before tax 62.5 47.0

expected tax expense 24.4 14.1

Tax rate-related differences – 0.8 3.1

Tax reductions due to tax-exempt income – 0.7 – 1.2

Tax increases due to non-deductible expenses 1.7 2.8

Back taxes paid (+) and tax credits received (–) for prior years – 3.1 – 4.8

Tax refund claims according to the changes in sec. 37 par. 4 to 6 of the 
German Corporate Income Tax Act

 
– 5.3

 
0.0

Changes to allowance on deferred taxes – 9.7 2.3

Changes in tax rates due to the German Business Tax Reform in Germany 7.1 0.0

Other differences  0.0 0.1

taxes on income (actual tax expense) 13.6 16.4
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The applicable tax rate in Germany comprises corporate income tax (Körperschaftsteuer) of 15.0 percent, 

earned income tax (Gewerbesteuer) based on a uniform tax rate of 14.2 percent and the reunification tax 

(Solidaritätszuschlag) of 5.5 percent.

In principle, deferred taxes were recognized on the basis of the applicable tax rate for each company in ques-

tion. By way of simplification, the calculation of deferred taxes for consolidation measures that have an 

effect of profit or loss, was based on a uniform underlying tax rate of 30 percent.

As at December 31, 2007, an increase of € 6.6 million, gross, in the corporate income tax credit balance to a 

gross balance of € 20.9 million was recognized on the basis of an outside tax audit for the years 1998 through 

2001. After discounting, an amount of € 11.6 million (prior year: € 12.8 million) is reported as non-current tax 

receivable effective December 31, 2008, and an amount of € 1.8 million (prior year: € 1.8 million) is reported 

as current tax receivable. 

There are no tax credits for which deferred taxes would need to be balanced.

Tax revenues of € 4.0 million resulted in the current financial year largely due to adjustment declarations for 

the years 2002 to 2006.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

The value of deferred tax assets and liabilities due to temporary differences and tax loss carry-forwards in 

the Group is associated with the following items: 

Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities

in € millions Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2008

Non-current assets 1.7 16.7 14.6 39.1

Current assets 33.3 28.5 37.7 43.9

Provisions 17.9 14.1 0.1 0.0

Liabilities 15.3 17.1 10.9 3.2

Sub-Total 68.2 76.4 63.3 86.2

Balancing item – 58.6 – 73.1 – 58.6 – 73.1

Valuation allowance  – 2.5 – 2.0 0.0 0.0

Sub-Total 7.1 1.3 4.7 13.1

Deferred taxes on temporary differences 7.1 1.3 4.7 13.1

Deferred taxes on tax loss carry-forwards 24.0 25.3 0.0 0.0

total  31.1 26.6 4.7 13.1

(thereof: from items recognized in equity) (5.5) (6.5)
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Valuation allowance to the carrying value of deferred tax assets are recognized if the realization of the expected 

benefit of the deferred taxes is not sufficiently probable. The estimates made are subject to changes over time, 

which may result in the reversal of valuation allowance in subsequent periods. 

The impact on tax expense of changes to the write-downs for temporary valuation differences and loss carry-

forwards is a tax expense of € 0.9 million (prior year: tax income of € 17.1 million). 

The recognized values on the balance sheet are written off in the event that the tax benefits that they repre-

sent are no longer expected to be realized. 

From the loss carry-forward of € 179.3 million (prior year: € 164 million), amounts totaling € 85.9 million 

(prior year: € 77.0 million) are not considered in the accounting of deferred taxes. 

In accordance with ias 12, deferred tax items must be recognized for the difference between the pro-rata 

equity of a subsidiary recognized on the Group balance sheet on the tax balance sheet of the parent company 

(so-called outside basis differences) if it is likely that this difference amount will be realized. Since both the 

kuka Aktiengesellschaft as well as the subsidiaries in question are corporations, these differences are pre-

dominantly tax exempt under § 8b kstg upon realization and thus permanent in nature. According to ias 12.39, 

no deferred tax liability should be recognized even for temporary differences, if any (e. g., those resulting 

from the 5 percent flat-rate allocation under § 8b kstg) if it is not likely, given control by the parent company, 

that these differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. Since no such reversal is expected, no deferred 

tax items had to be recognized on the balance sheet for this purpose.

From the change to the deferred tax liabilities of € 8.4 million (prior year: € – 5.2 million), € – 0.1 million 

(€ – 0.8 million in the prior year) is largely attributed to the change in the group of consolidated companies.

Overall the change to deferred tax assets and liabilities of € 12.9 million (prior year: € 9.2 million) came from 

amounts affecting net income totaling € 11.2 million (prior year: € 1.6 million) as well as amounts not affect-

ing net income totaling € 1.7 million (prior year: € 7.6 million) including currency effects.

Tax losses and tax loss carry-forwards

To the extent that loss carry-forwards have not been written off, it is expected in the next three years that 

this tax-reducing potential will be utilized via taxable income, which is likely based on the planning of the 

Group companies. 

As at December 31, 2008, the loss carry-forwards not yet utilized amount to € 179.3 million (prior year: € 164 mil-

lion). German companies account for € 140.0 million of this, and the amounts do not expire. In the usa loss 

carry-forwards amount to € 12.0 million and will expire in 2020.

In addition, loss carry-forwards in the total amount also include € 17.3 million for France, € 2.3 million for 

China as well as € 1.5 million for Spain and € 1.1 million for Japan. There are loss carry-forwards totaling 

€ 5.1 million in other countries as well. With the exception of the amounts expiring in Japan in 2013, the 

remaining loss carry-forwards do not expire.
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7  result from discontinued oper ations

The following table shows a breakdown of the current portion of earnings from discontinued operations: 

in € millions 2007

sales revenue 88.0

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in process 11.4

Own costs capitalized 0.2

total output 99.6

Other operating income 0.1

99.7

Cost of materials – 44.0

Personnel expense – 37.2

Depreciation / amortization on intangible assets and tangible assets – 2.2

Other operating expenses – 15.5

– 98.9

earnings from operating activities 0.8

earnings from financing activities – 3.1

income from ordinary activities – 2.3

Taxes on income – 0.4

operating earnings from discontinued operations – 2.7

Result recognized on disposal 74.1

Tax impact of result on disposal – 2.3

result from disposal of discontinued operations 71.8

result from discontinued operations 69.1

Results from the disposal of discontinued operations in the financial year 2007 include gains on the disposal 

of companies in the Packaging division in the amount of € 69.4 million. 

8  e arnings per share

Undiluted / diluted earnings per share break down as follows:

2007 2008

Net income for the year after minority interests (in € millions) 117.9 30.6

  (of that discontinued operations) (69.1) (–)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 26,600,000 25,819,822

earnings per share (in €) 4.43 1.18

(of that discontinued operations) (2.60) (–)

According to ias 33, undiluted earnings per share were calculated on the basis of Group consolidated earn-

ings after taxes and the weighted average number of shares outstanding for the year. As a result of the 

share buyback program, the average number of outstanding shares declined from 26.6 million to 25.8 million.

The issuance of the convertible bond on May 9, 2006 could result in a future dilution effect since contingent 

capital has been increased by a maximum of currently 2,718,322 shares. Since the average share price in 

2008 remained below the conversion price so that a conversion would have been unfavorable for the bond 

holders, there was no diluting effect in 2008.

 
Group notes
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9  f ixed a sse t s

        schedule of changes in f ixed a sse t s 20 0 8

Acquisition / Manufacturing Costs  Accumulated Depreciation Net carrying amount

in € thousands
Status as at 
Jan. 1, 2008

Reclassification 
as discontinued 

operations

Exchange 
rate 

differences

Changes to 
scope of con

solidiation Additions Disposals
Reclassi
fications

Status as at 
Dec. 31, 2008

Status as at 
Jan. 1, 2008

Reclassification 
as discontinued 

operations

Exchange 
rate 

differences

Changes to 
scope of con-

solidiation Additions Disposals
Reclassi
fications

Status as at 
Dec. 31, 2008

Status as at
Dec. 31, 2008

i. intangible assets  	

1. Rights and similar assets 31,397 0 249 0 4,072 883 70 34,905 21,422 0 222 0 4,484 880 0 25,248 9,657

2. �Self-developed software and      
other development costs

 
14,509

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
9,457

 
5,844

 
0

 
18,122

 
4,660

 
0

 
–

 
0

 
4,412

 
5,844

 
0

 
3,228

 
14,894

3. Goodwill 56,633 0 0 0 0 0 0 56,633 6,996 0 – 0 0 0 0 6,996 49,637

4. Advances paid 36 0 2 0 44 0 – 70 12 0 0 – 0 0 0 0 0 12

102,575 0 251 0 13,573 6,727 0 109,672 33,078 0 222 0 8,896 6,724 0 35,472 74,200

ii. tangible assets

1. �Land, similar rights and 
buildings including 
buildings on land owned 
by third parties

 
 
 

113,796

 
 
 
0

 
 
 

500

 
 
 
0

 
 
 

2,785

 
 
 

2,302

 
 
 

456

 
 
 

115,235

 
 
 

59,264

 
 
 
0

 
 
 

70

 
 
 
0

 
 
 

3,346

 
 
 

1,589

 
 
 
2

 
 
 

61,093

 
 
 

54,142

2. �Technical plant 
and equipment

 
80,241

 
0

 
134

 
73

 
3,272

 
2,075

 
1,338

 
82,983

 
60,038

 
0

 
50

 
13

 
6,698

 
2,075

 
350

 
65,074

 
17,909

3. �Other equipment, factory 
and office equipment

 
67,787

 
0

 
75

 
80

 
8,577

 
6,224

 
– 107

 
70,188

 
51,568

 
0

 
129

 
31

 
7,035

 
6,022

 
– 350

 
52,391

 
17,797

4. �Advances paid and 
construction in progress

 
976

 
0

 
32

 
0

 
4,298

 
405

 
– 1,687

 
3,214

 
2

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
– 2

 
0

 
3,214

262,800 0 741 153 18,932 11,006 0 271,620 170,872 0 249 44 17,079 9,686 0 178,558 93,062

iii. financial investments

1. �Participations in 
affiliated companies

 
5,651

 
0

 
0

 
– 953

 
0

 
1

 
0

 
4,697

 
4,753

 
0

 
0

 
– 234

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
4,519

 
178

2. �Participations in 
associated companies

 
36

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
36

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

3. Other participations 306 0 0 0 0 145 0 161 34 0 0 0 0 0 0 34 127

4. Other loans 889 0 25 0 0 400 0 514 428 0 25 0 0 0 0 453 61

6,882 0 25 – 953 0 582 0 5,372 5,215 0 25 – 234 0 0 0 5,006 366

372,257 0 1,017 – 800 32,505 18,315 0 386,664 209,165 0 496 – 190 25,975 16,410 0 219,036 167,628

The following amount has been capitalized under item land and buildings in consequence of finance leases 	

in which the kuka Group acts as the lessee:

land and buildings 3,450 – 396 – – – – 3,846 2,046 – 249 – 372 – – 2,667 1,179
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Acquisition / Manufacturing Costs  Accumulated Depreciation Net carrying amount

in € thousands
Status as at 
Jan. 1, 2008

Reclassification 
as discontinued 

operations

Exchange 
rate 

differences

Changes to 
scope of con

solidiation Additions Disposals
Reclassi
fications

Status as at 
Dec. 31, 2008

Status as at 
Jan. 1, 2008

Reclassification 
as discontinued 

operations

Exchange 
rate 

differences

Changes to 
scope of con-

solidiation Additions Disposals
Reclassi
fications

Status as at 
Dec. 31, 2008

Status as at
Dec. 31, 2008

i. intangible assets  	

1. Rights and similar assets 31,397 0 249 0 4,072 883 70 34,905 21,422 0 222 0 4,484 880 0 25,248 9,657

2. �Self-developed software and      
other development costs

 
14,509

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
9,457

 
5,844

 
0

 
18,122

 
4,660

 
0

 
–

 
0

 
4,412

 
5,844

 
0

 
3,228

 
14,894

3. Goodwill 56,633 0 0 0 0 0 0 56,633 6,996 0 – 0 0 0 0 6,996 49,637

4. Advances paid 36 0 2 0 44 0 – 70 12 0 0 – 0 0 0 0 0 12

102,575 0 251 0 13,573 6,727 0 109,672 33,078 0 222 0 8,896 6,724 0 35,472 74,200

ii. tangible assets

1. �Land, similar rights and 
buildings including 
buildings on land owned 
by third parties

 
 
 

113,796

 
 
 
0

 
 
 

500

 
 
 

0

 
 
 

2,785

 
 
 

2,302

 
 
 

456

 
 
 

115,235

 
 
 

59,264

 
 
 

0

 
 
 

70

 
 
 
0

 
 
 

3,346

 
 
 

1,589

 
 
 
2

 
 
 

61,093

 
 
 

54,142

2. �Technical plant 
and equipment

 
80,241

 
0

 
134

 
73

 
3,272

 
2,075

 
1,338

 
82,983

 
60,038

 
0

 
50

 
13

 
6,698

 
2,075

 
350

 
65,074

 
17,909

3. �Other equipment, factory 
and office equipment

 
67,787

 
0

 
75

 
80

 
8,577

 
6,224

 
– 107

 
70,188

 
51,568

 
0

 
129

 
31

 
7,035

 
6,022

 
– 350

 
52,391

 
17,797

4. �Advances paid and 
construction in progress

 
976

 
0

 
32

 
0

 
4,298

 
405

 
– 1,687

 
3,214

 
2

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
– 2

 
0

 
3,214

262,800 0 741 153 18,932 11,006 0 271,620 170,872 0 249 44 17,079 9,686 0 178,558 93,062

iii. financial investments

1. �Participations in 
affiliated companies

 
5,651

 
0

 
0

 
– 953

 
0

 
1

 
0

 
4,697

 
4,753

 
0

 
0

 
– 234

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
4,519

 
178

2. �Participations in 
associated companies

 
36

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
36

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

3. Other participations 306 0 0 0 0 145 0 161 34 0 0 0 0 0 0 34 127

4. Other loans 889 0 25 0 0 400 0 514 428 0 25 0 0 0 0 453 61

6,882 0 25 – 953 0 582 0 5,372 5,215 0 25 – 234 0 0 0 5,006 366

372,257 0 1,017 – 800 32,505 18,315 0 386,664 209,165 0 496 – 190 25,975 16,410 0 219,036 167,628

The following amount has been capitalized under item land and buildings in consequence of finance leases 	

in which the kuka Group acts as the lessee:

land and buildings 3,450 – 396 – – – – 3,846 2,046 – 249 – 372 – – 2,667 1,179
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Acquisition / Manufacturing Costs  Accumulated Depreciation Net carrying amount

in € thousands
Status as at 
Jan. 1, 2007

Reclassification 
as discontinued 

operations

Exchange 
rate 

differences

Changes to 
scope of con

solidiation Additions Disposals
Reclassi
fications

Status as at 
Dec. 31, 2007

Status as at 
Jan. 1, 2007

Reclassification 
as discontinued 

operations

Exchange 
rate 

differences

Changes to 
scope of con-

solidiation Additions Disposals
Reclassi
fications

Status as at 
Dec. 31, 2007

Status as at
Dec. 31, 2007

i. intangible assets  	

1. Rights and similar assets 48,083 – 18,930 – 444 0 7,675 5,152 165 31,397 37,659 – 16,034 – 276 0 4,426 4,353 0 21,422 9,975

2. �Self-developed software and      
other development costs

 
18,580

 
– 10,518

 
0

 
0

 
6,447

 
0

 
0

 
14,509

 
4,437

 
– 3,461

 
0

 
0

 
3,684

 
0

 
0

 
4,660

 
9,849

3. Goodwill 118,158 – 61,525 0 0 0 56,633 6,996 0 0 0 0 0 0 6,996 49,637

4. Advances paid 161 – 161 0 0 201 0 – 165 36 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 36

184,982 – 91,134 – 444 0 14,323 5,152 0 102,575 49,092 – 19,495 – 276 0 8,110 4,353 0 33,078 69,497

ii. tangible assets

1. �Land, similar rights and 
buildings including 
buildings on land owned 
by third parties

 
 
 

197,833

 
 
 

– 67,334

 
 
 

– 2,276

 
 
 
0

 
 
 

792

 
 
 

15,507

 
 
 

288

 
 
 

113,796

 
 
 

95,539

 
 
 

– 36,046

 
 
 

– 385

 
 
 
0

 
 
 

4,001

 
 
 

3,845

 
 
 
0

 
 
 

59,264

 
 
 

54,532

2. �Technical plant 
and equipment

 
112,270

 
– 35,981

 
– 577

 
150

 
2,538

 
1,711

 
3,552

 
80,241

 
85,365

 
– 30,819

 
– 389

 
2

 
7,249

 
1,119

 
– 251

 
60,038

 
20,203

3. �Other equipment, factory 
and office equipment

 
106,257

 
– 37,208

 
– 873

 
27

 
6,585

 
7,634

 
633

 
67,787

 
83,446

 
– 31,761

 
– 568

 
2

 
7,518

 
7,320

 
251

 
51,568

 
16,219

4. �Advances paid and 
construction in progress

 
1,507

 
– 1,043

 
– 2

 
0

 
2,182

 
5

 
– 1,663

 
976

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
2

 
0

 
0

 
2

 
974

417,867 – 141,566 – 3,728 177 12,097 24,857 2,810 262,800 264,350 – 98,626 – 1,342 4 18,770 12,284 0 170,872 91,928

iii. financial investments

1. �Participations in 
affiliated companies

 
5,648

 
– 372

 
0

 
– 293

 
693

 
25

 
0

 
5,651

 
4,857

 
– 109

 
0

 
0

 
10

 
5

 
0

 
4,753

 
898

2. �Participations in 
associated companies

 
2,479

 
– 2,443

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
36

 
200

 
– 200

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
36

3. Other participations 320 0 0 0 272 286 0 306 34 0 0 0 82 82 0 34 272

4. Other loans 1,034 – 44 – 50 0 0 51 0 889 523 – 44 – 50 0 0 1 0 428 461

9,481 – 2,859 – 50 – 293 965 362 0 6,882 5,614 – 353 – 50 0 92 88 0 5,215 1,667

612,330 – 235,559 – 4,222 – 116 27,385 30,371 2,810 372,257 319,056 – 118,474 – 1,668 4 26,972 16,725 0 209,165 163,092

The following amount has been capitalized under item land and buildings in consequence of finance leases 	

in which the kuka Group acts as the lessee:

land and buildings 3,365 – 85 – – – – 3,450 1,658 – 44 – 344 – – 2,046 1,404

        schedule of changes in f ixed a sse t s 20 07
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Acquisition / Manufacturing Costs  Accumulated Depreciation Net carrying amount

in € thousands
Status as at 
Jan. 1, 2007

Reclassification 
as discontinued 

operations

Exchange 
rate 

differences

Changes to 
scope of con

solidiation Additions Disposals
Reclassi
fications

Status as at 
Dec. 31, 2007

Status as at 
Jan. 1, 2007

Reclassification 
as discontinued 

operations

Exchange 
rate 

differences

Changes to 
scope of con-

solidiation Additions Disposals
Reclassi
fications

Status as at 
Dec. 31, 2007

Status as at
Dec. 31, 2007

i. intangible assets  	

1. Rights and similar assets 48,083 – 18,930 – 444 0 7,675 5,152 165 31,397 37,659 – 16,034 – 276 0 4,426 4,353 0 21,422 9,975

2. �Self-developed software and      
other development costs

 
18,580

 
– 10,518

 
0

 
0

 
6,447

 
0

 
0

 
14,509

 
4,437

 
– 3,461

 
0

 
0

 
3,684

 
0

 
0

 
4,660

 
9,849

3. Goodwill 118,158 – 61,525 0 0 0 56,633 6,996 0 0 0 0 0 0 6,996 49,637

4. Advances paid 161 – 161 0 0 201 0 – 165 36 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 36

184,982 – 91,134 – 444 0 14,323 5,152 0 102,575 49,092 – 19,495 – 276 0 8,110 4,353 0 33,078 69,497

ii. tangible assets

1. �Land, similar rights and 
buildings including 
buildings on land owned 
by third parties

 
 
 

197,833

 
 
 

– 67,334

 
 
 

– 2,276

 
 
 

0

 
 
 

792

 
 
 

15,507

 
 
 

288

 
 
 

113,796

 
 
 

95,539

 
 
 

– 36,046

 
 
 

– 385

 
 
 
0

 
 
 

4,001

 
 
 

3,845

 
 
 
0

 
 
 

59,264

 
 
 

54,532

2. �Technical plant 
and equipment

 
112,270

 
– 35,981

 
– 577

 
150

 
2,538

 
1,711

 
3,552

 
80,241

 
85,365

 
– 30,819

 
– 389

 
2

 
7,249

 
1,119

 
– 251

 
60,038

 
20,203

3. �Other equipment, factory 
and office equipment

 
106,257

 
– 37,208

 
– 873

 
27

 
6,585

 
7,634

 
633

 
67,787

 
83,446

 
– 31,761

 
– 568

 
2

 
7,518

 
7,320

 
251

 
51,568

 
16,219

4. �Advances paid and 
construction in progress

 
1,507

 
– 1,043

 
– 2

 
0

 
2,182

 
5

 
– 1,663

 
976

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
2

 
0

 
0

 
2

 
974

417,867 – 141,566 – 3,728 177 12,097 24,857 2,810 262,800 264,350 – 98,626 – 1,342 4 18,770 12,284 0 170,872 91,928

iii. financial investments

1. �Participations in 
affiliated companies

 
5,648

 
– 372

 
0

 
– 293

 
693

 
25

 
0

 
5,651

 
4,857

 
– 109

 
0

 
0

 
10

 
5

 
0

 
4,753

 
898

2. �Participations in 
associated companies

 
2,479

 
– 2,443

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
36

 
200

 
– 200

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
36

3. Other participations 320 0 0 0 272 286 0 306 34 0 0 0 82 82 0 34 272

4. Other loans 1,034 – 44 – 50 0 0 51 0 889 523 – 44 – 50 0 0 1 0 428 461

9,481 – 2,859 – 50 – 293 965 362 0 6,882 5,614 – 353 – 50 0 92 88 0 5,215 1,667

612,330 – 235,559 – 4,222 – 116 27,385 30,371 2,810 372,257 319,056 – 118,474 – 1,668 4 26,972 16,725 0 209,165 163,092

The following amount has been capitalized under item land and buildings in consequence of finance leases 	

in which the kuka Group acts as the lessee:

land and buildings 3,365 – 85 – – – – 3,450 1,658 – 44 – 344 – – 2,046 1,404
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10  intangible a sse t s

Changes to the individual items under intangible assets are disclosed in the schedule of movements in fixed 

assets. In the 2008 and 2007 financial years, no impairment losses were recognized on assets. 

Goodwill

Recognized goodwill in the amount of € 49.6 million compares to € 49.6 million a year earlier and breaks down 

as follows:

Profit center in € millions Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2008

Body-in-White 40.7 40.7

Assembly systems 4.7 4.7

Robotics Automotive 3.8 3.8

Others / less than € 1 million 0.4 0.4

49.6 49.6

Since 2007 the controlling and internal reporting of the Group has taken place through uniformly differenti-

ated profit centers. Therefore, in principle, a single profit center represents the smallest cash-generating 

unit, making it the basis for the impairment test of goodwill. The customer service business in the Robotics 

division is proportionately allocated to the profit centers “Automotive” and “General Industry”. 

The following table shows the discount rates for wacc before taxes used in the impairment tests performed 

in the 2008 financial year:

in % 2007 2008

Planning period 2008 – 2010 2009 – 2011

Systems 12.9 9.5

Robotics 13.2 9.8

In this context, the cost of equity capital was determined on the basis of segment-specific peer groups. As in 

the previous year, a growth discount of 0.5 percent was applied as perpetuity. 

The cost of borrowed capital was derived from the refinancing costs of kuka Aktiengesellschaft. 

The ratios for the cost of equity capital and the cost of borrowed capital that were thus determined were 

weighted on the basis of the average capital structure of the respective peer group. The expected average 

tax rate of the peer group of 35 percent was chosen as the tax rate. 

A 1 percent higher wacc does not influence the impairment of goodwill. A reduction in sales revenues over 

the entire planning period by 10 percent with a correspondingly lower cash flow would result in goodwill in 

the amount of € 44.9 million.

Self-developed software and other product development costs

According to ias 38, self-developed software and other development costs must also be capitalized. For the 

purpose of such capitalization, kuka uses a definition of the costs of production that includes according to 

ias attributable direct costs as well as an appropriate allocation for overheads and depreciation. 
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Development costs are only recognized as assets in the kuka Group by kuka Roboter GmbH. The company is 

working on several projects involving performance and guidance software for robots as well as new applica-

tions in the area of medical technology. Total expenditures for research and development for the reporting 

period were € 33.7 million compared to € 30.8 million in 2007.

Development costs with a total carrying value of € 14.9 million from the years 2005 to 2008 compared to 

€ 9.8 million the year prior have been capitalized according to ias 38. Net additions for 2008 totaled € 5.0 mil-

lion (prior year: € 2.8 million). Amortization is applied using a unit-based or straight-line method over the res

pective expected useful life of three years or less.

11  tangible a sse t s

The breakdown of the assets aggregated in the balance sheet items of the tangible assets, as well as changes 

over the reporting year and in 2007, are shown in section 9 of the annual report. The major focus of capital 

expenditures in the financial year is described in the management report.

Subsidies in the amount of € 0.1 million were deducted from the cost of purchase or cost of production for 

tangible assets in 2007.

The amounts for depreciation, amortization and impairment losses are as follows: 

in € millions 2007 2008 

scheduled 17.8 17.1

non-scheduled 1.0 0.0

depreciation of tangible assets 18.8 17.1

Previous years impairment losses of € 1.0 million were related to a machine of the Systems Division (write-

down to the net realizable value) as well as a built-upon property in the Robotics Division (closing of the 

location as well as change of the useful life). 

Finance lease agreements for land and buildings where the kuka Group is the lessee regularly include an 

option to buy. The agreements are based on interest rates of 2.25 percent p. a.. The following table shows 

the breakdown of future payments due for finance lease agreements as well as the present values for future 

leasing payments. The corresponding amounts are recognized under other liabilities.

in € millions
Dec. 31, 2007

Total
Dec. 31, 2008

Total Up to one year

Minimum lease payments 0.1 0.0 0.0

Present value 0.1 0.0 0.0

        commitment s from le a ses and r ental agr eement s

in € millions Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2008

up to one year 15.4 6.3

between one and five years 48.5 20.2

more than five years 53.1 11.5

commitments from leases and rental agreements 117.0 38.0

 
Group notes
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Commitments in connection with leases for passenger cars, office and factory buildings include liabilities 

from leases and rental agreements in connection with operating leases. The decline compared to last year 

is largely attributable to the change from operating to finance leasing in connection with the financing of a 

factory building for the production of car bodies for the Jeep Wrangler in Toledo, usa (cf. notes under 13).

Total rental expenses for the fiscal year were € 16.6 million compared to € 27.0 million in the prior year; rental 

income totaled € 0.4 million compared to € 2.0 million last year.

12  par ticipations in a ssociated companies and other financial investment s

The breakdown of the items under financial non-current assets is shown in section 9.

The summary financial information about the associated companies is shown in the following table. 

in € millions 2007 2008

Total assets 3.8 0.0

Total liabilities 3.0 0.0

Total sales revenue 4.5 0.0

Profit / loss for the period 0.0 0.0

The prior year’s numbers are largely associated with the sale of i.b.d. s.r.l, Turin / Italy, during the report-

ing year.

13  F inance le a se

kuka Toledo Production Operations llc., Troy / Michigan / usa, which was consolidated for the first time in 

fiscal 2005, manufactures Jeep Wrangler bodies under the terms of a pay-on-production contract with Chrys-

ler. The first unpainted car bodies associated with the project were delivered to Chrysler in July 2006. The 

project was financed through an operating lease agreement with a local corporation and a consortium of 

financing banks. kuka Aktiengesellschaft reached an agreement with Chrysler llc and the financing banks 

in the financial year regarding the prepayment of the financing of the manufacturing facility of its American 

subsidiary, kuka Toledo Production Operations llc (ktpo), which makes Chrysler’s Jeep Wrangler car bodies. 

The financing to take over legal ownership of the buildings and production systems totals € 77.1 million, and 

was prepaid using the kuka Group’s existing net liquid assets. As a result, this segment’s capital employed 

has risen significantly. 

Because of the existing agreement to supply car bodies to Chrysler, the acquisition of the production system 

assets was not included on the balance sheet as an asset acquisition, but instead categorized as a finance 

lease in accordance with ifric 4 / ias 17 guidelines and booked as a receivable from finance leases. Leasing 

receivables of € 82 million and a current leasing receivable of € 3.3 million exist as of the balance sheet date. 

Sales revenues shown on ktpo’s balance sheet will thus be reduced by the fictitious leasing rate. The inter-

est component included in the fictitious leasing rate is booked under financial result, while the repayment 

component of this repayment reduces the receivables as per schedule.
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Due to the arrangement of the dealing as a full payout lease agreement future minimum lease payments cor-

respond with the gross investment. The following table shows the transition to the present value of the out-

standing minimum lease payments.

in € millions 2008

Future minimum lease payments / Finance lease gross investments 146.9

(of that not later than one year) (10.8)

(of that later than one year and not later than five years) (43.3)

(of that later than five years) (92.8)

Unrealized financial income – 61.6

present value of outstanding minimum lease payments 85.3

(of that not later than one year) (3.3)

(of that later than one year and not later than five years) (16.5)

(of that later than five years) (65.5)

14  inventories 

in € millions Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2008

Raw materials and supplies 48.1 50.4

Work in process 63.3 67.5

Finished goods, Goods purchase 21.9 25.0

Advances paid 16.7 8.6

inventories 150.0 151.5

The carrying amount of inventories written off in the amount of € 92.4 million compare with € 87.0 million in 

2007 and have been recognized at net realizable value. The write-down, relative to gross value, was € 30.3 mil-

lion versus € 30.2 million the year prior. 

The carrying value of inventories subject to restraint on disposal is not material.

15  receivables

Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2008

in € millions Total 
of that up 

to one year
of that more 

than one year Total 
of that up 

to one year
of that more 

than one year

Trade receivables 178.9 178.7 0.2 164.8 164.4 0.4

Receivables from contruction 	
contracts

 
93.0

 
93.0

 
0.0

 
167.1

 
167.1

 
0.0

Receivables from affiliated 
companies

 
3.6

 
3.6

 
0.0

 
0.4

 
0.4

 
0.0

receivables 275.5 275.3 0.2 332.3 331.9 0.4

Should Chrysler and / or General Motors or Ford become bankrupt, it is possible that this could impact the 

assets, financial position and profit or loss of the Group to the extent that the value of receivables would 

need to be adjusted.

 
Group notes



1 3 6

The following table breaks down receivables by age and recoverability.

in € millions / 
Status as at 
Dec. 31, 2008

Net 
carrying 
amount

neither 
impaired 
nor past 

due as 
at the 

balance 
sheet date

net  
carrying 

amount of 
impaired 

trade  
receivables 

impaired 
trade 

receivables 
before 

recording of 
impairment 

losses

impair-
ment 

loss

Total of  
past due,  

unimpaired 
receivables

not impaired as of the  
balance sheet date but in arrears by

less 
than 

30 
days

 30 to 6o 
days

61 to 90 
days

91 to 180 
days

more 
than
180 

days

Trade 
receivables

 
164.8

 
110.7

 
2.7

 
9.5

 
– 6.8

 
51.4

 
22.1

 
10.8

 
5.4

 
5.9

 
7.2

Receivables 
from 	
affiliated 
companies

 
 
 

0.4

 
 
 

0.4

 
 
 

0.0

 
 
 

0.0

 
 
 

0.0

 
 
 

0.0

 
 
 

0.0

 
 
 

0.0

 
 
 

0.0

 
 
 

0.0

 
 
 

0.0

total 165.2 111.1 2.7 9.5 – 6.8 51.4 22.1 10.8 5.4 5.9 7.2

in € millions / 
Status as at 
Dec. 31, 2007

Net 
carrying 
amount

neither 
impaired 
nor past 

due as 
at the 

balance 
sheet date

net  
carrying 

amount of 
impaired 

trade  
receivables 

impaired 
trade 

receivables 
before 

recording of 
impairment 

losses

impair-
ment 

loss

Total of  
past due,  

unimpaired 
receivables

not impaired as of the  
balance sheet date but in arrears by

less 
than 

30 
days

 30 to 60 
days

61 to 90 
days

91 to 180 
days

more 
than
180 

days

Trade 
receivables

 
178.9

 
123.9

 
1.4

 
8.8

 
– 7.4

 
53.6

 
23.3

 
9.4

 
5.2

 
9.7

 
6.0

Receivables 
from 	
affiliated 
companies

 
 
 

3.6

 
 
 

3.6

 
 
 

0.0

 
 
 

0.0

 
 
 

0.0

 
 
 

0.0

 
 
 

0.0

 
 
 

0.0

 
 
 

0.0

 
 
 

0.0

 
 
 

0.0

total 182.5 127.5 1.4 8.8 – 7.4 53.6 23.3 9.4 5.2 9.7 6.0

With respect to existing receivables that were neither impaired nor in arrears, there were no indications as 

of the balance sheet date that the obligors would not meet their payment obligations. Receivables from con-

struction contracts have no specific due date and are not impaired.

Trade receivables

Bad debt allowances on trade receivables developed as follows:

in € millions 2007 2008

Impairment losses / Status as at Jan. 1 7.4 7.4

Additions (Expenses related to impairment losses) 3.1 2.8

Use – 2.3 – 2.1

Reversals – 0.8 – 1.3

impairment losses / status as at dec. 31 7.4 6.8

The total amount of additions of € 2.8 million (2007 € 3.1 million) breaks down into additions for specific bad 

debt allowances of € 2.1 million (2007: € 2.1 million) and lump-sum bad debt allowances in the amount of 

€ 0.7 million (2007: € 1.0 million). Reversals reflect € 1.0 million (2007: € 0.7 million) in specific bad debt allow-

ances that were not required to be used as well as € 0.3 million (2007: € 0.1 million) in lump sum bad debt 

allowances that were not required to be used.
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Gross receivables from construction contracts

For receivables from construction contracts, advances received have been offset against costs incurred in 

connection with the contract, including contributions to earnings on a per contract basis. As at the balance 

sheet date, costs incurred and earnings recognized in connection with long-term contracts in the amount of 

€ 726.4 million were offset against advances received in the amount of € 559.3 million. In 2007 these figures 

were € 492.8 million and € 399.8 million respectively. This resulted in receivables of € 167.1 million compared 

to € 93.0 million the year prior and liabilities of € 54.6 million versus € 72.4 million a year earlier. Advances 

received in connection with long-term contracts exceed the costs incurred and the earnings portion.

Receivables from construction contracts totaling € 17.4 million had to be written off in the financial year due 

to the insolvency of a buyer. 

16  other a sse t s,  prepaid e xpenses and deferred charges

Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2008

in € millions Total 
of that up 

to one year
of that more 

than one year Total 
of that up 

to one year
of that more 

than one year

Other assets, prepaid expenses 
and deferred charges

 
21.5

 
11.9

 
9.6

 
26.5

 
16.7

 
9.8

The following table shows the financial instruments recognized under other assets as outlined in ifrs 7 

according to age and impairment:

in € millions

Net 
carrying 
amount

neither 
impaired 
nor past 

due as 
at the 

balance 
sheet date

net  
carrying 

amount of 
impaired 

trade  
receivables 

impaired 
trade 

receivables 
before 

recording of 
impairment 

losses

impair-
ment 

loss

Total of  
past due,  

unimpaired 
receivables

not impaired as of the  
balance sheet date but in arrears by

less 
than 

30 
days

 30 to 6o 
days

61 to 90 
days

91 to 180 
days

more  
than 
180 

days

Dec. 31, 2007 15.4 15.0 0.4 3.1 – 2.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Dec. 31, 2008 19.9 19.4 0.5 2.9 – 2.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

With respect to existing other assets that were neither impaired nor in default, there were no indications 

as of the balance sheet date that the obligors would not meet their payment obligations.

Impairment losses on other assets developed as follows: 

in € millions 2007 2008

Impairment losses / Status as at Jan. 1 4.4 2.7

Additions (Expenses related to impairment losses) 0.1 0.1

Use – 1.2 0.0

Reversals – 0.6 – 0.4

impairment losses / status as at dec. 31 2.7 2.4
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17  c a sh and c a sh equivalent s

This item comprises all funds recognized on the balance sheet as cash and cash equivalents, i. e. cash on hand, 

checks and cash balances with financial institutions, provided that they are available within three months.

The kuka Group maintains bank balances exclusively at financial institutions of sound credit worthiness. Fur-

thermore, funds to be invested are distributed across several financial institutions in order to diversify risk. 

18  d iscontinued oper ations

As of December 31, 2008, there were no discontinued operations nor assets held for sale.

19  equit y / tre a sury shares

Changes to equity, including changes without effect on profit or loss are disclosed in the Schedule of income 

and expenses recognized directly in Group equity on page 105.

On March 18, 2008, the Executive Board of kuka Aktiengesellschaft resolved in accordance with article 71, 

para. 1, item 8 of the German Corporation Act (AktG), to exercise the authority granted at the Annual Gen-

eral Meeting of May 16, 2007 to buy back own shares and to acquire up to 2,660,000 shares of the company 

on the open stock market. The amount corresponds to up to 10 percent of current total share capital. The 

buyback took place between March 25, 2008 and August 29, 2008 at the latest, under the direction of a bank, 

which is obligated to ensure that the buyback of the shares on the stock market is carried out in accordance 

with the resolution at the Annual General Meeting dated May 16, 2007 and the instructions outlined in arti-

cle 5, para. 1 and 2 of directive (eg) No. 2273 / 2003. Under the terms of this share buyback program, kuka 

Aktiengesellschaft bought back a total of 1,327,340 kuka shares valued at € 27,898,339.58. Moreover, the 

Executive Board is authorized again, subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, to assign the treasury 

shares thus acquired to a third party as compensation for the acquisition of an equity interest. 

The Executive Board was further authorized, subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, to withdraw 

the treasury shares acquired on the basis of this authorization, without such withdrawal or the execution 

thereof requiring a further resolution of the Annual General Meeting. The Executive Board did not exercise 

this authorization during the financial year. 

In 2008, the company purchased own shares for kuka employees as part of an employee stock ownership 

program [Article 71, para. 1 no. 2 of the AktG (German Corporation Act)] and resold these to the employees. 

A total of 114,861 shares of common stock were purchased and resold.

20  subscribed c apital

The share capital totals € 69,160,000 (prior year: € 69,160,000) and is divided into 26,600,000 individual 

no-par value shares issued to bearer. Each share is equal to one vote.

On the basis of a resolution by the Annual General Meeting of kuka Aktiengesellschaft of July 4, 2003, the 

capital stock is to be conditionally increased by up to € 19,500,000.00 by issuing up to € 7,500,000 new 

shares. The conditional capital increase shall only be carried out to the extent that option and / or conversion 

rights are exercised by the holders of option rights and / or conversion rights to be issued by the company 

or its directly or indirectly majority owned companies in Germany or abroad on or before July 4, 2008 (arti-

cle 5, paragraph 6 of the articles of association).
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On May 9, 2006, kuka Aktiengesellschaft partially exercised the respective authorization to issue options 

and or convertible bonds by privately placing a convertible bond issue guaranteed by kuka Aktiengesell

schaft with a nominal value of € 69,000,000 through its 100-percent-owned Dutch subsidiary kuka Finance 

b. v.. Under the terms of the placement, the company is obliged to completely but not partially convert every 

bondholder’s bond valued at a nominal € 50,000 in accordance with their conversion rights at any time dur-

ing the exercise period (July 8, 2006 to October 18, 2011) and at the conversion price of € 25.3833 per share 

to no-par value shares of kuka Aktiengesellschaft issued to the bearer. Capital is thereby conditionally increa

sed – subject to the anti-dilution provisions in the bond terms and conditions – by a maximum of 2,718,322 

shares. The bond was subsequently listed on the Euromtf market of the Luxembourg stock exchange. 

A resolution passed at the Annual General Meeting of kuka Aktiengesellschaft on June 1, 2006 authorized 

the Executive Board to increase the company’s share capital on one or several occasions, subject to approval 

by the Supervisory Board, until May 31, 2011 up to a total of € 34,500,000 by issuing new shares in the name 

of the bearer against cash contributions and / or contributions in kind. The shareholders shall be granted sub-

scription rights; however, subject to approval by the Supervisory Board, the Executive Board is authorized 

to exclude the shareholder subscription rights prescribed by law (i) for fractional amounts (ii) to the extent 

this is required in order to grant the holders’ subscription rights to new shares, as per the resolution passed 

at the Annual General Meeting on July 4, 2003, in the quantities to which they would be entitled by exercis-

ing their conversion or option rights related to convertible debentures and / or warrants issued by kuka Aktien

gesellschaft or its companies (iii) for increases in equity against cash contributions or under the conditions 

described in more detail in the articles of association (article 4, paragraph 5, second paragraph, third subitem), 

and to the extent the number of shares issued under exclusion of subscription rights in accordance with arti-

cle 186, paragraph 3, clause 4 AktG (German Corporation Act) does not exceed 10 percent of total share capi-

tal, neither at the point in time the authorization becomes effective nor the time of exercising the authori-

zation (iv) for capital increases against contributions in kind for the purpose of acquiring companies or parts 

of companies (article 4, paragraph 5 of the articles of association).

21  c apital reserve

The capital reserve in the amount of € 26.5 million applies to kuka ag and has not changed from the pre-

vious year.

22  re venue reserves

The revenue reserves in the amount of € 116.3 million (prior year: € 136.4 million) comprise:

	 �The accumulated retained earnings of kuka Aktiengesellschaft and its consolidated subsidiaries. 

	 �Consolidation and currency translation effects.

	 �Measurement of financial derivatives (interest rate swaps, etc.) and actuarial gains and losses included 

in provisions for pensions.

23  minorit y interest s

This item primarily comprises the minority stake held by third parties in kuka Enco Werkzeugbau spol. s.r.o., 

Dubnica, Slovakia. The changes to this item are detailed in the development of Group equity.

24  m anagement of c apital

The primary goal of managing capital for the kuka Group is to support ongoing business operations by pro-

viding adequate financial resources and increasing enterprise value.
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This requires sufficient shareholders’ equity (Leverage ratio as the key indicator) and a minimum return on 

capital employed (roce as the key indicator) equal to internal corporate targets.

The roce figures achieved in the 2008 reporting year are discussed in the management report.

The kuka Group monitors its capital on the basis of net liquidity. Net liquidity represents cash and cash equiv-

alents less short and long-term liabilities due to financial institutions. The development of net liquidity in 

the 2008 reporting year is presented in the management report.

25  pension provisions and simil ar obligations

Actuarial gains and losses are recognized directly in equity at the time in which they occur (Option 3 in accord-

ance with ias 19.93A). 

Accordingly, provisions for pensions developed as follows in the financial year 2008:

in € millions
Status as at 

Jan. 1

Changes to the scope 
of consolidation, 

exchange rate differ-
ences, reclassifi

cation in disc.  
Operations, Other Consumption Reduction Additions

Actuarial gains 
and losses 

(directly in equity)
Status as at 

Dec. 31

2007 140.3 – 54.7 6.0 0.0 4.1 – 9.8 73.9

2008 73.9 0.0 5.9 0.0 3.9 – 3.4 68.5

Pension provisions include liabilities from vested benefits and from current benefits paid to vested and former 

employees of the kuka Group as well as their surviving dependents. Depending on the legal, economic and 

tax situation in each of the countries concerned, various such retirement benefit systems are in place, that 

are, as a rule, based on employees’ length of service and compensation. 

Since they are in the nature of a retirement benefit, liabilities of the us Group company b&k Corporation for 

post-employment medical benefits are also disclosed under pension provisions according to ias 19. Of the 

total provisions and accruals, these obligations similar to pensions, calculated according to the rules of ias 19, 

represent € 1.0 million compared to € 1.7 million in 2007. Liabilities for health insurance coverage in the 

current financial year generated a gain of € 0.4 million compared to expenses of € 0.1 million as a result of 

plan curtailments the year prior. The possible effects of an increase / reduction of 1 percent of the expected 

cost development are € 0.1 million.

Company retirement benefit coverage in the Group is provided through both defined contribution and defined 

benefit plans.

For the defined contribution plans, the company pays contributions to a public or private pension insurance 

carrier. Upon payment of the contributions, the company has no further obligations. Total payments for pen-

sions under defined contribution plans in the amount of € 21.0 million compared to € 17.7 million in 2007 

and are disclosed as expenses in the year in question. Under defined benefit plans, the company incurs an 

obligation to provide the benefits promised by the plan to current and former employees. 

The only remaining funded benefit plans are in effect in the usa.
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The amount of pension obligations (defined benefit obligation) was calculated by actuarial methods for which 

estimates are unavoidable. In addition to assumptions related to life expectancy, this involves assumptions 

detailed below, which are dependent on the economic environment for each country in question:

        ac tur ial a ssump tions

Germany usa Others

Dec. 31 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008

Demographic 	
assumptions

 
rt 2005 G

 
rt 2005 G

 
rp 2000

 
rp 2000

ips55 (I); 
tv88 /90 (F)

ips55 (I);  
tv88 /90 (F)

Discount factor 5.50 % 6.25 % 6.00 % 6.00 % 4.50 – 5.50 % 5.60 %

Expected rate of return on assets – – 8.00 % 8.00 % – –

Wage dynamics 0.00 – 2.50 % 0.00 – 2.50 % – – 0.00 – 1.50 % 0.00 – 1.50 %

Pension dynamics 2.00 – 2.50 % 2.00 – 2.50 % – – 0.00 – 2.00 % 0.00 – 2.00 %

Changes in cost of 	
medical services

 
–

 
–

 
5.00 – 9.00 %

 
5.00 – 8.00 %

 
–

 
–

Wage dynamics encompass future increases in wages and salaries that are estimated annually by reference 

to factors such as inflation and economic conditions, among others.

The expected returns are derived from consensus forecasts for the respective asset classes as well as bank 

discussions. The forecasts are based on experienced data, economic data, interest forecasts and stock mar-

ket expectations.

For funded plans, the pension obligations calculated according to the projected- united-credit method are 

reduced by an amount equal to the fund assets. If the fund assets exceed the defined benefit obligations, an 

asset is recognized according to ias 19 and disclosed under other assets. To the extent that the fund assets 

do not cover the commitment, the net obligation is recognized as a liability under pension provisions. 

Increases or decreases in either the present value of the defined benefit obligations or the fair value of the 

plan assets may give rise to actuarial gains or losses. This may be caused by factors such as changes in actu-

arial parameters, changes to estimates for the risk profile of the pension obligations and differences between 

the actual and expected returns on the fund assets. Actuarial gains and losses are recognized directly in equity 

and offset against revenue reserves in the year in which they occur.

        funding s tatus of defined benefit pension obl igat ions

Germany usa Others Total

in € millions 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008

Present value of pension benefits 
covered by provisions

 
70.6

 
64.8

 
1.7

 
0.9

 
1.1

 
1.2

 
73.4

 
66.9

Present value of funded pension benefits – – 3.6 4.0 0.0 0.0 3.6 4.0

Defined benefit obligation 70.6 64.8 5.3 4.9 1.1 1.2 77.0 70.9

Fair value of plan assets – 3.1 2.4 0.0 0.0 3.1 2.4

net obligation 70.6 64.8 2.2 2.5 1.1 1.2 73.9 68.5

Overfunding, plan assets (–) – – – – – – – –

Unrecognized past service costs – – 0.0 0.0 – – 0.0 0.0

balance sheet amount as of dec. 31 70.6 64.8 2.2 2.5 1.1 1.2 73.9 68.5

(of that pension provisions) (70.6) (64.8) (2.2) (2.5) (1.1) (1.2) (73.9) (68.5)

(of that asset (–)) (–) (–) (0.0) (0.0) (–) (–) (0.0) (0.0)
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As a result of the increase in market rates observed especially in the euro zone since the reference date for 

the prior year, higher discount rates were applied generally for the discounting of pension obligations result-

ing, ceteris paribus, in a lower defined benefit obligation. Details of the changes in defined benefit obliga-

tions for the financial year are shown in the following summary:

        changes in defined benefit obl igat ions 

Germany usa Others Total

in € millions 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008

Net obligations as of Jan. 1 104.8 70.6 37.7 5.3 70.7 1.1 213.2 77.0

  (of which funded in a separate fund) (–) (–) (32.0) (3.6) (68.8) (0.0) (100.8) (3.6)

  (of which funded by provisions) (104.8) (70.6) (5.7) (1.7) (1.9) (1.1) (112.4) (73.4)

Changes to the scope of consolidation – 22.9 0.0 – 31.8 0.0 – 69.4 0.0 – 124.1 0.0

Current service costs 0.6 0.4 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.7 0.6

Interest expense 3.4 3.7 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.0 3.7 4.0

Plan changes – – 0.1 – 0.5 – 0.1 0.0 0.0 – 0.5

Payments – 5.7 – 5.6 – 0.2 – 0.2 – 0.1 – 0.1 – 6.0 – 5.9

Acturial gains (–) / and losses (+) – 9.6 – 4.3 – 0.2 – 0.4 0.0 0.1 – 9.8 – 4.6

Currency translation – – – 0.7 0.3 0.0 0.0 – 0.7 0.3

Other changes 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

net obligations as of dec. 31 70.6 64.8 5.3 4.9 1.1 1.2 77.0 70.9

(of which funded in a separate fund) (–) (–) (3.6) (4.0) (0.0) (0.0) (3.6) (4.0)

(of which funded by provisions) (70.6) (64.8) (1.7) (0.9) (1.1) (1.2) (73.4) (66.9)

As was the case in the previous year, the defined benefit obligation also decreased in the reporting year owing 

to an increase to the discounting factor for domestic and foreign pension plans. The influence of the remain-

ing valuation parameters was minimal. A change to the discounting factor of + / – 0.25 percent would lead to 

a higher / lower defined benefit obligation of € + / – 1.9 million.

Current service costs and interest expenses totaling € 4.6 million (prior year: € 4.4 million) compared to ben-

efit payments of € 5.9 million during the financial year (prior year: € 6.0 million). The reduction of the defined 

benefit obligation results mainly in actuarial gains of € 4.6 million accrued during the financial year.

        pension e xpense for defined benefit pl ans

Germany usa Others Total

in € millions 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008

Current service costs 0.6 0.4 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.7 0.6

Interest expense 3.4 3.7 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.0 3.7 4.0

Expected return on plan assets – – – 0.3 – 0.2 – – – 0.3 – 0.2

Plan curtailments – – 0.0 – 0.5 – 0.1 0.0 – 0.1 – 0.5

Unrecognized past service costs – – 0.1 0.0 – – 0.1 0.0

pension expenses from defined 
benefit commitments

	
4.0

	
4.1

	
0.2

	
– 0.3

	
– 0.1

	
0.1

	
4.1

	
3.9
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Pension expense for defined benefit plans decreased by € 0.2 million to € 3.9 million. This is mainly due to 

reductions in medical care coverage of b&k Corporation, Saginaw / usa. This is partly offset by the Decem-

ber 31, 2007 increase in the discount rate over that for the previous year, which resulted in higher interest 

expenses.

The statement of income and expenses recognized in Group equity includes the following amounts:	

in € millions 2006 2007 2008

Cumulative gains (+) and losses (–) recognized 
directly in equity as at Jan. 1

 
0.0

 
3.3

 
13.1

Actuarial gains (+) and losses (–) of the financial year 3.3 9.8 3.4

cumulative gains (+) and losses (–) recognized 
directly in equity as at dec. 31

	
3.3

	
13.1

	
16.5

        de velopment of pl an a sse t s in the f inancial y e ar

usa Others Total

in € millions 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008

Fair value as at Jan. 1 29.3 3.1 45.6 0.0 74.9 3.1

Changes to the scope of consolidation – 26.2 0.0 – 45.6 0.0 – 71.8 0.0

Expected returns on plan assets 0.3 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.2

Acturial gains / losses 0.0 – 1.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 1.2

Currency translation – 0.4 0.2 0.0 0.0 – 0.4 0.2

Employer contributions 0.2 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.2

Payments – 0.1 – 0.1 0.0 0.0 – 0.1 – 0.1

fair value as at dec. 31 3.1 2.4 0.0 0.0 3.1 2.4

The actual expenses from external pension funds were € 1.1 million (prior year gains: € 0.3 million). 

As of December 31, 2008 the plan assets of € 2.4 million (prior year: € 3.1 million) broke down into shares in 

stock funds equal to 75 percent (prior year: 70 percent), holdings of bonds and separate assets with a cor-

responding investment focus equal to another 25 percent (prior year: 25 percent). Shares in a separate real 

estate fund (5 percent in 2007) were sold in the financial year. 

Employer payments into the fund assets of € 0.2 million are expected in the 2009 financial year.

Amounts for the current year and the four previous years of pension obligations, the excluded assets and the 

assets exceeding benefit commitments are represented as follows: 

in € millions 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

Defined Benefit Obligation 242.8 222.2 213.2 77.0 70.9

Plan Assets 60.3 72.5 74.9 3.1 2.4

funded status 182.5 149.7 138.3 73.9 68.5
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The following shows the experience-based adjustments for the current and previous year:

in % 2007 2008

Experience-based increase (decrease) of pension obligations – 3.0 0.8

Experience-based increase (decrease) of plan assets 0.0 – 53.1

26  provision for ta xes

in € millions
Status as at 
Jan. 1, 2008

Changes to the scope  
of consolidation, ex-

change rate differences Use Reversals Additions
Status as at  

Dec. 31, 2008

provision for taxes 36.6 0.3 29.9 0.0 4.3 11.3

Of the total provision for taxes, € 9.9 million (prior year: € 34.9 million) are related to income taxes and 

€ 1.4 million (prior year: € 1.7 million) are related to other taxes.

The items included in the provision for taxes have a remaining maturity of up to one year.

27  other provisions and accrual s

in € millions
Status as at 
Jan. 1, 2008

Changes to the scope  
of consolidation, ex-

change rate differencess Use Reversals Additions
Status as at  

Dec. 31, 2008

Warranty commitments and risks 
from pending transactions

 
45.1

 
0.4

 
16.1

 
8.1

 
22.5

 
43.8

Liabilities arising from restructurings 3.8 – 0.1 1.6 1.5 5.8 6.4

Other provisions 77.4 0.7 46.2 9.9 35.3 57.3

other provisions and accruals 126.3 1.0 63.9 19.5 63.6 107.5

Other provisions and accruals for warranty commitments and risks from pending transactions include provi-

sions for impending losses from pending transactions of € 20.5 million (prior year: € 16.9 million) and war-

ranty risk of € 23.3 million (prior year: € 28.2 million).

The restructuring obligations represent settlements and restructuring expenses at several companies.

Of the other provisions, € 27.6 million (prior year: € 30.6 million) relate among other items to costs still to 

be incurred for orders already invoiced and litigation risk of € 4.1 million (prior year: € 8.7 million). The 

reversals are mainly related to the provisions for costs still to be incurred in the amount of € 3.7 million and 

provisions for litigation risk in the amount of € 4.1 million.

The other provisions have a remaining term of up to one year.
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28  l iabil it ies

        20 0 8 Remaining maturity

in € millions
up to  

one year
between one 

and five years
more than 
five years

Dec. 31, 2008
total

Liabilities due to banks 33.2 – – 33.2

Convertible bond 0.4 61.3 0.0 61.7

financial liabilities 33.6 61.3 0.0 94.9

Liabilities from construction contracts 54.6 – – 54.6

Advances received 36.7 – – 36.7

Trade payables 149.1 – – 149.1

Accounts payable to affiliated companies 0.2 – – 0.2

Other liabilities

  Notes payable 2.1 – – 2.1

  Other liabilities and deferred income 100.8 12.1 1.1 114.0

    (of that for taxes) (18.5) (0.0) (0.0) (18.5)

  �  (of that for social security payments) (1.8) (0.0) (0.0) (1.8)

  �  (of that liabilities relating to personnel) (54.2) (7.0) (0.7) (61.9)

  �  (of that for leases) (0.0) (0.0) (0.0) (0.0)

  �  (of that fair values of foreign exchange and 	
interest rate contracts)

 
(11.2)

 
(4.8)

 
(0.0)

 
(16.0)

liabilities 377.1 73.4 1.1 451.6

        20 07
Remaining maturity

in € millions
up to  

one year
between one 

and five years
more than 
five years

Dec. 31, 2007
total

Liabilities due to banks 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1

Convertible bond 0.4 59.1 0.0 59.5

financial liabilities 0.5 59.1 0.0 59.6

Liabilities from construction contracts 72.4 0.0 0.0 72.4

Advances received 35.4 0.0 0.0 35.4

Trade payables 148.9 0.0 0.0 148.9

Accounts payable to affiliated companies 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1

Other liabilities

  Liabilities to associated companies 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

  Notes payable 1.1 0.0 0.0 1.1

  Other liabilities and deferred income 84.2 8.8 2.7 95.7

    (of that for taxes) (15.3) (0.0) (0.0) (15.3)

    (of that for social security payments) (1.8) (0.0) (0.0) (1.8)

    (of that liabilities relating to personnel) (48.6) (6.9) (2.7) (58.2)

    (of that for leases) (3.7) (0.1) (0.0) (3.8)

  �  (of that fair values of foreign exchange and 	
interest rate contracts)

 
(1.4)

 
(1.0)

 
(0.0)

 
(2.4)

liabilities 342.6 67.9 2.7 413.2
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29  f inancial l iabil it ies / f inancing

The remaining existing financial liabilities mainly represent the convertible bond issued in May of 2006 as 

well as the utilization of the existing cash lines from the syndicated loan.

        f ixed inter es t r ate agr eement s (20 0 8 )

Financial instrument
Net carrying amount 

in € millions
Fair value  

in € millions Original maturity Notional interest rate

Convertible bond 61.7 50.2 2006 – 2011 3.75 % p. a.

        f ixed inter es t r ate agr eement s (20 07 )

Financial instrument
Net carrying amount 

in € millions
Fair value  

in € millions Original maturity Notional interest rate

Convertible bond 59.5 78.9 2006 – 2011 3.75 % p. a.

The market value of the convertible bond was determined using the closing price in floor trading at the 

Frankfurt Stock Exchange on December 30, 2008.

        var iable inter es t r ate l iabil it ies to bank s (20 0 8 )

 
Financial instrument / in millions

 
Net carrying amount

avg. Notional  
interest rate

Year of  
latest maturity

Liabilities due to banks 32.2	eur	 32.2	eur 4.09 % p. a. 2009

Liabilities due to banks   0.7	gbp	 0.7	eur 2.00 % p. a. 2009

Liabilities due to banks   1.0	brl	 0.3	eur 30.00 % p. a. 2009

        var iable inter es t r ate l iabil it ies to bank s (20 07 )

 
Financial instrument / in millions

 
Net carrying amount

avg. Notional  
interest rate

Year of  
latest maturity

Liabilities due to banks   0.4	brl	 0.1	eur 34.23 % p. a. 2008

All averages are calculated as the arithmetic mean of the values of the individual financial instruments as 

at the financial statement reporting date, weighted by the respective carrying values in �. 

Convertible bond

In May 2006, kuka placed a convertible bond with a face value of € 69 million, collateralized by kuka Aktien

gesellschaft, via its subsidiary kuka Finance b. v.; Amsterdam / Netherlands. The bond was issued in denom-

inations of € 50,000 each and grants rights for conversion in consideration of the 2007 dividend into up to 

2,718,322 no-par value shares of kuka Aktiengesellschaft. The conversion price is € 25.3833 per share. The 

conversion rate is 1,969.8005 shares by unit of denomination. The adjustment related to dividend payments 

guarantees the anti-dilution provisions with respect to distributions in accordance with the bond terms and 

conditions. The conversion right can be exercised until the maturity date of the bond. The bond carries an 

interest coupon of 3.75 percent p. a.. Interest is paid in November of each year.
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The bond matures on November 9, 2011 and will be redeemed by payment equal to the face value plus inter-

est accrued up until that time. As of December 9, 2009, kuka has the right to call the bonds at any time at 

the nominal amount, also plus accrued interest, subject to the share price exceeding 130 percent of the con-

version price within a period defined in the bond terms and conditions.

The convertible bond is listed on the Luxembourg exchange (isin de000a0grmc0 / wkn a0g rmc). The last 

price quoted for the bond on the Frankfurt stock exchange in 2008 was 72.80 percent (114.40 percent in 2007). 

On the balance sheet, the convertible bond is broken down into an equity and a debt component. The mar-

ket value of the debt component (€ 55.7 million) was determined on the basis of the market interest rate 

for a corresponding fixed-interest bond without conversion feature (7.63 percent). Including the issuing costs 

allocated proportionately to the equity and debt components, the effective interest rate rises to 8.25 per-

cent. The resulting value of the equity component (€ 11.3 million) is recognized as part of the capital reserve 

and will not be changed until the due date or conversion. In the 2007 financial year, interest expense of 

€ 4.9 million (prior year: € 4.7 million) was booked in connection with the bond account.

Syndicated loan

kuka Aktiengesellschaft and 31 subsidiaries had closed on December 22, 2006 a syndicated loan for € 475 mil-

lion with a select group of banks. The lead banks of the syndicate are Landesbank Baden-Württemberg, 

Dresdner Bank ag and HypoVereinsbank ag. They are joined by Bayerische Landesbank, the Royal Bank of 

Scotland and Deutsche Bank. The syndicated loan agreement was executed effective January 31, 2007.

Following the successful sale of the Packaging Division in April of 2007, contractual adjustments to this syn-

dicated loan became effective. Aside from the elimination of the twelve companies in this business division 

as parties to the contract, the term loan was repaid and the line of credit for lcs was reduced by € 20 million. 

Under this agreement, the kuka Group now still has access to € 115 million in revolving cash lines (includ-

ing up to € 40 million for lcs) as well as € 190 million in credit lines for lcs. The latter are particularly impor-

tant for kuka in connection with the financing of plant construction deals. 

The first opportunity for an extension was utilized in the 2007 financial year with the approval of the con-

sortium. The loan agreement currently runs through December 2010. 

The availability of the financing is tied to the adherence to specific covenants. Adhering to the debt-equity 

and interest coverage ratio as well as maintaining a set level of Group equity was not a problem in the 

2008 financial year.

The conditions for accessing the operating lines of credit and credit lines for lcs as well as the loan commit-

ment fees are directly related to the debt-equity ratio (financial leverage) and are adjusted quarterly. 

The receivables of the syndicate of banks from the financing agreement are collateralized by kuka compa-

nies. The collateral package includes an uncertified land charge on the industrial site in Augsburg totaling 

€ 70.0 million. The kuka companies also took part in blank assignments and transfers by way of securities 

and pledged business shares.
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The utilization of the line of credit for lcs of € 190 million totaled € 108.7 million as of the key date; the exist-

ing operating line of credit was utilized in the amount of € 30.1 million.

Credit lines from insurance companies

Credit lines for lcs in the amount of € 50 million have been committed by credit insurance companies. Utili-

zation of these lines is equal to € 3.2 million in the case of EulerHermes Kreditversicherungs ag. No utiliza-

tion has been made of the Zurich Group credit lines.

Asset-backed securities program

In December 2006, an abs program (Asset-Backed Securities) was issued with the support of Bayern lb. Under 

this program, trade receivables of kuka Roboter GmbH in an amount of up to € 25 million can be sold in reg-

ular tranches to the participating company, which is not included in the Group. The latter finances the pur-

chase of the receivables by issuing securities on the capital market or through special credit lines provided 

by Bayern lb. The adequate credit worthiness of the receivables sold is guaranteed by a default guarantee 

from a credit insurer. In this connection, kuka Roboter GmbH absorbs the first 1.15 percent of the credit risk 

from the sale of the receivables. 

As of the balance sheet date, utilization of the program was equal to € 15.7 million (December 31, 2007: 

€ 13.9 million). A cash deposit of € 4.4 million (December 31, 2007: € 3.9 million) was furnished as security 

and is being reported under other assets. The claims of kuka Roboter GmbH for the management and set-

tlement of the sold receivables are also included in this category at a present value of € 0.3 million (Decem-

ber 31, 2007: € 0.3 million). The continuing involvement of € 0.2 million (prior year: € 0.2 million) was com-

pletely written off as of the balance sheet date.

30  �other non current / current l iabil it ies and deferred income

Liabilities arising from finance leases are recognized at the present value of future lease payments and dis-

closed as other liabilities. Liabilities for vacation pay, flex-time credits and the statutory German early retire-

ment scheme (Altersteilzeit), are recognized under other liabilities. Trade payables include payments due on 

outstanding supplier invoices. 

31  f inancial r isk m anagement and financial derivates

a) Principles of risk management

The kuka Group is exposed in particular to risks from movements in exchange rates and interest rates that 

affect its assets, liabilities and forecast transactions. Financial risk management aims to limit and control 

these market risks through ongoing operational and finance activities. Derivative and non-derivative hedg-

ing instruments are used for this purpose, depending on the risk assessment; the Group basically only hedges 

the risks that affect its cash flow. Derivatives are exclusively used as hedging instruments, i. e., not for trad-

ing or other speculative purposes. To reduce the credit risk, hedging transactions are generally only con-

cluded with leading financial institutions whose credit rating is excellent. 

The fundamentals of the Group’s financial policy are established each year by the Board of Management 

and overseen by the Supervisory Board. Group Treasury is responsible for implementing the finance policy 
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and for ongoing risk management. Certain transactions require the prior approval of the Financial Director, 

who is also regularly briefed on the current risk exposure.

Treasury regards effective management of the market risk as one of its main tasks. For this, the department 

performs simulation calculations using different most-likely and worst-case scenarios.

b) Currency risks

kuka is exposed to currency risks from its investing, financing, and operating activities. These are hedged 

at the time of their occurrence to the extent that they influence the Group’s cash flows, through the con-

clusion of derivative financial instruments with banks or by offsetting opposing payment flows. Hedging 

may also cover future planned transactions where hedging instruments with a short term (< 1 year) are 

used to cover currency risks. Foreign-currency risks that do not influence the Group’s cash flows, e. g. the 

risks resulting from the translation of assets and liabilities of foreign kuka operations into the Group’s 

reporting currency, are generally not hedged. These risks could also be hedged after approval by the Finance 

Director. In the area of investments, there were no major risks from foreign currency transactions on the 

kuka reporting date.

Foreign currency risks in the financing area are caused by loans in foreign currency that are extended to Group 

entities and liquid funds in foreign currency.

Treasury hedges the major risks arising from these. Currency derivatives are used to convert financial obli-

gations and intragroup loans denominated in foreign currencies into the Group entities’ functional curren-

cies. At the reporting date, there are no major financial liabilities in foreign currencies. All intragroup loans 

denominated in foreign currencies were hedged accordingly. On account of these hedging activities, kuka 

was not exposed to any significant exchange rate risks in the area of financing at the reporting date.

The individual kuka companies handle their operating activities mainly in the relevant functional currency. 

However, some kuka companies are exposed to corresponding exchange rate risks in connection with planned 

payments outside their own functional currencies. kuka uses currency derivatives to hedge these payments. 

On account of these hedging activities, kuka was not exposed to any significant exchange rate risks from 

its operating activities at the reporting date.

Currency risks as defined by ifrs 7 arise on account of financial instruments being denominated in a currency 

that is not the functional currency and being of a monetary nature. Differences resulting from the transla-

tion of financial statements into the Group’s presentation currency are not taken into consideration. Relevant 

risk variables are generally all non-functional currencies in which kuka has financial instruments.

For the presentation of market risks, ifrs 7 requires sensitivity analyses that show the effects of hypotheti-

cal changes of relevant risk variables (e. g. interest rates, exchange rates) on profit or loss and sharehold-

ers’ equity. The periodic effects are determined by relating the hypothetical changes in the risk variables to 

the balance of financial instruments at the reporting date. It is assumed that the balance at the reporting 

date is representative for the year as a whole.
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The currency sensitivity analysis is based on the following assumptions:

	 �Major non-derivative monetary financial instruments (liquid assets, receivables, liabilities) are either 

directly denominated in the functional currency or are transferred to the functional currency through 

the use of derivatives. Exchange rate fluctuations therefore have no effects on profit or loss, or share-

holders’ equity.

	 �Interest income and interest expense from financial instruments are also either recorded directly in the 

functional currency or transferred to the functional currency by using derivatives. For this reason, there 

can be no effects on the variables considered in this connection.

	 �In the case of fair value hedges designed for hedging currency risks, the changes in the fair values of the 

hedged item and the hedging instruments attributable to exchange rate movements balance out almost 

completely in the income statement in the same period. As a consequence, these financial instruments 

are not exposed to currency risks with an effect on profit or loss, or shareholders’ equity either.

	 �Currency derivatives are always assigned to non-derivative hedged items, so these instruments also do 

not have any currency effects.

The following currency scenarios arise for the main foreign currencies used by the kuka Group:

If the eur had gained 10 percent against the usd at December 31, 2008 (2007), Group profits would have been 

€ 0.7 million higher (€ 0.1 million lower). If the eur had lost 10 percent against the usd at December 31, 2008 

(2007), Group profits would have been € 0.8 million lower (€ 0.1 million higher).

If the eur had gained 10 percent against the Japanese yen at December 31, 2008 (2007), Group profits would 

have been € 0.1 million lower (€ 0.6 million higher). If the eur had lost 10 percent against the Japanese yen 

at December 31, 2008 (2007), Group profits would have been € 0.1 million higher (€ 0.6 million lower).

If the eur had gained 10 percent against the huf at December 31, 2008 (2007), Group profits would have been 

€ 0.1 million lower (€ 0.0 million). If the eur had lost 10 percent against the huf at December 31, 2008 (2007), 

Group profits would have been € 0.1 million higher (€ 0.0 million). 

If the eur had gained 10 percent against the gbp at December 31, 2008 (2007), Group profits would have been 

€ 0.3 million lower (€ 0.1 million). If the eur had lost 10 percent against the gbp at December 31, 2008 (2007), 

Group profits would have been € 0.4 million higher (€ 0.1 million).

c) Interest rate risks

Risks from interest rate changes at kuka are essentially the result of short-term investments / credits in the €. 

These are not hedged at the reporting date.

Interest rate risks are presented by way of sensitivity analyses in accordance with ifrs 7. These show the 

effects of changes in market interest rates on interest payments, interest income and expense, other income 
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components and, if appropriate, shareholders’ equity. The interest rate sensitivity analyses are based on the 

following assumptions:

	 �Changes in the market interest rates of non-derivative financial instruments with fixed interest rates only 

affect income if these are measured at their fair value. As such, all financial instruments with fixed inter-

est rates that are carried at amortized cost (e. g. convertible bonds) are not subject to interest rate risk as 

defined in ifrs 7. 

	 �Changes in market interest rates affect the interest income or expense of non-derivative variable-interest 

financial instruments, the interest payments of which are not designated as hedged items of cash flow 

hedges against interest rate risks. 

If the market interest rates had been 100 basis points higher (lower) at December 31, 2008, profit or loss 

would have been € 0.1 million € higher (lower) [in 2007, with a positive net liquidity, the profit or loss would 

have been € 2.2 million lower (higher)]. The hypothetical effect of € 0.1 million results solely from the finan-

cial investments (credits) totaling € 41.3 million (€ 33.2 million) at variable interest rates.

d) Credit risks

The kuka Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities and certain financing activities. a default 

can occur if individual business partners cannot meet their contractual obligations and the kuka Group thus 

suffers a financial loss. With regard to financing activities, transactions are only concluded with counterpar-

ties that have at least a credit rating of at least a- / a1.

At the level of operations, the outstanding debts are continuously monitored in each area (locally). Business 

relations with critical major customers (e. g. us oems) and the associated credit risks are subject to separate 

monthly credit rating monitoring at Group Board level. Credit risks must be taken into account through indi-

vidual impairments.

In the course of abs transactions, the designated receivables are managed separately. A security margin is 

provided as a cash reserve for the credit risk. The percentage of the provision for the credit risk has been 

statistically proven to be stable. A statement of the actual loan losses is prepared periodically and any excess 

payments to the cash reserve are refunded.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amounts of the financial assets that are 

carried in the balance sheet (including derivatives with positive market values). No agreements reducing 

the maximum exposure to credit risk had been concluded as of the reporting date.

e) Liquidity risks

In order to ensure the payment capability at all times and the financial flexibility of the kuka Group, a liquid-

ity reserve is kept in the form of credit lines and cash funds. For this, kuka has, amongst other things, con-

cluded a consortium credit agreement with a consortium of banks. Detailed information is provided in the 

Appendix under Heading 29 Financial liabilities / Financing in the section headed ‘Consortium Loan’.
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The following figures show the commitments for undiscounted interest and redemption repayments for the 

financial instruments subsumed under ifrs 7:

        December 31,  20 0 8

in € millions
Cash flows 

2009
Cash flows 

2010
Cash flows 

2011 – 2013
Cash flows 

2014 ff.

Non-current financial liabilities 2.6 2.6 71.5 0.0

Current financial liabilities 33.6 0.0 0.0 0.0

Trade payables 149.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

Liabilities from construction contracts 54.6 0.0 0.0 0.0

Accounts payable to affiliated companies 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0

Other non-current liabilities 0.0 1.7 3.9 0.1

  (of that for leases) (0.0) (0.0) (0.0) (0.0)

 � (of that Derivatives with a hedging relationship) 	
(hedge accounting)

 
(0.0)

 
(1.4)

 
(3.4)

 
(0.0)

 � (of that Derivatives without a hedging relationship) 	
(hedge accounting)

 
(0.0)

 
(0.0)

 
(0.0)

 
(0.0)

Other current liabilities and provisions 67.9 0.0 0.0 0.0

  (of that for leases) (0.0) (0.0) (0.0) (0.0)

 � (of that Derivatives with a hedging relationship) 	
(hedge accounting)

 
(11.2)

 
(0.0)

 
(0.0)

 
(0.0)

 � (of that Derivatives without a hedging relationship) 	
(hedge accounting)

 
(0.0)

 
(0.0)

 
(0.0)

 
(0.0)

        December 31,  20 07

in € millions
Cash flows 

2008
Cash flows 

2009
Cash flows 

2010 – 2012
Cash flows 

2013 ff.

Non-current financial liabilities 2.6 2.6 74.2 0.0

Current financial liabilities 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

Trade payables 148.9 0.0 0.0 0.0

Liabilities from construction contracts 72.4 0.0 0.0 0.0

Accounts payable to affiliated companies 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

Other non-current liabilities 0.0 0.7 0.2 0.0

  (of that for leases) (0.0) (0.1) (0.0) (0.0)

 � (of that Derivatives with a hedging relationship) 	
(hedge accounting)

 
(0.0)

 
(1.0)

 
(0.0)

 
(0.0)

 � (of that Derivatives without a hedging relationship) 	
(hedge accounting)

 
(0.0)

 
(0.0)

 
(0.0)

 
(0.0)

Other current liabilities and provisions 49.7 0.0 0.0 0.0

  (of that for leases) (3.7) (0.0) (0.0) (0.0)

 � (of that Derivatives with a hedging relationship) 	
(hedge accounting)

 
(1.4)

 
(0.0)

 
(0.0)

 
(0.0)

 � (of that Derivatives without a hedging relationship) 	
(hedge accounting)

 
(0.0)

 
(0.0)

 
(0.0)

 
(0.0)
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All financial instruments are included which were held on the balance sheet dates and for which payments 

have already been contractually agreed. Foreign currency amounts are expressed at the spot rate on the key 

date. The variable interest payments from the financial instruments were determined on the basis of the inter-

est rates last fixed prior to December 31, 2008 and 2007 respectively. Financial liabilities repayable at any 

time are always allocated to the earliest time period. The payment flows from derivatives (forward exchange 

transactions) are net, i. e. they are represented by balancing the inflow and outflow of funds. 

f) Hedges

Hedges are used by the kuka Group to secure fair values and existing balance sheet items as well as to hedge 

future payment flows. These are exclusively for the purpose of hedging exchange risks.

Fair value hedges have an effect on the result due to the carrying amount adjustment of the underlying trans-

actions of € 2.7 million (compared to € – 0.8 million in the previous year), which are included under Other 

operating expenses and income. The reverse developments of the market values for hedges amount to € – 2.7 mil-

lion compared to € 0.8 million a year earlier and have also been included under Other operating expenses 

and income to balance out the effects.

Cash flow hedges existed neither as of the the period end, nor as of last year’s key date.

Firm commitments are shown on the balance sheet affecting net income according to the rules of hedge 

accounting. Their positive market values amount to € 6.0 million, i. e. € – 2.7 million.

Hedges are entered into exclusively in the form of forward exchange transactions and treated according to 

the rules of fair value hedges. The following table shows the market values:	

Notional amounts Fair value

in € millions Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2008
Maturity up 

to 1 year
Maturity 
> 1 year

Maturity 
> 5 year

Total 
Dec. 31, 2007

Total 
Dec. 31, 2008

Forward foreign 
exchange contracts

 
177.4

 
271.2

 
– 3.4

 
– 4.8

 
0.0

 
0.6

 
– 8.2

The nominal volume corresponds with the volume of hedged underlying transactions. The indicated market 

values correspond with the price at which third parties would assume the rights or obligations from the deriv-

ative financial instruments.

The following shows the carrying amounts of the financial instruments according to the valuation categories 

of ias 39:	

        ne t c ar r y ing a mount of the f inancial ins trument s by ia s 39  me a sur ement c ategor ies 

in € millions Abbr.
Status as at 

Dec. 31, 2007
Status as at 

Dec. 31, 2008

Available-for-Sale Financial Assets afs 1.2 0.2

Loans and Receivables lar 511.7 389.9

Financial Assets Held for Trading fahft 1.2 0.0

Financial Liabilities Measured at Amortized Cost flac 327.9 344.1

Financial Liabilities Held for Trading flhft 0.0 0.0

 
Group notes



1 5 4

The carrying amounts and the fair values are derived from the following table:	

        ne t c ar r y ing a mount and fa ir values of ia s by me a sur ement c ategor ies for 20 0 8 

in € millions

ias 39 – 
measure-

ment 
categories

Net carrying 
amount / 

Status as at 
Dec. 31, 2008

of that: 
other 

assets and 
liabilities 

not 
covered 

by ifrs 7

Net carrying 
amount 

of the finan-
cial instru-

ments / 
Status as at 

Dec. 31, 2008

Fair value / 
Status as at 

Dec. 31, 2008

assets

Financial investments 0.4 0.0 0.4 0.3

  (of that loans) lar (0.2) (0.0) (0.2) (0.2)

  (of that participations) afs (0.2) (0.0) (0.2) (0.1)

Trade and other receivables lar 164.8 0.0 164.8 164.8

Receivables from construction contracts lar 167.1 0.0 167.1 167.1

Receivables from affiliated companies lar 0.4 0.0 0.4 0.4

Other assets, prepaid expenses and deferred charges 49.3 25.4 23.9 23.9

 � (of that Derivatives without a hedging relationship	
(held for sale))

 
fahft

 
(0.0)

 
(0.0)

 
(0.0)

 
(0.0)

 � (of that Derivatives with a hedging relationship	
(hedge accounting))

	
n. a.

 
(7.8)

 
(0.0)

 
(7.8)

 
(7.8)

  (of that Other) lar (41.5) (25.4) (16.1) (16.1)

Cash and cash equivalents lar 41.3 0.0 41.3 41.3

liabilities

Non-current financial liabilities flac 61.3 0.0 61.3 50.2

Current financial liabilities flac 33.6 0.0 33.6 33.6

Trade payables flac 149.1 0.0 149.1 149.1

Liabilities from construction contracts flac 54.6 0.0 54.6 54.6

Accounts payable to affiliated companies flac 0.2 0.0 0.2 0.2

Other non-current liabilities 13.2 8.2 5.0 5.0

  (of that for leases) n. a. (0.0) (0.0) (0.0) (0.0)

 � (of that Derivatives with a hedging relationship	
(hedge accounting))

	
n. a.

 
(4.8)

 
(0.0)

 
(4.8)

 
(4.8)

  (of that Other) flac (8.4) (8.2) (0.2) (0.2)

Other current liabilities, prepaid expenses 
and deferred charges

 
102.9

 
46.6

 
56.3

 
56.3

  (of that for leases) n. a. (0.0) (0.0) (0.0) (0.0)

 � (of that Derivatives with a hedging relationship	
(hedge accounting))

	
n. a.

 
(11.2)

 
(0.0)

 
(11.2)

 
(11.2)

  (of that Other) flac (91.7) (46.6) (45.1) (45.1)
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        ne t c ar r y ing a mount and fa ir values of ia s by me a sur ement c ategor ies for 20 07 

in € millions

ias 39 – 
measure-

ment 
categories

Net carrying 
amount / 

Status as at 
Dec. 31, 2007

of that: 
other as-
sets and 

liabilities 
not cov-
ered by 
ifrs 7

Net carrying 
amount 

of the finan-
cial instru-

ments / 
Status as at 

Dec. 31, 2007

Fair value / 
Status as at 

Dec. 31, 2007

assets

Financial investments 1.7 0.0 1.7 1.7

  (of that loans) lar (0.5) (0.0) (0.5) (0.5)

  (of that participations) afs (1.2) (0.0) (1.2) (1.2)

Trade and other receivables lar 178.9 0.0 178.9 178.9

Receivables from construction contracts lar 93.0 0.0 93.0 93.0

Receivables from affiliated companies lar 3.6 0.0 3.6 3.6

Other assets, prepaid expenses and deferred charges 32.5 17.1 15.4 15.4

 � (of that Derivatives without a hedging relationship	
(held for sale))

 
fahft

 
(1.2)

 
(0.0)

 
(1.2)

 
(1.2)

 � (of that Derivatives with a hedging relationship	
(hedge accounting))

	
n. a.

 
(1.7)

 
(0.0)

 
(1.7)

 
(1.7)

  (of that Other) lar (29.6) (17.1) (12.5) (12.5)

Cash and cash equivalents lar 223.2 0.0 223.2 223.2

liabilities

Non-current financial liabilities flac 59.1 0.0 59.1 59.1

Current financial liabilities flac 0.5 0.0 0.5 0.5

Trade payables flac 148.9 0.0 148.9 148.9

Liabilities from construction contracts flac 72.4 0.0 72.4 72.4

Accounts payable to affiliated companies flac 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.1

Other non-current liabilities 11.5 9.6 1.9 1.9

  (of that for leases) n. a. (0.1) (0.0) (0.1) (0.1)

 � (of that Derivatives with a hedging relationship	
(hedge accounting))

	
n. a.

 
(1.0)

 
(0.0)

 
(1.0)

 
(1.0)

  (of that Other) flac (10.4) (9.6) (0.8) (0.8)

Other current liabilities, prepaid expenses 
and deferred charges

 
85.3

 
34.2

 
51.1

 
51.1

  (of that for leases) n. a. (3.7) (0.0) (3.7) (3.7)

 � (of that Derivatives with a hedging relationship	
(hedge accounting))

	
n. a.

 
(1.3)

 
(0.0)

 
(1.3)

 
(1.3)

  (of that Other) flac (80.3) (34.2) (46.1) (46.1)

With the exception of shares in associated companies, financial investments and leasing claims, most assets 

have short terms to maturity. Their carrying amounts as of the closing date therefore correspond approxi-

mately with the fair value. 

Liabilities – with the exception of long-term financial liabilities and the remaining long-term liabilities – have 

regular, short terms to maturity. The values shown on the balance sheet approximately represent the fair 

values. The fair value of the convertible bond entered in the balance sheet as equity and borrowed capital 

components is presented in the section Financial liabilities / Investments. 
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The hedge-related derivatives are exclusively in conjunction with forward exchange transactions and are shown 

on the balance sheet according to the rules of hedge accounting. As in the previous year, no derivatives are 

included in the statement item within the scope of the cash flow hedge. 

Net results listed according to valuation categories: 

        ne t profit /  loss of ia s 39  by me a sur ement c ategor ies for 20 0 8

in € millions Net gains / losses
Total interest 

income / expenses
Commission 

income / expenses

Loans and Receivables (lar) 2.3 3.3 0.0

Available-for-sale Financial Assets (afs) 0.0 0.0 0.0

Financial Instruments Held for Trading (fahft und flhft) – 1.4 0.0 0.0

Financial Liabilities Measured at Amortised Cost (flac) 4.3 – 8.8 0.5

total 5.2 – 5.5 0.5

        ne t profit /  loss of ia s 39  by me a sur ement c ategor ies for 20 07

in € millions Net gains / losses
Total interest 

income / expenses
Commission 

income / expenses

Loans and Receivables (lar) – 2.4 5.2 0.0

Available-for-sale Financial Assets (afs) – 0.1 0.0 0.0

Financial Instruments Held for Trading (fahft und flhft) 0.8 0.0 0.0

Financial Liabilities Measured at Amortised Cost (flac) 2.9 – 9.4 – 1.7

total 1.2 – 4.2 – 1.7

Net profits (net losses in the previous year) from the category Loans and Receivables include for the most part 

profits from depreciations and reversals of provisions for receivables and other assets; the net profits from 

Financial Liabilities Measured at Amortized Cost come from writing off liabilities. Within the scope of fair value 

hedges, exchange losses totaling € 0.2 million resulted from hedging transactions (compared to exchange 

gains of € 1.3 million the year before), which are matched in their amount by exchange losses (exchange gains 

last year) from underlying transactions. 

Interest income for financial instruments from the category Loans and Receivables comes from the investment 

of cash and cash equivalents. The interest result from financial liabilities from the category Financial Liabili-

ties Measured at Amortized Cost largely reflects interest expenses from the convertible bond as well as from 

financial liabilities due to banks. 

Commission expenses are recorded as the transaction costs not included in the effective interest rate for 

financial liabilities due to banks and fees for the provision of guarantees. 

32  contingent l iabil it ies and other financial commitment s

The following contingent liabilities and other financial commitments existed as of the balance sheet date:

in € millions 2007 2008

Liabilities from guarantees 5.8 22.2

Liabilities from warranty agreements 19.7 39.8

Other commitments 19.5 25.5

  (of that, purchase commitments) (2.4) (3.2)

  (of that, other financial commitments) (17.1) (22.3)
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notes to the cash flow statement

According to ias 7, the cash flow statement reports cash flows separately for incoming and outgoing funds 

from operating, investing and financing activities. The calculation of cash flows is derived from the Group 

consolidated financial statements of the kuka Aktiengesellschaft by the indirect method.

Cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow statement comprise all cash and cash equivalents disclosed on 

the balance sheet; i. e., cash in hand, checks and cash with banks provided they are available within three 

months. None of the cash and cash equivalents is subject to restraints on disposal.

Cash flow from operating activities is derived indirectly from the earnings after taxes on income.

Under the indirect method, the relevant changes to the balance sheet items associated with operating activ-

ities are adjusted for currency translation effects and changes to the scope of consolidation. 

The initial consolidations resulted in amounts to be recognized as additions to non-current assets of € 0.1 mil-

lion (prior year: € 0.2 million), additions to inventories equal to € 1.1 million (prior year: € 0.0 million), as well 

as to receivables and other assets equal to € 1.0 million (prior year: € 0.1 million), cash and cash-equivalents 

of € 1.3 million (prior year: € 0.4 million). On the liability side, the initial consolidations required the recog-

nition of reserves in the amount of € 0.1 million (prior year: € 0.0 million), and other liabilities in the amount 

of € 3.5 million (prior year: € 0.4 million).

The sales price for the company in the former Packaging Division was € 176.1 million and was settled in 

cash funds. The proceeds from the sale of companies are net of cash and cash equivalents in the amount of 

€ 15.9 million. The resulting amounts for derecognition were € 107.8 million in non-current assets, € 97.5 million 

in inventories as well as € 121.4 million in receivables and other assets. The liabilities to be taken into account 

included provisions of € 77.0 million, liabilities due to financial institutions of € 23.3 million as well as other 

liabilities including trade payables and liabilities to affiliated or associated companies of € 158.9 million.

Cash inflows / outflows from operating activities also include the following items: Interest paid in the amount 

of € 7.8 million (prior year: € 12.8 million), interest received in the amount of € 8.8 million (prior year: € 2.3 mil-

lion) and income taxes paid in the amount of € 30.3 million (€ 0.9 million).

 
Group notes



1 5 8

notes to the segment reporting

The data for the individual annual financial statements have been segmented by business fields and by region. 

The structure follows internal reporting (management approach). The segmentation is intended to create 

transparency with regard to the earning power and the prospects, as well as the opportunities and threats 

for the various business fields within the Group.

Segment reporting is designed to accommodate the new structure of the kuka Group and comply with the 

ifrs 5 criteria with regard to accounting for discontinued operations. The kuka Group was engaged in the 

reporting years 2007 and 2008 in two major business fields:

kuk a systems 

The segment plans and implements complete plants and systems. In addition to utilizing its application-

oriented robotics expertise, the division employs many other metal forming and joining processes in its designs. 

In the automotive industry, kuka Systems focuses on flexible manufacturing lines for making vehicle bodies. 

Several different models or variants of a particular model can be built using these systems. Other business 

segements include press tool manufacturing and automated assembly lines for engine and transmission com-

ponents. The division is expanding into technically comparable general industry sectors such as the aviation 

and solar industries.

kuk a robotic s 

This segment offers customers from the automotive sector and general industry – as well as those supported 

by comprehensive customer services – industrial robots, from small models to the Titan robot weighing in 

at 1,000 kg.

The kuka Aktiengesellschaft and additional participations that are supplementary to the operating activities 

of the kuka group have been aggregated in a separate area. In addition, this column also includes the cross-

divisional major consolidation and reconciliation items. The attribution of the Group companies to the busi-

ness segments is shown in the schedule of Shareholdings. 

The breakdown of sales revenue by region is based on customer location. Capital employed and assets, invest-

ments and employees are calculated by company head office.

The notional calculations for segment reporting rely on the following principles:

	 �Group external sales revenue shows the divisions’ respective percentage of the Group’s consolidated sales 

revenue for continuing operations of the Group as presented in the income statement.

	 �Intra-group sales revenues are related sales transacted between segments. 

	 �In principle, transfer prices for intra-Group sales are determined at the market level.

	 �Sales revenues for the divisions include revenues from sales to third parties as well as sales to other segments.

	 �ebit reflects operating earnings; that is, the earnings from ordinary activities – including goodwill impair-

ment charges, if any – before result from financing activities.

	 �roce (return on capital employed) is the ratio of operating earnings (ebit) to capital employed, which is 

largely non-interest bearing. The calculation of roce uses an average figure as of the balance sheet date 

of the reporting period and previous period for capital employed.
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	 �Capital employed comprises:	

Intangible assets and tangible assets	

Working capital:

	 	 �inventories,

	 	 �receivables related to construction contracts,

	 	 �trade receivables, 

	 	 �other receivables and assets,

	 	 �prepaid expenses and deferred changes,

	 	 �balance of payables and receivables versus affiliated companies, if not classified as financial transactions.

	 less

	 	 �other provisions, excluding major provisions for restructuring,

	 	 �liabilities from construction contracts,

	 	 �advance payments received,

	 	 �trade payables,

	 	 �other liabilities except for liabilities similar to bonds,

	 	 �deferred income. 

	 �Thus capital employed represents the difference between 

	 	 �operating assets and 

	 	 �non-interest bearing borrowed capital. 

	 �Segment assets encompass all assets included in Capital Employed plus participations. Segment liabilities 

encompass all liability items included in Capital Employed plus pensions provisions and similar obligations 

as well as major liabilities arising from restructurings.

	 �Capital expenditures are related to additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

	 �Amortization / depreciation are related to plant, property and equipment and intangible assets.	

other notes

rel ated par t y disclosures

In accordance with International Accounting Standard ias 24 persons or companies that may be influenced by 

or have influence on the reporting company must be disclosed, insofar as they have not already been included 

as consolidated companies in the financial statements.

Parties related to the kuka Group include mainly members of the Executive and Supervisory Boards as well as 

non-consolidated and associated kuka Group companies.

 
Group notes



1 6 0

The following table summarizes the product- and services-related business activities transacted between com-

panies included in the kuka Group consolidation and related companies:

Interest

Products and services 
provided by 

the kuka Group 
to related companies

Products and services 
provided by 

related companies 
to the kuka Group

in € millions in % 2007 2008 2007 2008

kuka InnoTec GmbH, Augsburg / Germany 51 0.0 0.1 0.3 0.5

Others less than € one million 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0

0.0 0.1 0.4 0.5

newly consolidated companies 2008

kuka Robot Automation Taiwan Co. Ltd., Chung-Li City / Taiwan 100 1.9 0.0 0.0 0.0

kuka Robotics Japan k. k., Tokio / Japan 100 0.3 0.0 0.1 0.0

2.2 0.0 0.1 0.0

2.2 0.1 0.5 0.5

(of that from Discontinued Operations) (0.0) (–) (0.0) (0.0)

Intra-Group purchases and sales are transacted under the “dealing at arm’s length” principle at transfer prices 

that correspond to market conditions.

Services provided to related companies primarily comprise commissions and sales to non-consolidated sales 

and service organizations. Services provided to the Group by non-consolidated related and associated com-

panies consist primarily of preparatory work that is subject to subsequent processing by the kuka Group’s 

consolidated companies.

The following table lists the material amounts owing by related parties to fully consolidated kuka Group 

companies.

Interest
Group receivables  

from related companies

in € millions in % Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007

kuka InnoTec GmbH, Augsburg / Germany 51 0.0 0.3

Others less than € one million 0.3 0.1

0.3 0.4

newly consolidated companies 2008

kuka Robot Automation Taiwan Co. Ltd., Chung-Li City / Taiwan 100 3.2 0.0

3.2 0.0

3.5 0.4

(of that from Discontinued Operations) (0.0) (0.0)

Current liabilities are € 0.2 million compared to € 0.1 million the year before and are not considered material 

either on an individual basis or from an overall Group perspective.
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No business subject to reporting rules was conducted between any kuka Group companies and members of 

the kuka Aktiengesellschaft’s Executive or Supervisory Boards with the exception of the legal transactions 

outlined in the compensation report.

audit fees

The fee for the Auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers ag recognized as an expense in 2008 totals € 0.9 million. A 

total of € 0.7 million was recognized as financial statement audit fees. The auditor did not perform tax advi-

sory services. An amount of € 0.1 million was recognized as expenses for certifications, valuations. Other serv-

ices provided by the Auditor totaled to € 0.1 million.

decl ar ation regarding the corp or ate governance code

The identically worded declarations in accordance with article 161 German Corporation Act (AktG) that have 

been issued by the Executive Board (February 23, 2009) and of the Supervisory Board (February 24, 2009) 

are available for inspection by any interested party on the company’s website at www.kuka.de.

announcement s in accordance with ar ticle 26  (1)  of the ger m an securit ies 

tr ading ac t (wphg)

The notices received in the 2008 financial year are listed below:

jpMorgan Asset Management (uk) Limited, London / United Kingdom, informed us of the following in a letter 

dated January 24, 2008:

“In accordance with Article 21 para. 1 wphg we herewith inform you that on January 21, 2007 the share of 

the voting rights held by jpMorgan Asset Management (uk) Limited in kuka Aktiengesellschaft, Zugspitz

straße 140, 86165 Augsburg, fell below the threshold of 3 percent and is now 2.59 percent (689,793 shares). 

All voting rights are allocated to jpMorgan Asset Management (uk) Limited according to Article 22 para. 1 

sentence 1 item 6 wphg.”

jpMorgan Asset Management Holdings Inc., New York / usa, notified us of the following in its letter dated 

January 24, 2008:

“In accordance with Article 21 para. 1 wphg, we herewith inform you that on January 21, 2008, the share of 

the voting rights held by jpMorgan Asset Management Holdings Inc. in kuka Aktiengesellschaft, Zugspitz

straße 140, 86165 Augsburg, fell below the threshold of 3 percent and is now 2.71 percent (719,821 shares). 

The voting rights are allocated to jpMorgan Asset Management Holdings Inc. according to Article 22 para. 1 

sentence 1 item 6 in combination with Article 22 para. 1 sentence 2 wphg and come from jpMorgan Asset 

Management (uk) Limited amongst others.”

jpMorgan Chase & Co., New York / usa, informed us of the following in a letter dated January 24, 2008:

“In accordance with Article 21 para. 1 wphg we herewith inform you that on January 21, 2008 the share of 

the voting rights held by jpMorgan Chase & Co. in kuka Aktiengesellschaft, Zugspitzstraße 140, 86165 Augs

burg, fell below the threshold of 3 percent and is now 2.72 percent (722,258 shares). The voting rights allo-

cated to jpMorgan Chase & Co. according to Article 22 para. 1 sentence 1 item 6 wphg in combination with 

Article 22 para. 1 sentence 2 wphg are 2.71 percent (719,821 shares) and come from jpMorgan Asset Man-

agement Holdings Inc. In addition, jpMorgan Chase & Co. is allocating further voting rights of 0.01 percent 

(2,437 shares) according to Article 22 para. 1 sentence 1 item 1 wphg.”
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Morgan Stanley Investment Management Limited, London / Great Britain, informed the kuka Aktiengesell

schaft (former iwka Aktiengesellschaft) in accordance with Article 21 para. 1 wphg of the following in a 

letter dated April 4, 2008:

“We herewith inform you acc. to Article 21 para. 1 wphg that our share of the voting rights in iwka Aktien

gesellschaft fell below the threshold of 3 percent on April 25, 2007 and is now 2.99 percent (797,358 voting 

shares). Of these, 2.99 percent (797,358 voting shares) are allocated to Morgan Stanley Investment Manage-

ment Limited in accordance with Article 22 para. 1 sentence 1 item 6 wphg.”

In accordance with Article 21 para. 1 wphg, oddo et cie, Paris / France, sent us the following notice in its 

letter dated April 17, 2008:

“We herewith notify you, in accordance with Article 21 para. 1 wphg that on December 3, 2007, our share of 

the voting rights in kuka Aktiengesellschaft passed the threshold of 3 percent and now totals 4.48 percent 

(1,192,660 voting shares). Of these, 4.48 percent (1,192,660 voting shares) are allocated to us in accordance 

with Article 22 para. 1 sentence 1 item 6 and sentence 2 wphg. Voting rights allocated to us are held through 

the following company, which is controlled by oddo et cie and holds a share totaling 3 percent or more of 

the voting rights in kuka Aktiengesellschaft: oddo Asset Management, Paris / France.”

In accordance with Article 21 para. 1 wphg, oddo Asset Management, Paris / France, sent us the following 

notice in its letter dated April 17, 2008:

“We herewith notify you, in accordance with Article 21 para. 1 wphg, that on December 3, 2007, our share 

of the voting rights in kuka Aktiengesellschaft passed the threshold of 3 percent and now totals 4.48 per-

cent (1,192,660 voting shares). Of these, 4.48 percent (1,192,660 voting shares) are allocated to us in accord-

ance with Article 22 para. 1 sentence 1 item 6 wphg.”

Mr. Brian Fenwick-Smith, Monaco, informed us in its letter dated May 21, 2008 according to Article 21 para. 1 

wphg, that on May 2, 2008, his share of the voting rights in kuka Aktiengesellschaft, Zugspitzstraße 140, 

86165 Augsburg, fell below the threshold of 3 percent and is currently 2.97 percent (790,000 shares).

kuka Aktiengesellschaft informed us on June 10, 2008, according to Article 26 para. 1, sentence 2 wphg that 

on June 10, 2008, its share of own shares in kuka Aktiengesellschaft, Augsburg / Germany, isin: de0006204407, 

wkn: 620 440, passed the threshold of 3 percent of the voting rights and is now 3.07 percent (817,825 votes).

In accordance with Article 21 para. 1 wphg, Oppenheim Asset Management Services S.à.r.l., Luxembourg /  

Luxembourg, notified us of the following in a letter dated September 24, 2008:

“We herewith inform you according to Article 21 para. 1 wphg that on September 22, 2008, our share of the 

voting rights in kuka Aktiengesellschaft, passed the threshold of 3 percent and is now 3.35 percent (891,246 

voting rights).”

In accordance with Article 21 para. 1 wphg, Oppenheim Asset Management Services S.à.r.l., Luxembourg /  

Luxembourg, notified us of the following in a letter dated September 26, 2008:

“We herewith inform you according to Article 21 para. 1 wphg that on September 25, 2008, our share of the 

voting rights in kuka Aktiengesellschaft, passed the threshold of 5 percent and is now 5.17 percent (1,374,349 

voting rights).”
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Grenzebach GmbH & Co. kg, Asbach-Bäumenheim / Germany, informed us of the following in a letter dated 

December 2, 2008:

1.	 �Grenzebach GmbH & Co. kg, Asbach-Bäumenheim / Germany, informed us in its letter dated December 2, 

2008 in accordance with Article 21 para. 1 wphg, that on November 28, 2008 the share of the voting 

rights in kuka Aktiengesellschaft, Zugspitzstraße 140, 86165 Augsburg, passed the thresholds of 3 per-

cent and 5 percent and is now 5.43 percent (1,445,000 shares). The voting rights are allocated to Grenze-

bach GmbH & Co. kg, Asbach-Bäumenheim / Germany, according to Article 22 para. 1 sentence 1 item 6 

wphg. The voting rights allocated to Grenzebach GmbH & Co. kg are held through the following control-

led company: Grenzebach Maschinenbau GmbH, Asbach-Bäumenheim / Germany.

2.	 �Grenzebach Maschinenbau GmbH, Asbach-Bäumenheim / Germany, informed us in its letter dated Decem-

ber 2, 2008 in accordance with Article 21 para. 1 wphg, that on November 28, 2008 the share of the vot-

ing rights in kuka Aktiengesellschaft, Zugspitzstraße 140, 86165 Augsburg, passed the thresholds of 3 per-

cent and 5 percent and is now 5.43 percent (1,445,000 shares). 

3.	 �Grenzebach Verwaltungs-GmbH, Asbach-Bäumenheim / Germany, informed us in its letter dated Decem-

ber 2, 2008 in accordance with Article 21 para. 1 wphg, that on November 28, 2008 the share of the vot-

ing rights in kuka Aktiengesellschaft, Zugspitzstraße 140, 86165 Augsburg, passed the thresholds of 

3 percent and 5 percent and is now 5.43 percent (1,445,000 shares). The voting rights are allocated to 

Grenzebach Verwaltungs-GmbH, Asbach-Bäumenheim / Germany, according to Article 22 para. 1 sen-

tence 1 item 1 wphg. The voting rights allocated to Grenzebach Verwaltungs-GmbH are held through the 

following controlled companies: Grenzebach GmbH & Co. kg, Asbach-Bäumenheim / Germany, which in 

turn controls Grenzebach Maschinenbau GmbH, Asbach-Bäumenheim / Germany.

4.	 �Mr. Rudolf Grenzebach, Germany, informed us in its letter dated December 2, 2008 in accordance with 

Article 21 para. 1 wphg, that on November 28, 2008 the share of its voting rights in kuka Aktiengesell

schaft, Zugspitzstraße 140, 86165 Augsburg, passed the thresholds of 3 percent and 5 percent and is now 

5.43 percent (1,445,000 shares). The voting rights are allocated to Mr. Grenzebach according to Article 22 

para. 1 sentence 1 item 1 wphg. The voting rights allocated to Mr. Grenzebach are held through the fol-

lowing controlled companies: Grenzebach Verwaltungs-GmbH, Asbach-Bäumenheim / Germany, which in 

turn controls Grenzebach GmbH & Co. kg, Asbach-Bäumenheim / Germany, which in turn controls Grenze

bach Maschinenbau GmbH, Asbach-Bäumenheim / Germany.

total emolument s of e xecutive board and supervisory board member s 

The members of the Executive Board are listed on page 171. Unlike other data in the notes, these figures are 

stated in € thousands. 

Compensation of the Executive Board 

The Executive Board members’ compensation consists of fixed and variable components. 

The fixed components comprise a base salary and payments in kind. The variable components include annu-

ally recurring components tied to business performance, as well as components that offer long-range incen-

tive and that are tied to risk taking. The base salary is paid in twelve equal monthly installments. The payments 

in kind of the Executive Board members consist mainly of the use of company vehicles.
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The variable component is granted in relation to kuka Group business performance indicators such as ebit, 

capital employed and cash flow. The associated details are established annually by mutual agreement. The 

variable components include a cap.

Effective January 1, 2007, the members of the Executive Board signed a further contract agreeing that the 

company at its sole discretion may award an additional variable incentive payment in the event of extraor-

dinary performance.

In addition, a Phantom Share Program (“program”) that provides a long-term incentive was established for 

the Executive Board for the first time in 2006. Phantom shares are virtual shares that grant the holder the 

right to cash compensation at the level of the company’s current share price. In contrast to stock options, the 

revenue from phantom shares is based not only on the increase in share value, but the entire value of the 

share. In addition, a dividend equivalent that mirrors the actual dividend distributed on real kuka shares will 

be paid annually during the life of the plan for each virtual share held. There are no associated voting rights.

The term of each phase of the program is three calendar years. It was rolled out for the first time for the 

period from 2006 to 2008. The current program covers the period 2008 to 2010. At the beginning of the three-

year period, the Supervisory Board’s personnel committee establishes the amount to be allocated. This 

amount is divided by kuka’s current share price, which establishes the preliminary number of phantom shares. 

Also at the beginning of the three-year performance period, the personnel committee establishes an eva 

(economic value added) for continuing operations (before taxes) based on the operative plan for the three 

reference years [ebit minus minimum interest rate on capital employed (ce) x 0.11 (0.09) = eva], which is 

based on the budget for the first business year of the three-year period and the plan for the two subsequent 

business years. The program for 2006 – 2008 and the program for 2007 – 2009 have an interest rate of 11 per-

cent. The program for 2008 – 2010 has an interest rate of 9 percent. The cumulative eva of the three-year 

performance period is divided by the eva of continuing operations as per the operating budget for the three 

years covered by the agreement. The success factor can vary between 0 and 2.0. The final number of phantom 

shares depends on the degree of achievement of the success factor, by which the preliminary number of 

phantom shares is multiplied. At the upper limit, the number of phantom shares is double. Payment is based 

on the final number of phantom shares at the closing share price [average price of kuka shares between 

January 1 of the year following the three reference years (following year) and the day of the first meeting of 

the personnel committee in the following year].

Each Executive Board member participating is obligated to apply 25 percent of the gross amount paid out in 

April the following year to the purchase of kuka shares at the then current share price. This share purchase 

serves to build up a level of holdings established at 50 percent of annual compensation in the form of kuka 

shares starting in March of the following year. The obligation ends with the participant’s departure from 

the kuka Group. In the event of employment termination, initiated by either party, all allocated phantom 

shares expire.

The starting value for the Phantom Share Program is defined as the average price of kuka’s stock between 

January 1 and the day of the first meeting of the company’s Supervisory Board personnel committee in the 

following year. The value was € 21.25 for the first Phantom Share Program, € 21.91 for the second Phantom 

Share Program and is € 21.65 for the current Phantom Share Program. 
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The Personnel Committee of the company’s Supervisory Board will decide anew each year whether or not to 

grant the Executive Board share-price-oriented compensation. The repeated granting of such compensation 

in the past does not constitute a right to being granted such or comparable compensation in the future.

The objective of the program is to ensure that every member of the Executive Board is also an kuka share-

holder. It promotes share ownership among members of kuka’s Executive Board and thereby ties the inter-

ests of these corporate members more closely to the interests of the shareholders. Changing success targets 

or comparative parameters retroactively is prohibited.

The company approved benefits from the company pension scheme for two members of the Executive Board, 

which comprise vested rights to pension payments, as well as widows and orphans pensions. No loans were 

granted to Executive Board members during the reporting period.

Compensation for 2008

Payments to members of the Executive Board during the 2008 business year totaled € 3,504,000.

The amounts for the 2008 business year include fixed salary, payments in kind, variable target achievement 

and performance-based compensation and compensation in accordance with the Phantom Share Program. 

This total includes all amounts that were paid out in 2008, or for which accruals were formed in the financial 

statements dated December 31, 2008, minus the amounts accrued for as of December 31, 2007.

The variable performance-related annual incentive payment had three equally weighted components related 

to achievement of target ebit, capital employed and cash flow during the 2008 business year.

In the event the targets are achieved, the variable incentive is paid to each Executive Board member in the 

form of a predefined sum in euros. In the event of an over or under achievement of the targets, the variable 

incentive is prorated on the basis of the over or under achievement, which can result in a payment of twice 

the nominal amount or a reduction to € 0.00 in the opposite case. 

The relationship between base salary and performance-based components on an individual basis is shown in 

the following table:

in € thousands

Fixed salary 
including pay

ments in kind *
Incentive payment 

for fiscal 2008

Phantom Share 
Programs granted 

volume (fair value at 
the time of granting) Total

Gerhard Wiedemann (until September 30, 2008) 448 ** 241 83 772

Dr. Horst J. Kayser (from October 1, 2008) 102 100 166 368

Dr. Jürgen Koch (until June 30, 2008) 744 *** 435 0 1,179

Dr. Matthias J. Rapp (from July 1, 2008) 155 91 200 446

Bernd Liepert 408 **** 181 150 739

3,504 *****

        * �Payments in kind comprise the use of company cars, payment of hotel costs at the company’s headquarters, travel costs and premiums for accident insurance. 
The premium for d&o insurance, unlike that for accident insurance, is not included in the payments in kind because it cannot be allocated on an individual basis 
since the company pays a flat premium for the protected group of persons, which extends beyond the members of the Executive Board.

      ** �Incl. dividend of € 23 thousand.
    *** Incl. dividend, severance, pro-rata variable incentive for 2009 and payment from the Phantom Share Programs € 557 thousand.
  **** Incl. dividend of € 18 thousand.
***** �In contrast, € 2,578,000 were accounted for in the income statement as Executive Board remuneration in fiscal 2008 as a result of the maturity-date dependent 

accruals for the various phantom share programs.

 
Group notes



1 6 6

        phantom shar e pro gr a m 20 0 6  –  20 0 8

Volume granted 
in € thousands 

(fair value at the 
time of the grant)

Initial share price 
of the kuka shares 

in €

Preliminary 
numbers 

of phantom shares

Gerhard Wiedemann 100 21.25 4,706

Dr. Jürgen Koch 150 21.25 5,883 *

Bernd Liepert 100 21.25 4,706

* Calculated and paid pro rata to June 30, 2008.

        phantom shar e pro gr a m 20 07  –  20 0 9

Volume granted 
in € thousands 

(fair value at the 
time of the grant)

Initial share price 
of the kuka shares 

in €

Preliminary 
numbers 

of phantom shares

Gerhard Wiedemann 150 21.913 6,845 *

Dr. Jürgen Koch 150 21.913 3,423 **

Bernd Liepert 150 21.913 6,846

Dr. Matthias J. Rapp 75  21.913 3,423 ***

Dr. Horst J. Kayser 50  21.913 2,282 ****

      * Pro rata to September 30, 2008.
    ** Calculated and paid pro rata to June 30, 2008.
  *** Pro rata from July 1, 2008.
**** Pro rata from October 1, 2008.

        phantom shar e pro gr a m 20 0 8  –  2010

Volume granted 
in € thousands 

(fair value at the 
time of the grant)

Initial share price 
of the kuka shares 

in €

Preliminary 
numbers 

of phantom shares

Gerhard Wiedemann 83 21.65 3,849 *

Dr. Horst J. Kayser 116 21.65 5,389 * 

Dr. Jürgen Koch – – –

Dr. Matthias J. Rapp 125 21.65 5,773 *

Bernd Liepert 150 21.65 6,928

* Pro rata
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Provisions are made for the expected payments resulting from this according to the ratio from the balance 

sheet date. The preliminary number of phantom shares, which has been assessed with the success factor 

achieved at that time, is multiplied with the kuka share price as of the key date. The corresponding provi-

sions amount to:

        phantom shar e pro gr a m 20 0 6  –  20 0 8

in € thousands

Amount of the 
provision as of 

December 31, 2008

Gerhard Wiedemann 37

Dr. Horst J. Kayser 0

Dr. Jürgen Koch 0

Dr. Matthias J. Rapp 0

Bernd Liepert 37

        phantom shar e pro gr a m 20 07  –  20 0 9

in € thousands

Amount of the 
provision as of 

December 31, 2008

Gerhard Wiedemann 82

Dr. Horst J. Kayser 5

Dr. Jürgen Koch 0

Dr. Matthias J. Rapp 13

Bernd Liepert 51

        phantom shar e pro gr a m 20 0 8 – 2010

in € thousands

Amount of the 
provision as of 

December 31, 2008

Gerhard Wiedemann 65

Dr. Horst J. Kayser 3

Dr. Jürgen Koch 0

Dr. Matthias J. Rapp 5

Bernd Liepert 11

 
Group notes



1 6 8

The extent to which members of the Executive Board are entitled to benefits from the company pension plan 

are as follows: 

Messrs Wiedemann and Liepert were entitled to company pension plan benefits from the Group’s companies 

of which they were or are the ceo. These obligations were transferred to kuka Aktiengesellschaft on April 1, 

2006. The Group’s companies will be charged for the time prior to the transfer. The employer’s pension com-

mitment for Mr. Wiedemann includes a maximum old-age pension of € 36,000 per annum and for Mr. Liepert 

a maximum of € 6,000 per annum. It also includes provisions regarding a vocational and employment disabil-

ity pension, widow’s pension (60 percent of the old age pension) and orphan’s pension (12 percent of the 

old-age pension for half-orphans and 24 percent for full orphans). If pension payments are started early, the 

payout is reduced by 1 percent of the final pension amount for each quarter year prior to the pensioner’s 

65th birthday that the pension payments begin. 

In 2008, the following amounts were added to pension accruals: 

In € thousands Addition

Gerhard Wiedemann 44

Dr. Jürgen Koch –

Bernd Liepert 2

The variable incentive payment for Messrs. Wiedemann and Liepert will be reduced by an amount equal to 

the annual contribution to the pension accrual from 2006 onward. 

Former board member Mr. Dieter Schäfer, who left in fiscal 2007, was entitled to use his company vehicle until 

December 30, 2008, the originally agreed end date of the employment contract. No other payments were 

made to former Executive Board members in fiscal 2008.

With a few exceptions, former Executive Board members have been granted benefits from the company pen-

sion scheme, which include old-age, vocational and employment disability, widow’s and orphan’s pensions. 

The amount of provisions included for this group of persons in 2008 for current pensions and expected pen-

sion benefits totals € thousands 9,080, which compares with € thousands 8,853 in 2007. 

kuka Aktiengesellschaft has no compensation agreements that would come into effect in the event of a take-

over bid by the members of the Executive Board or the employees.

compensation of the supervisory board 

Compensation Structure

A resolution was passed at the Annual General Meeting of the company on June 1, 2006, which changed the 

articles of association to require fixed compensation for members of the Supervisory Board. 

In addition to reimbursement of expenses, each member of the Supervisory Board will be paid a fixed amount 

of € 30,000, payable at the end of the business year. 

The chair of the Supervisory Board will be paid four times that amount, and the deputy chair’s compensation 

will be double. For chairing the Annual General Meeting, provided it is not being chaired by the head of the 

Supervisory Board, and for membership in one or more committees that are not of an interim nature, Super-

visory Board members will be paid an additional sum of € 30,000. Committee chairs will be paid at most 

1 1/2 times the annual remuneration, even if they chair several committees or are members of another com-
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mittee; this does not apply to the committee as per article 27, para. 3 of the MitbestG. (German Act on Com-

pany Codetermination). 

In addition, for each Supervisory Board meeting, each Supervisory Board member will have a choice of either 

being reimbursed for expenses or receiving a lump sum payment of € 450 per sitting plus applicable value 

added tax. This option may only be declared once per year. 

Compensation for the years 2007 and 2008

The principles outlined for compensation of the members of the Supervisory Board were already applicable 

to the compensation for the 2008 financial year due in 2007. The following table compares the compensa-

tion of the members of the Supervisory Board for the 2007 and 2008 business years.

in € thousands

Payment in 2008 
(compensation 

for 2007)

Accrual in 2008 
(compensation 

for 2008)

Dr. Rolf Bartke 	
Chairman of the Supervisory Board and Chairman of the Personnel Committee

 
165

 
165

Mirko Geiger 	
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board (until May 15, 2008)

 
90

 
33

Jürgen Kerner 	
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board (from May 15, 2008)

 
0

 
57

Jürgen Kerner (until May 15, 2008) 30 11

Walter Prues 60 60

Dr. Reiner Beutel 60 60

Dr. Herbert Meyer 	
Chairman of the Audit Committee

 
75

 
75

Pepyn René Dinandt 30 30

Dr.-Ing. Helmut Leube 30 30

Herbert R. Meyer (until May 15, 2008) 30 11

Fritz Seifert 30 30

Wilhelm Steinhart (until May 15, 2008) 30 11

Prof. Dr.-Ing. Gerd Hirzinger (until May 15, 2008) 30 11

Helmut Gierse (from May 15, 2008) 0 19

Wilfried Eberhardt (from May 15, 2008) 0 19

Siegfried Greulich (from May 15, 2008) 0 19

Thomas Knabel (from May 15, 2008) 0 19

profit distribution prop osal

The Executive Board and Supervisory Board of kuka ag recommend the Annual General Meeting on April 29, 

2009 in Augsburg not to distribute a dividend for the 2008 business year.

e vent s af ter the bal ance shee t date

There were no significant events after the balance sheet date.

Augsburg, February 23, 2009

kuka Aktiengesellschaft

The Executive Board

Dr. Horst J. Kayser 	 Dr. Matthias J. Rapp
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corpor ate organs

supervisory board

Dr. Rolf Bartke

Berlin, Chairman of the Supervisory Board, 	

Industrial engineer,

eads n. v., Amsterdam / Netherlands **

j & r Carter Partnership Foundation, Atlanta / usa **

Keiper Recaro Group, Kaiserslautern **

saf-Holland s. a., Luxembourg / Luxembourg **	

(until January 31, 2009)

sfc Smart Fuel Cell ag, Brunnthal *

sortimo North America Inc., Atlanta / usa **

Jürgen Kerner ***

Königsbrunn, Deputy Chairman of the 	

Supervisory Board (since May 15, 2008)

1st Secretary of ig Metall trade union, Augsburg

eads Deutschland GmbH, Munich 	

(since May 29, 2008) *

Eurocopter Deutschland GmbH, Donauwörth *

man ag, Munich *

man Diesel se, Augsburg *

manroland ag, Offenbach *

Mirko Geiger *** (until May 15, 2008)

Heidelberg, Deputy Chairman of the 	

Supervisory Board

1st Secretary of ig Metall trade union, Heidelberg

Heidelberger Druckmaschinen ag *

Dr. Reiner Beutel

Ludwigburg, Chairman of the Executive Board 	

of saf-Netherlands s. a., Luxembourg / Luxembourg 

(since February 1, 2009)

Fischer-Maschinenbau GmbH & Co. kg, 	

Gemmrigheim **

Haldex ab, Stockholm / Sweden (Chairman of the 

Board of Directors) (since April 15, 2008) **

Mirror Controls International, Montfoort / 	

Netherlands (Chairman of the Board of Directors) **

Pepyn René Dinandt

Munich, Chairman of the Executive Board 	

of monier Group GmbH, Oberursel 	

(since July 8, 2008)

Member of the Executive Board of Conergy ag, 

Hamburg (until April 30, 2008)

Wilfried Eberhardt *** (since May 15,2008)

Aichach, Managing Director Europe 	

of kuka Roboter GmbH, Augsburg

Staff member holding commercial power 	

of attorney of kuka Roboter GmbH, Augsburg

Helmut Gierse (since May 15, 2008)

Nürnberg, Graduate engineer, industrial consultant

Proton Power Systems plc., Newcastle upon 

Tyne / Great Britain (Non-Executive Director) 	

(since January 1, 2009) **

Siegfried Greulich *** (since May 15, 2008)

Augsburg, Chairman of the Works Council	

of kuka Systems GmbH, Augsburg

Prof. Dr.-Ing Gerd Hirzinger (until May 15, 2008)

Seefeld, Director of dlr – Institute for Robotics and 

Mechatronics, Wessling

Thomas Knabel *** (since May 15, 2008)

Zwickau, 2nd Secretary of ig Metall trade union,

Zwickau branch

Dr. Helmut Leube

Herrsching, Chairman of the Executive Board 	

of deutz ag, Cologne (since February 1, 2008)

Member of the Excecutive Board of Webasto ag, 

Stockdorf (until January 31, 2008)

deutz Engine Company Ltd., Dalian / China 	

(Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors)	

(since July 1, 2008) *

Webasto Roof Systems Inc., Rochester Hills / usa 

(Chairman) (until January 31, 2008) *

    * Supervisory Board member of the following companies
  ** Membership in comparable German and foreign control bodies of business enterprises
*** Employee Representative
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Dr. Herbert Meyer

Königstein / Taunus, mba equivalent

Director of Deutsche Prüfstelle für 	

Rechnungslegung dpr e. V.

Financial Reporting Enforcement Panel, Berlin

demag Cranes ag, Düsseldorf *

Deutsche Beteiligungs ag, Frankfurt / Main *

Sektkellerei Schloss Wachenheim ag, Wachenheim *

webasto ag, Stockdorf *

Verlag Europa-Lehrmittel GmbH, 	

Haan (Advisory Board) **

Goss International Corporation, Bolingbrook, 	

Illinois / usa **

Dipl.-Ing (fh) Herbert R. Meyer *** (until May 15, 2008)

Augsburg, Chairman of the Works Council 	

of kuka Systems GmbH, Augsburg

Walter Prues ***

Augsburg, Chairman of the 	

kuka Group Works Council

Fritz Seifert ***

Schwarzenberg, Chairman of the Works Council	

of kuka Systems GmbH, Augsburg,	

Toolmaking Division, Schwarzenberg	

Deputy Chairman of the kuka Group Works Council 

Wilhelm Steinhart *** (until May 15, 2008)

Friedberg, Staff member holding commercial	

power of attorney of kuka Systems GmbH,	

Augsburg

Dr. jur. Wolf Hartmut Prellwitz

Karlsruhe, Honorary Chairman

e xecutive board

Dr. Horst J. Kayser (since October 1, 2008)

Erlangen, Chairman of the Executive Board

Chairman of the Board of Directors 	

of kuka Systems Corporation North America, 	

Sterling Heights / usa (since October 1, 2008) **

Dr. Matthias J. Rapp (since July 1, 2008)

Frankfurt / Main, Executive Board Finance 

and Controlling

Stock Exchange Council Baden-Württembergische 

Wertpapierbörse **

Dipl.-Math. Bernd Liepert (until December 31, 2008)

Meitingen, Executive Board Robotics Division

Chairman of the Executive Board 	

of kuka Roboter GmbH, Augsburg ** 	

(until February 4, 2009)

Dipl.-Ing. Gerhard Wiedemann  

(until September 30, 2008)

Graben, Chairman of the Executive Board

Member of the Executive Board of vdma, 	

Frankfurt / Main **

Chairman of the Board of Directors of 	

kuka Systems Corporation North America, 	

Sterling Heights / usa (until September 30, 2008) **

Member of the Executive Board of 	

kuka vaz Engineering, Togliatti / Russia 	

(until September 30, 2008) **

Member of the Executive Board of 	

kuka Automotive n. v., Houthalen / Belgium 	

(until September 30, 2008) **

Dr. Jürgen Koch (until June 30, 2008)

Königstein / Taunus, 	

Executive Board Finance and Controlling

Allianz Deutschland ag (Advisory Board, Bayern) **

Stock Exchange Council Stuttgarter Börse **

Dresdner Bank ag (Advisory Board) **

    * Supervisory Board member of the following companies
  ** Membership in comparable German and foreign control bodies of business enterprises
*** Employee Representative
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schedule of shareholdings of kuka aktiengesellschaft
As of Dezember 31, 2008

Name and registered office of the company Currency

Share of 
equity 

in %

Equity 
in tds. 

in local 
currency

Net profit 
for the year 

in tds. 
in local 

currency

Method 
of con-
solida-

tion

 
 
 

Seg-
ment

germany

kuka Roboter GmbH, Augsburg * eur 100.00 25,520 0 1 k rob

kuka Systems GmbH, Augsburg * eur 100.00 30,076 0 1 k sys

hls Ingenieurbüro GmbH, Augsburg eur 100.00 2,659 1,178 k sys

kuka Dienstleistungs-GmbH, Augsburg – 	
formerly iwka Anlagen-Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH *

 
eur

 
100.00

 
2,173

 
0

 

1 
 

k
 

son

lsw Maschinenfabrik GmbH, Bremen eur 100.00 – 16,875 – 20,489 k sys

Bopp & Reuther Anlagen-Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, 
Mannheim

 
eur

 
100.00

 
34,823

 
224

 

3 
 

k
 

son

iwka Packaging GmbH, Karlsruhe * eur 100.00 47,492 0 1 3 k son

Freadix FryTec GmbH, Augsburg eur 100.00 50 0 3 4 nk son

iwk Unterstützungseinrichtung GmbH, Karlsruhe eur 100.00 26 0 nk son

kuka InnoTec GmbH, Augsburg eur 51.00 85 – 179 4 nk rob

kuka Unterstützungskasse GmbH, Augsburg eur 100.00 25 0 nk sys

Schmidt Maschinentechnik GmbH, Niederstotzingen eur 100.00 – 6,455 0 3 4 nk sys

Institut für angewandte Systemtechnik Bremen GmbH, 
Bremen

 
eur

 
11.25

 
430

 
9

 

4 
 

b
 

sys

other europe

hls Czech s.r.o., Mlada Boleslav / Czech republic czk 100.00 6,901 2,006 k sys

kuka Automatisering + Robots n. v., Houthalen / Belgium eur 100.00 2,027 393 k sys

kuka Automatisme + Robotique s. a. s., 	
Villebon sur Yvette / France

 
eur

 
100.00

 
4,335

 
245

 
k

 
rob

kuka Automotive n. v., Houthalen / Belgium eur 100.00 298 105 k sys

kuka Enco Werkzeugbau spol. s. r. o., 	
Dubnica nad Váhom / Slowakia 

 
skk

 
65.00

 
84,812

 
5,885

 
k

 
sys

kuka Finance b. v., Rotterdam / Netherlands eur 100.00 794 47 k son

kuka Nordic ab, Västra Frölunda / Sweden sek 100.00 11,987 2,089 k sys

kuka Roboter Austria GmbH, Linz / Austria eur 100.00 272 142 k rob

kuka Roboter Italia s. p. a., Rivoli / Italy eur 100.00 5,601 – 1,237 k rob

kuka Roboter Schweiz ag, Dietikon / Switzerland chf 100.00 2,431 399 k rob

kuka Robotics Hungária Ipari Kft., Taksony / Hungary eur 100.00 12,511 3,776 k rob

kuka Robotics ooo, Moscow / Russia rub 100.00 13,091 – 6,945 k rob

kuka Robots ibérica, s. a., Vilanova i la Geltrú / Spain eur 100.00 2,126 109 k rob

kuka Sistemy ooo, Togliatti / Russia rub 100.00 13,902 – 78 k sys

kuka Systems France s. a., Montigny / France eur 100.00 709 – 2,088 k sys

Thompson Friction Welding Ltd., 	
Halesowen / Great Britain incl.

 
gbp

 
100.00

 
5,143

 
199

 

2 
 

k
 

sys

  d. v. Automation Ltd., Halesowen / Great Britain gbp 100.00 – – 3 7 k sys

 � kuka Welding Systems + Robot Ltd., 	
Halesowen / Great Britain

 
gbp

 
100.00

 
–

 
–

 

3 7 
 

k
 

sys

  lsw uk Ltd., Harlow / Great Britain gbp 100.00 – – 3 7 k sys

kuka vaz Engineering, Togliatti / Russia rub 70.00 3,818 – 2,201 4 nk sys
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Name and registered office of the company Currency

Share of 
equity 

in %

Equity 
in tds. 

in local 
currency

Net profit 
for the year 

in tds. 
in local 

currency

Method 
of con-
solida-

tion

 
 
 

Seg-
ment

Metaalwarenfabriek ’s-Hertogenbosch b. v., 	
’s-Hertogenbosch / Netherlands 

 
eur

 
100.00

 
–

 
–

 

3 
 

nk
 

son

Société Anonyme des Usines Farman s. r. l., Cluj / Romania rol 100.00 4 10 4 nk sys

ag Novosibirsk Fleischkonservenkombinat, 
Novosibirsk / Russia

 
rub

 
10.00

 
–

 
–

 

5 
 

b
 

son

north america

kuka Systems Corporation North America, Sterling 
Heights / usa, incl.

 
usd

 
100.00

 
119,689

 
26,801 2 

 
k

 
sys

  �b&k Corp., Saginaw / usa usd 100.00 – – k sys

  �kuka Robotics Corp., Sterling Heights / usa usd 100.00 – – k rob

  �kuka Toledo Production Operations llc, 
Troy, Michigan / usa

 
usd

 
100.00

 
–

 
–

 
k

 
sys

  �kuka Systems de Mexico, s. de r. l. de c. v., 	
Mexico City / Mexico

 
mxn

 
100.00

 
–

 
–

 
k

 
sys

  �kuka Recursos, s. de r. l. de c. v., Mexico City / Mexico mxn 100.00 – – k sys

kuka Robotics Canada Ltd., Saint John, nb / Canada cad 100.00 – – 6 k rob

kuka de Mexico s.de r. l.de c. v., Mexico City / Mexico mxn 100.00 32,429 3,524 k rob

south and central america

kuka Roboter do Brasil Ltda., São Paulo / Brazil brl 100.00 724 – 706 k rob

kuka Systems do Brasil Ltda., 	
São Bernardo do Campo sp / Brazil

 
brl

 
100.00

 
– 653

 
– 1,624

 
k

 
sys

asia

hls Autotechnik (India) Pvt. Ltd., Pune / India inr 72.00 11,064 1,938 k sys

kuka Automation Equipment (India) Pvt. Ltd, Pune / India inr 100.00 43,469 – 24,629 k sys

kuka Automation Equipment (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., 
Shanghai / China

 
cny

 
100.00

 
– 21,418

 
– 28,524

 
k

 
sys

kuka Flexible Manufacturing Systems (Shanghai) Co., 
Ltd., Shanghai / China

 
cny

 
100.00

 
37,570

 
32,923

 
k

 
sys

kuka Robot Automation Malaysia Sdn BhD, 	
Kuala Lumpur / Malaysia 

 
myr

 
99.99

 
1,499

 
– 2,261

 
k

 
rob

kuka Robot Automation Taiwan Co. Ltd., 	
Chung-Li City / Taiwan 

 
twd

 
99.90

 
– 15,642

 
– 11,539

 
k

 
rob

kuka Robotics (India) Pvt. Ltd, Haryana / India inr 100.00 29,562 9,003 k rob

kuka Robotics Japan k. k., Tokio / Japan jpy 100.00 3,308 – 174,029 k rob

kuka Robotics Korea Co., Ltd., Kyunggi-Do / South Korea krw 100.00 2,015 – 153 k rob

* �Companies that have made use of the exemption persuant to sec. 264 	
par. 3 or sec. 264 b of the German Commercial Code

1 after profit / loss transfer
2 according to Group Balance Sheet and Group Income Statement
3 shelf company
4 fical year ending December 31, 2007
5 not specified
6 companies in foundation
7 elimination as at January 20, 2009

Type of consolidation

	 k	 fully consolidated companies as at December 31, 2008

	 nk	 non-consolidated companies as at December 31, 2008

	 b	 companies, in which participations are held as at December 31, 2008

Division

	rob	 robotics

	sys	 systems

	son	 others

 
Group notes
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responsibilit y statement

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles, the consolidated 

financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss 

of the Group, and the management report of the Group includes a fair review of the development and perform-

ance of the business and the position of the Group, together with a description of the principal opportunities 

and risks associated with the expected development of the Group. 

Augsburg, February 23, 2009

kuka Aktiengesellschaft

The Executive Board

Dr. Horst J. Kayser 	 Dr. Matthias J. Rapp
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audit opinion

We have issued the following opinion on the consolidated financial statements and the group management 

report: “We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by kuka Aktiengesellschaft, Augs-

burg, comprising, the income statement, the balance sheet, statement of recognized income and expense, 

cash flow statement and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, together with the group man-

agement report for the business year from January 1 to December 31, 2008. The preparation of the consoli-

dated financial statements and the group management report in accordance with ifrs as adopted by the eu, 

and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to § 315a Abs. 1 hgb (“Handelsgesetz-

buch”: “German Commercial Code”) are the responsibility of the parent company’s board of managing direc-

tors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and on the group 

management report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with § 317 hgb and German 

generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschafts

prüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (idw). Those standards require that we plan and perform the 

audit such that misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, financial position and 

results of operations in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial 

reporting framework and in the group management report are detected with reasonable assurance. Knowl-

edge of the business activities and the economic and legal environment of the Group and expectations as to 

possible misstatements are taken into account in the determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness 

of the accounting-related internal control system and the evidence supporting the disclosures in the consoli-

dated financial statements and the group management report are examined primarily on a test basis within 

the framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing the annual financial statements of those entities 

included in consolidation, the determination of entities to be included in consolidation, the accounting and 

consolidation principles used and significant estimates made by the company’s board of managing directors, 

as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements and the group man-

agement report. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial statements comply with ifrss 

as adopted by the eu, the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to § 315a Abs. 1 hgb 

and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the Group in 

accordance with these requirements. The group management report is consistent with the consolidated finan-

cial statements and as a whole provides a suitable view of the Group’s position and suitably presents the 

opportunities and risks of future development.”

Munich, February 25, 2009

PricewaterhouseCoopers	

Aktiengesellschaft, Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Werner Hölzl	 Alexander Winter 	

German Public Auditor 	 German Public Auditor

 
Responsibility statement / 
Audit opinion 
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balance sheet
of kuka Aktiengesellschaft as at December 31, 2008

        a sse t s

in € thousands Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2008

non-current assets  

Intangible assets 3,026 3,416

Property, plant and equipment 16,435 15,545

Financial investments 220,990 214,006

240,451 232,967

current assets

Receivables and other assets

Receivables from affiliated companies 105,837 147,987

Other receivables and assets 20,535 26,330

126,372 174,317

Financial assets held for trading – 16,632

Cash and cash equivalents 85,729 4,082

212,101 195,031

prepaid expenses and deferred charges 323 125

452,875 428,123

        equit y and l iabil it ies

in € thousands Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2008

equity  

Subscribed capital 69,160 69,160

Capital reserve 18,666 18,666

Capital redemption reserve 0 16,632

Net retained earnings 73,698 32,113

161,524 136,571

provisions and accruals

Pension provisions 11,925 12,259

Provision for taxes 25,425 4,261

Other provisions 34,064 25,757

71,414 42,277

liabilities

Liabilities due to financial institutions 0 30,214

Trade payables 2,166 692

Accounts payable to affiliated companies 210,454 209,215

Liabilities to provident funds 2,585 2,483

Other liabilities 4,727 6,671

219,932 249,275

prepaid expenses and deferred charges 5 0

452,875 428,123
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income statement
of kuka Aktiengesellschaft for the period from January 1 – December 31, 2008

in € thousands 2007 2008

Other operating income 24,124 15,781

Personnel expense – 9,353 – 10,170

Depreciation and amortization of tangible and intangible assets – 2,219 – 2,201

Other operating expenses – 27,969 – 16,703

Income from participations 77,892 24,455

Other interest and similar income 11,561 11,054

Impairments and reversal of impairments of financial assets 
and marketable securities

 
9,000

 
– 21,295

Interest and similar expenses – 18,767 – 12,289

income from ordinary activities 64,269 – 11,368

Taxes on income 9,429 12,553

annual net profit 73,698 1,185

Profit carryforward from the previous year 0 47,560

Additions to capital redemption reserve 0 – 16,632

amount of balance sheet profit 73,698 32,113

The balance sheet and income statement of kuka Aktiengesellschaft are extracts from the complete annual 

financial statements of kuka Aktiengesellschaft (ag Report).

These annual financial statements were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers ag, Munich, and were certified 

without reservations in an opinion dated February 25, 2009.

A copy of the complete annual financial statements of kuka Aktiengesellschaft can be requested from kuka 

Aktiengesellschaft, Investor / Public Relations, p. o. Box 43 12 69 in 86072 Augsburg.
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abs

Asset-backed securities. Asset-backed securities are 

bonds or notes that are collateralized with assets 

(usually receivables). Receivables of kuka Roboter 

GmbH are purchased within the framework of an 

abs program.

bric countries

Term that refers to the combination of Brazil, Russia, 

India and China.

Capital employed

Capital employed includes working capital as well 

as intangible assets and tangible fixed assets. Capi-

tal employed therefore represents the difference 

between operating assets and non-interest-bearing 

outside capital.

capm

The Capital Asset Pricing Model (capm) is a model 

for pricing an individual security or portfolio to 

determine a company’s cost of equity capital (see 

wacc).

Cash earnings

Cash earnings are a measurement for the inflow or 

outflow of cash from the operating profits (ebit). 

They are the resulting balance from operating prof-

its, interest, taxes, depreciation as well as other 

non-payment-related expenses and income.

cgc

Corporate Governance Code: The German Govern-

ment Commission’s list of requirements for German 

companies (since 2002).

Commitments

Payment obligation from purchases.

Continuing operations

Business activities still being pursued.

Corporate governance

Common international term for responsible corpo-

rate management and control that aims at creating 

long-term value.

dax

German stock index of blue chip companies. It 

includes the 30 largest German companies admitted 

to the Prime Standard in terms of market capitali

zation and volume of stocks traded.

Deferred taxes

Temporary differences between calculated taxes on 

the commercial and tax balance sheets designed 

to disclose the tax expense in line with the financial 

accounting income.

Derivatives

Financial instruments whose value is largely derived 

from a specified price and the price fluctuations / 

expectations of an underlying base value, e. g., 

exchange rates.

Discontinued operations

Business operations that will be or have been sold 

over the course of the fiscal year.

ebit

Earnings before interest and taxes. 

ebit margin

ebit in relation to sales revenues.

Equity ratio

Ratio of equity to total assets.

Declaration of compliance

Declaration of the Executive Board and the Super

visory Board in accordance with article 161 of 

the German Corporation Act (AktG) regarding the 

implementation of the recommendations of the 

Government Commission in the German Corporate 

Governance Code.

glossary of accounting terms
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Glossary

Earnings per share

Earnings per share are calculated on the basis of 

Group consolidated earnings after taxes and the 

average number of shares outstanding for the year.

Exposure

A key figure used to assess risk. This key figure 

includes all incoming payments in a 90-day period 

prior to the record date of the down payments, 

payments based on percentage of completion or 

compensation after acceptance of the work carried 

out. In addition, the key figure also comprises all 

customer payments made within 90 days and which 

have not yet been supplied with deliveries / services 

including the sum of unpaid invoices following 

delivery or service supplied to the customer, the 

poc receivables and any purchase commitments.

Free cash flow

Cash flow from operating activities plus cash flow 

from investing activities. Free cash flow shows the 

extent of the funds generated by the company in the 

business year.

Free float

Shares of a public company owned by diverse share-

holders.

General industry

General industrial markets not including the auto-

motive industry.

hgb

German Commercial Code.

ias

International Accounting Standards.

ifric / sic

International financial reporting interpretation 

committee – interpreter of the international finan-

cial reporting standards ias and ifrs, formerly 

also sic. ifric is the new name for the Standing 

Intertpretations Committee adopted by the trus-

tees of the iasc foundation in March 2002. sic 

was created in 1997 to improve the application and 

world-wide comparability of financial reports pre-

pared in accordance with International Accounting 

Standards (ias). It outlines financial statement 

pratices that may be subject to controvery.

ifrs

International Financial Reporting Standards: The 

ifrs ensure international comparability of consoli-

dated financial statements and help guarantee a 

higher degree of transparency.

map

kuka Aktiengesellschaft’s employee share program.

Market capitalization

The market value of a company listed on the stock 

exchange. This is calculated by taking the share 

price and multiplying it by the number of shares 

outstanding.

mdax

This stock index comprises the 50 largest German 

companies (after those of the dax) according to 

market capitalization and volume of stocks traded.

Net liquidity / Net debt

Net liquidity / net debt is a financial control para

meter consisting of cash, cash equivalents and 

securities minus current and non-current financial 

liabilities.
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Percentage of completion method (poc)

Accounting method of sales and revenue recogni-

tion according to the stage of completion of an 

order. This method is used for customer-specific 

construction contracts.

r&d expenses

Expenditures related to research and development.

Rating

Assessment of a company’s creditworthiness 

(solvency) determined by a rating agency based on 

analyses of the company. The individual rating 

agencies use different assessment levels.

roce

Return on capital employed (roce) it the ratio of 

the operating profit / loss (ebit) to the capital 

employed (see Capital employed). To calculate roce 

the capital employed is based on an average value.

Volatility

Intensity of fluctuations in share prices and 

exchange rates or changes in prices for bulk 

goods compared to market developments.

wacc

Weighted average cost of capital.

	 	 wacc = (E/V) * Re + (D/V) * Rd * (1–Tc)

	 	 where:

	 	 V = E + D

Re	=	 cost of equity

Rd	=	 cost of debt

Tc	 =	 corporate tax rate

D	 =	 market value of debt

E	 =	 market value of equity

V	 =	 total value of the company

Working capital

Working capital consists of the inventories, trade 

receivables, other receivables and assets, accrued 

items and the balance of receivables and payables 

from affiliated companies, as far as these are not 

allocated to financial transactions, minus other pro-

visions, trade payables, other payables with the 

exception of liabilities similar to bonds and deferred 

income.

wphg

German Securities Trading Act.
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w w w.kuk a.com

customers

robots including  

applications
robot cells

complete robot-

automated systems

autom ation mobil izes

impressum

kuka ag

Zugspitzstr. 140

86165 Augsburg

Germany

kontakt@kuka.com

Phone: +49 821 797-0

Fax: +49 821 797-5333

investor / public relations

Phone: +49 821 797-5278

Fax: +49 821 797-5333

ir@kuka.com

concept & design

3st kommunikation, Mainz

photography

Hartmut Nägele, Düsseldorf

printer

Societätsdruck GmbH,  

Mörfelden-Walldorf

Financial calendar

First-quarter interim report

Annual report to midyear

Interim report for the first nine months

Preliminary figures for the 2009 financial year

Financial results press conference, Munich

dvfa Analysts’ Conference, Frankfurt / Main

Annual General Meeting, Augsburg

First-quarter interim report

Annual report to midyear

Interim report for the first nine months

This financial report was published on March 12, 2009 and is available in German 

and English from kuka ag’s investor / public relations department.

May 12, 2009

August 4, 2009

November 3, 2009

February 2, 2010

March 11, 2010

March 11, 2010

April 29, 2010

May 11, 2010

August 3, 2010

November 2, 2010

Integrated Business Model
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Key figures 10-year overview*

further information    www.kuka.com
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	 g e r m a n  c o m m e r c i a l  c o d e  (h g b) 	 I F R S

kuk a group 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 6 2 0 0 7 2 0 0 8

Orders received� in € millions 1,815 2,189 2,280 2,361 2,304 2,340 1,641 1,620 1,344 1,280

Order backlog (Dec. 31)� in € millions 1,164 1,109 1,122 1,102 1,065 1,011 1,016 669 529 542

Sales revenues� in € millions 1,844 2,220 2,290 2,312 2,287 2,352 1,613 1,566 1,286 1,266

of that export� % 55 67 65 61 61 64 66 65 64 59

ebit� in € millions 69.8 50.8 68.9 73.4 81.1 111.9 – 30.7 33.7 70.4 52.0

% of sales� % 3.8 2.3 3.0 3.2 3.5 4.8 – 1.9 2.2 5.5 4.1

Net income / loss for the year� in € millions 31.4 31.0 31.2 22.5 23.4 48.8 – 147.5 – 69.4 117.9 30.6

Cash earnings� in € millions 92.7 109.2 104.3 94.1 96.2 115.6 – 49.4 52.2 81.2 69.4

Capital expenditures� in € millions 89.4 73.6 53.1 64.0 63.2 67.5 39.4 29.7 26.4 32.5

Depreciation� in € millions 61.8 70.6 67.6 68.4 73.9 58.6 47.6 38.4 26.9 26.0

Total assets� in € millions 1,510 1,589 1,577 1,515 1,502 1,660 1,553 1,071 888 866

Equity� in € millions 300 354 367 387 388 358 189 127 233 214

Equity ratio %� % 20 22 23 26 26 22 12 12 26 25

Employees (Dec. 31)� 13,312 12,859 12,823 13,089 13,231 13,209 8,974 8,123 5,732 6,171

of that export� % 38 41 40 41 41 42 43 46 43 44

* Prior years were not adjusted.

�ebit margin roce earnings per share

(in %) (in %) (in €)

	
1.4

	

5.5

	

4.1

	

8.1

		

41.6

		

21.5

			 

4.4

		
1.2

2006 2007 2008 2006 2007 2008 2006 2007 2008

		  		

	
  – 2.4

			 

Financial highlights

kuka around the world

africa

South Africa

europe

Switzerland

Slovakia

Spain

Czech Republic

Hungary

Belgium

Germany

France

Great Britain

Italy

Norway

Austria

Portugal

Russia

Sweden

asia / oceania

Australia

China

India

Japan

Malaysia

New Zealand

South Korea

Taiwan

Thailand

Key figures 5-year overview*

kuk a group 2 0 0 4 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 6 2 0 0 7 2 0 0 8

Orders received� in € millions 1,149.4 1,090.2 1,186.4 1,343.8 1,279.9

Sales revenues� in € millions 1,111.1 1,051.1 1,164.6 1,286.4 1,266.1

ebit� in € millions 77.7 – 53.4 16.7 70.4 52.0

% of sales� % 7.0 – 5.1 1.4 5.5 4.1

% of capital employed (roce)� % 25.2 – 21.9 8.1 41.6 21.5

Capital employed� in € millions 308.2 243.7 205.2 169.4 242.3

Employees (Dec. 31)	 � 5,443 5,463 5,580 5,732 6,171

robotic s div is ion 2 0 0 4 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 6 2 0 0 7 2 0 0 8

Orders received� in € millions 385.3 338.4 382.3 434.9 464.4

Sales revenues� in € millions 420.5 323.6 373.3 412.9 474.4

ebit� in € millions 43.9 – 22.8 22.4 33.6 42.0

% of sales� % 10.4 – 7.0 6.0 8.1 8.9

% of capital employed (roce)� % 38.6 – 22.1 24.3 34.6 37.2

Capital employed� in € millions 113.6 103.3 92.2 97.1 112.9

Employees (Dec. 31)	 � 2,044 1,936 1,838 2,023 2,261

s ys tems div ision 2 0 0 4 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 6 2 0 0 7 2 0 0 8

Orders received� in € millions 780.4 778.2 847.8 937.7 854.9

Sales revenues� in € millions 715.9 791.2 832.8 900.0 837.5

ebit� in € millions 35.1 – 14.4 10.0 37.2 26.8

% of sales� % 4.9 – 1.8 1.2 4.1 3.2

% of capital employed (roce)� % 21.0 – 9.7 9.9 51.0 20.2

Capital employed� in € millions 167.1 148.7 101.0 73.0 132.7

Employees (Dec. 31)	 � 3,275 3,422 3,620 3,582 3,781

* Prior years were adjusted for comparison purposes.

the key figures for the 10 -year overview are on the back of the envelope.

2.6*

1.8

* �Result from discontinued operations

north / south america

Argentina

Brazil

Chile

Canada

Mexico

usa



k
e

y
 f

ig
u

r
e

s
  

 f
in

a
n

c
ia

l
 h

ig
h

l
ig

h
t

s

Key figures 10-year overview*

further information    www.kuka.com
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	 g e r m a n  c o m m e r c i a l  c o d e  (h g b) 	 I F R S

kuk a group 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 4 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 6 2 0 0 7 2 0 0 8

Orders received� in € millions 1,815 2,189 2,280 2,361 2,304 2,340 1,641 1,620 1,344 1,280

Order backlog (Dec. 31)� in € millions 1,164 1,109 1,122 1,102 1,065 1,011 1,016 669 529 542

Sales revenues� in € millions 1,844 2,220 2,290 2,312 2,287 2,352 1,613 1,566 1,286 1,266

of that export� % 55 67 65 61 61 64 66 65 64 59

ebit� in € millions 69.8 50.8 68.9 73.4 81.1 111.9 – 30.7 33.7 70.4 52.0

% of sales� % 3.8 2.3 3.0 3.2 3.5 4.8 – 1.9 2.2 5.5 4.1

Net income / loss for the year� in € millions 31.4 31.0 31.2 22.5 23.4 48.8 – 147.5 – 69.4 117.9 30.6

Cash earnings� in € millions 92.7 109.2 104.3 94.1 96.2 115.6 – 49.4 52.2 81.2 69.4

Capital expenditures� in € millions 89.4 73.6 53.1 64.0 63.2 67.5 39.4 29.7 26.4 32.5

Depreciation� in € millions 61.8 70.6 67.6 68.4 73.9 58.6 47.6 38.4 26.9 26.0

Total assets� in € millions 1,510 1,589 1,577 1,515 1,502 1,660 1,553 1,071 888 866

Equity� in € millions 300 354 367 387 388 358 189 127 233 214

Equity ratio %� % 20 22 23 26 26 22 12 12 26 25

Employees (Dec. 31)� 13,312 12,859 12,823 13,089 13,231 13,209 8,974 8,123 5,732 6,171

of that export� % 38 41 40 41 41 42 43 46 43 44

* Prior years were not adjusted.

�ebit margin roce earnings per share
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Financial highlights

kuka around the world
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Key figures 5-year overview*

kuk a group 2 0 0 4 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 6 2 0 0 7 2 0 0 8

Orders received� in € millions 1,149.4 1,090.2 1,186.4 1,343.8 1,279.9

Sales revenues� in € millions 1,111.1 1,051.1 1,164.6 1,286.4 1,266.1

ebit� in € millions 77.7 – 53.4 16.7 70.4 52.0

% of sales� % 7.0 – 5.1 1.4 5.5 4.1

% of capital employed (roce)� % 25.2 – 21.9 8.1 41.6 21.5

Capital employed� in € millions 308.2 243.7 205.2 169.4 242.3

Employees (Dec. 31)	 � 5,443 5,463 5,580 5,732 6,171

robotic s div is ion 2 0 0 4 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 6 2 0 0 7 2 0 0 8

Orders received� in € millions 385.3 338.4 382.3 434.9 464.4

Sales revenues� in € millions 420.5 323.6 373.3 412.9 474.4

ebit� in € millions 43.9 – 22.8 22.4 33.6 42.0

% of sales� % 10.4 – 7.0 6.0 8.1 8.9

% of capital employed (roce)� % 38.6 – 22.1 24.3 34.6 37.2

Capital employed� in € millions 113.6 103.3 92.2 97.1 112.9

Employees (Dec. 31)	 � 2,044 1,936 1,838 2,023 2,261

s ys tems div ision 2 0 0 4 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 6 2 0 0 7 2 0 0 8

Orders received� in € millions 780.4 778.2 847.8 937.7 854.9

Sales revenues� in € millions 715.9 791.2 832.8 900.0 837.5

ebit� in € millions 35.1 – 14.4 10.0 37.2 26.8

% of sales� % 4.9 – 1.8 1.2 4.1 3.2

% of capital employed (roce)� % 21.0 – 9.7 9.9 51.0 20.2

Capital employed� in € millions 167.1 148.7 101.0 73.0 132.7

Employees (Dec. 31)	 � 3,275 3,422 3,620 3,582 3,781

* Prior years were adjusted for comparison purposes.

the key figures for the 10 -year overview are on the back of the envelope.

2.6*

1.8

* �Result from discontinued operations
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w w w.kuk a.com

customers

robots including  

applications
robot cells

complete robot-

automated systems

autom ation mobil izes

impressum

kuka ag

Zugspitzstr. 140

86165 Augsburg

Germany

kontakt@kuka.com

Phone: +49 821 797-0

Fax: +49 821 797-5333

investor / public relations

Phone: +49 821 797-5278

Fax: +49 821 797-5333

ir@kuka.com

concept & design

3st kommunikation, Mainz

photography

Hartmut Nägele, Düsseldorf

printer

Societätsdruck GmbH,  

Mörfelden-Walldorf

Financial calendar

First-quarter interim report

Annual report to midyear

Interim report for the first nine months

Preliminary figures for the 2009 financial year

Financial results press conference, Munich

dvfa Analysts’ Conference, Frankfurt / Main

Annual General Meeting, Augsburg

First-quarter interim report

Annual report to midyear

Interim report for the first nine months

This financial report was published on March 12, 2009 and is available in German 

and English from kuka ag’s investor / public relations department.
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Integrated Business Model
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